
JEA

BOARD AGENDA

DATE: October 30, 2015

TIME: 11:00 AM

PLACE: JEA
21 West Church Street
8th Floor, Board Room

I. WELCOME

A. Call to Order

B. Time of Reflection

C. Pledge to Flag

D. Adoption of the Agenda

E. Safety Briefing – Ted Hobson, Chief Compliance Officer
Meeting participants are asked to turn their cell phones completely off

II. PRESENTATIONS AND COMMENTS

A. Comments from the Public

B. Council Liaison’s Comments – The Honorable Bill Gulliford

C.   Office of the Mayor Liaison’s Comments – Dr. Johnny Gaffney 

III. FOR BOARD CONSIDERATION

A. Consent Agenda – The Consent Agenda consists of agenda items that require
Board approval but are routine in nature, or have been discussed during 
previous public meetings of the Board.  The Consent Agenda items require no
explanation, discussion or presentation and are approved by one motion and 
vote. 

1. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes September 15, 2015 – action 

2. Directors’ & Officers’ Liability Insurance – information 

3. Real Estate Acquisition Status Report – information 

4. Customer Escalation Summary – information

5. Monthly JEA Operations Report – information 

6. Monthly JEA Financial Statements – information 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - I. D. Agenda

1



JEA Board Agenda October 30, 2015 Page 2

7. Monthly FY15/16 Communications & Engagement Calendar and Plan 
Update – information

B.  Strategic Discussions/Action 

1. Appointment of Steven V. Tuten, Director, Audit Services – Ted Hobson, 
Chief Compliance Officer – 5 minutes – presentation/action  

2. Approval of Resolution:  FY2016 Budgetary Transfers – Melissa Dykes, 
Chief Financial Officer – 5 minutes – presentation/information – approval 
to be requested at November 17, 2015 Board Meeting

3. Revolving Credit Facility for Operational/Capital Purposes and Liquidity –
Melissa Dykes, Chief Financial Officer – 5 minutes –
presentation/information – approval to be requested at November 17, 2015
Board Meeting

4. JEA Early Debt Retirement Update – Melissa Dykes, Chief Financial 
Officer – 5 minutes – presentation/information

5. JEA Five-Year Financial Assumptions and Projections FY2016 – FY2019 
– Melissa Dykes, Chief Financial Officer – 10 minutes –
presentation/information

6. Bi-Monthly Finance Presentation – Melissa Dykes, Chief Financial Officer
– 10 minutes – presentation/information 

7. Sole Source & Emergency Procurement Report – John McCarthy, 
Director, Supply Chain Management – 5 minutes –
presentation/information

8. FY16 Organizational Performance Goals – Paul McElroy, Chief Executive 
Officer – 5 minutes – presentation/information – approval to be requested 
at November 17, 2015 Board Meeting

9. FY16 CEO Goals – Paul McElroy, Chief Executive Officer – 5 minutes –
presentation/information – approval to be requested at November 17, 2015 
Board Meeting

C. Other New Business

D. Old Business – none

IV. REPORTS

A. Managing Director/CEO’s Report 

V. CLOSING CONSIDERATIONS

A. Announcements

B. Adjournment

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - I. D. Agenda

2



INTER-OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE
October 21, 2015

SUBJECT: BOARD MEETING AGENDA

FROM: Melissa Charleroy and Cheryl Mock, JEA Executive Assistants

TO: All Members, JEA Board of Directors

Scheduled times and locations for JEA meetings to be held Friday, October 30, 2015, are as
follows:

11:00 AM
Board Meeting
Board Room, 8th Floor, JEA Tower

We are looking forward to seeing you on the 30th.  Please call Melissa Charleroy at 665-7313 or 
Cheryl Mock at 665-4202 if you require additional information.

/mmc

Cc:
P. McElroy T. Hobson D. Champ W. Stanford J. Bryant
M. Brost B. Roche M. Charleroy M. Evans V. Wright
P. Cosgrave M. Whiting S. Kluszewski J. Brooks, OGC
M. Dykes J. Upton C. Mock J. Gabriel, OGC
A. Hiers G. Boyce N. NesSmith C. Edgar
M. Hightower J. Gutos M. Ruiz-Adams B. Fore

e-copy:
Patrick Maginnis
Security Desk
Security Office             
Brandi Sneed
Russell Park
Ted Delay

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - I. D. Agenda

3



JEA
BOARD MINUTES
September 15, 2015

The JEA Board held a Pre-Board Meeting at 12:00 PM on Tuesday, September 15, 2015, 
in the Conference Room on the 8th Floor, 21 W. Church Street, Jacksonville, Florida. 
Present were Helen Albee, Peter Bower, Wyman Winbush, Lisa Weatherby, Husein 
Cumber, John Hirabayashi, Robert Heekin, Paul McElroy, Bill Gulliford, JEA City 
Council Liaison, Jody Brooks, Office of General Counsel (OGC), Leah Donelan, 
Nonprofit Center of Northeast Florida, and Nate Monroe, Florida Times-Union.  Also 
present were JEA staff Gerri Boyce.

The Pre-Board discussion consisted of the following topics:

1. Board Retreat Follow-up – Bylaws Review – Mr. Heekin stated he met with Paul 
McElroy, CEO and Jody Brooks, OGC again on September 9, 2015, to review the draft 
JEA Bylaws.  A copy of the draft Bylaws were provided.  Board Members will provide 
their comments to Jody Brooks prior to the October 20, 2015 JEA Board Meeting.  Upon 
compilation of all comments, Ms. Brooks will issue another draft.  The Board will take 
action to approve the JEA Bylaws at the October 20, 2015 Board Meeting.

2. CEO Scorecard – Paul McElroy provided Board Members with a revised FY2015 
CEO Scorecard.  Melissa Charleroy, Executive Assistant will schedule one-on-one 
meetings with Board Members to review the CEO Scorecard and FY2016 goals.  The 
Board will take action on the CEO Scorecard at the October 20, 2015 Board Meeting.

3. Today’s Meeting – Mr. McElroy provided Board Members with a schedule of today’s 
meetings and presentations.

With no action taken and no further business claiming the attention of the Board, the Pre-
Board Meeting was adjourned at 12:58 PM and the Board moved to the 8th Floor Board 
Meeting Room for the regularly scheduled meeting. 

The JEA Board met in regular session on Tuesday, September 15, 2015, in the 8th Floor 
Board Meeting Room, 21 W. Church Street, Jacksonville, Florida.  Present were Helen 
Albee, Peter Bower, Wyman Winbush, Lisa Weatherby, Husein Cumber, John 
Hirabayashi, and Robert Heekin.

Agenda Item I – Welcome

A. The meeting was called to order at 1:03 PM by Chair Albee.

B. A Moment of Reflection was observed by all.

C. The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Mr. Heekin.

D. Adoption of Agenda – The agenda was approved on motion by Ms. Weatherby and 
second by Mr. Bower.

E. The Safety Briefing was given by Rick Dow, Mechanical Technician. 

Agenda Item II – Presentations and Comments

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

4



JEA Board Minutes September 15, 2015 Page 2

A. September Safety Commitment Month Video – Leah Greene, Manager, Safety and 
Health Services, presented information regarding the September Safety Commitment 
month.  Each week in September, a safety video and materials will be distributed to each 
department.  Employees will be asked to sign a poster to show their commitment to 
safety.  The theme for this year is Safety3, safety for me, my job, and my family.  Ms. 
Greene stated September Safety Commitment Month was also held in 2014 with the 
hopes of seeing a decrease in recordable incidents in October and throughout the fiscal
year.  This year JEA held a contest and asked employees to produce a video to show 
their commitment to safety.  Ms. Green presented the Board Members with the week 
two video highlighting JEA employees that are committed to safety.

B. Comments from the Public – None 

C. Council Liaison’s Comments – The Honorable Bill Gulliford did not have any 
comments.

Agenda Item III – For Board Consideration

A. Consent Agenda – used for items that require no explanation, discussion or presentation 
and are approved by one motion and vote.  On motion by Ms. Weatherby and second by 
Mr. Winbush, items 1 and 2 on the Consent Agenda was unanimously approved and 
items 3 through 5 were received for information.

1. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes August 18, 2015 – approved

2. 2016 JEA Board Meetings – approved 

3. Monthly JEA Financial Review & Statements – received for information

4. Monthly FY15 Communications & Community Engagement Plan Update – received 
for information

5. Monthly FY15 Community Engagement Calendar – received for information

B. Strategic Discussions/Action 

1. Southside Generating Station/Healthy Town – Nancy Kilgo, Director Government 
Affairs introduced Michael Balanky, Chase Properties, and Michael Munz, The 
Dalton Agency, Inc. who, along with Peter Rummell and David Manfredi form the 
purchasing company Elements of Jacksonville. Ms. Kilgo stated the contract for 
JEA’s Southside Generating Station property was signed in February 2015.  Ms. 
Kilgo stated she is pleased with the progress of their due diligence.  Currently 
Elements of Jacksonville has submitted applications for initial government 
approvals, and is currently going through the approval process with the Downtown 
Investment Authority.  The applications will ultimately go before City Council for 
approval. The earliest closing date by contract is March 2016.  Ms. Kilgo offered to 
provide details of the closing at a later date.  Michael Munz offered apologies to the 
Board for the absence of Peter Rummell due to a scheduling conflict.  Mr. Munz
presented Board Members with a video providing information on the vision for 
Healthy Town, their target audience Generation H, collaboration initiatives with the 
developer community, and programming updates.  Mr. Munz stated Healthy Town 
was a concept name.  To select a name for the community, Elements of Jacksonville 
introduced an online public naming contest in which 330 responses have been 
received.  Mr. Munz added the new development name will be announced in a few 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

5



JEA Board Minutes September 15, 2015 Page 3

weeks.  Michael Balanky presented to the Board Members the design plan for 
Healthy Town.  Mr. Balanky extended his appreciation to Peter Rummell for his 
vision for this project and to David Manfredi, Founding Principal, with Elkus 
Manfredi Architects for his visionary design.  Mr. Balanky presented concept 
drawings, discussed allocation rights, and provided a project overview.  Mr. Balanky 
stated the community will consist of approximately 1,100 residential units for rental 
and sale, 250,000 square feet of boutique retail space and anchor stores, 200,000 
square feet of office space, and a 200-room hotel.  Mr. Balanky stated the final 
development will be dictated by market demand which is currently being vetted.  
This presentation was received for information.

1. Supplier Diversity Joint Agency Task Force – John McCarthy, Director Supply 
Chain Management, presented a review of the Supplier Diversity Joint Agency Task 
Force (JATF), including a brief summary of the history, participants, and outreach 
activities.  Mr. McCarthy stated JEA hosted a “Doing Business with JEA” workshop 
for women, minority, and small business owners on August 18, 2015.  This event 
was attended by over 70 business owners, JEA’s CEO, procurement staff, project 
managers, and other key operational managers.  JEA’s Board of Directors was 
represented by Mr. Wyman Winbush.  Mr. McCarthy stated 81% of workshop 
surveys rated the seminar as Excellent, with the remainder rating it as Good.  The 2nd

Annual JATF Town Hall Meeting will be held on October 27, 2015 at 5:30 pm at the 
Florida Department of Transportation Center on Edison Avenue.  This presentation 
was provided for information.

2. Bi-Monthly Operations Presentation – Brian Roche, Vice President/General 
Manager Water/Wastewater Systems, Mike Brost, Vice President/General Manager 
Electrical Systems, and Monica Whiting, Chief Customer Officer – Mr. Roche 
reviewed safety metrics, water/wastewater performance objectives, environmental 
compliance, financial performance, and water/wastewater rates in Florida.  Mr. Brost 
reviewed electric systems performance objectives, FY2015 fuel revenue and 
expense, financial performance, and residential electric bill comparison information. 
Ms. Whiting presented the J.D. Power Customer Satisfaction Index, increased 
participation in key customer solutions, billing and payment solutions, first contact 
resolution, JEA corporate citizenship initiatives, including the new JEA Ambassador 
program, customer education, receivables – net write offs, and continuous 
improvement efforts.  This presentation was provided for information.

C. Other New Business – None

D. Old Business – None

Agenda Item IV – Reports

A. Managing Director/CEO’s Report – Mr. McElroy congratulated Mike Brost, Vice 
President/General Manager Electric Systems for his work with JEA’s fleet savings, 
flexibility, and performance.  Mr. McElroy stated that JEA will continue to advance 
technology as the primary means of communicating with its customers with a move 
towards mobile applications.  This will be at a low cost and will yield a great service 
requested by JEA’s customers.  Melissa Charleroy will schedule individual meetings 
with Board Members to review the CEO FY2015 scorecard and the FY2016 goals.  

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

6



JEA Board Minutes September 15, 2015 Page 4

Also, the next Workforce Committee meeting will take place prior to the October JEA 
Board Meeting.

B. Chair’s Report – Chair Albee thanked Board Member Heekin for his work on JEA’s 
Bylaws, and recognized Board Member Winbush for representing JEA’s Board of 
Directors at the JATF Workshop on August 18, 2015.  Chair Albee thanked JEA 
volunteers and employees who attended the United Way Kick-off event.  Chair Albee 
announced the National Drive Electric Week event on September 17, 2015 at Whole 
Foods.

Agenda Item V – Closing Considerations

A. Announcements – none

B. Adjournment

With no further business claiming the attention of the Board, Chair Albee adjourned the 
meeting at 2:17 PM.

APPROVED BY:

_____________________________________
SECRETARY
DATE:  ______________________________

Board Meeting recorded by:

______________________________
Melissa M. Charleroy
Executive Assistant

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

7



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 1, 2015

SUBJECT: DIRECTORS' & OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE 

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance 

Significance: See information above.

Effect: On October 1, 2004, JEA purchased Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance.  This insurance 
has been renewed each subsequent October 1st.

Cost or Benefit: This insurance provides coverage for JEA, its Officers and Board Members in the event 
of actual or alleged breach of duty, neglect, error, misstatement or omission, actually or allegedly caused, 
committed or attempted while acting independently or collectively in their capacity at JEA.  The year's cost 
of renewal is $108,840, a reduction in premium from last year of $12,769.00.

Recommended Board action: This item is submitted for information.

For additional information, contact: James Chapman, Director Risk Management Services, 665-7781

Submitted by: PEM/TEH/JDC

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

8



Ver 2.0 09/25/2012

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 1, 2015 

SUBJECT: DIRECTORS' & OFFICERS' LIABILITY INSURANCE

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
On October 1, 2004, JEA purchased Directors' and Officers' Liability insurance. This insurance has been 
renewed each subsequent October 1. It provides coverage for JEA, its' Officers and Board Members in 
the event of actual or alleged breach of duty, neglect, error, misstatement or omission, actually or 
allegedly caused, committed or attempted while acting independently or collectively in their capacity at 
JEA.

DISCUSSION:
The attached insurance summary explains this coverage.
`
RECOMMENDATION:
No Board action is required.  This item is submitted for information.

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/TEH/JDC

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

9



DIRECTORS’ & OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

INSURED: JEA, its’ Officers and Board Members

CARRIER: Associated Electric & Gas Insurance Services Limited 
(AEGIS)

POLICY PERIOD: October 1, 2015 thru September 30, 2016

POLICY NUMBER: DP5029715P

ANNUAL PREMIUM: $108,840

POLICY LIMIT: $10,000,000 aggregate for the policy period

DEDUCTIBLE: $250,000 each claim

COVERAGE: AEGIS shall pay on behalf of the Insured by reason of any 
“Wrongful Act” of Officers and Board Members which 
takes place on or after October 1, 2004.

“WRONGFUL ACT”: Actual or alleged breach of duty, neglect, error, 
misstatement or omission actually or allegedly caused, 
committed or attempted by any Officers and Board 
Members while acting individually or collectively in their
capacity for JEA.

EXCLUSIONS OF COVERAGE: Deliberately fraudulent, dishonest, criminal or malicious 
act or omission or any knowing and intentional violation of 
any statute or regulation.  Also, any employment related 
wrongful acts such as termination of employment,
discrimination or sexual harassment.

Prepared by:  James D. Chapman, JEA Director Risk Management Services
October 1, 2015

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

10



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 20, 2015

SUBJECT: REAL ESTATE ACQUISITION STATUS REPORT

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: Provide the JEA Board with an update of Real Estate activities where use of Condemnation 
Authority has previously been granted. Since there is no new condemnation activity at this time, this report 
is placed within the consent agenda.

Significance: Timely acquisition of property rights provides for continued service reliability.

Effect: Property owners whose real property is impacted by specific JEA work.  

Cost or Benefit: The cost to acquire property rights is a one-time fee supported by certified appraisals 
with appropriate legal and other fees and expenses.

Recommended Board action: No action required.  The Real Estate Acquisition Status Report is for 
informational purposes only.

For additional information, contact: Hamid Zahir, 665-6068

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/HAZ/DLB

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

11



Ver 2.0 09/25/2012

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 20, 2015

SUBJECT: REAL ESTATE ACQUISITION STATUS REPORT

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
The JEA Board of Directors periodically grants the use of Condemnation Authority for specific work which 
is critical to JEA's operations. This authority provides for property rights to be acquired in a timely 
manner which ensures continued service reliability. Every effort is made to negotiate a settlement before 
proceeding with this action.

DISCUSSION:
The Real Estate Acquisition Status Report is submitted to the Board quarterly, and is intended to provide 
the Board with an overview of activities for which Condemnation Authority has been granted. 

RECOMMENDATION:
No action is required. The Real Estate Acquisition Status Report is for informational purposes only.

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/MHD/HAZ/DLB

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

12



Customer Escalation Summary

Reporting Period: July through September 2015

During the fourth quarter of 2015, 23 customers routed issues through JEA Executive Offices, the JEA 
Board or through City Administrative Offices. This is typical volume.

As of this report, there are two outstanding issues which we are continuing to work with our customers 
and hope to have resolved shortly. All other escalations were resolved.

TRENDS

Key themes in this quarter’s escalations included water leaks and/or high water bills, sovereign citizen 
requests, write off infractions and other varied financial or billing transactions, such as pay plan 
explanations and billing details. The following process improvements have been implemented or are 
under review to address identified opportunities from past and recent escalations:

∑ Continued one-on-one coaching of employees as the root cause of each escalation was 
discovered

∑ Closer collaboration between various departments where process handoffs occur
∑ Improvements to processes and  training material related to:

o High Bills
o Water/Sewer leak troubleshooting
o Electric troubleshooting 
o Water/sewer leak adjustments

Reinforce the importance for employees to review the entire account and customer issue to 
fully understand the situation, and to seek guidance from provided resources to ensure accurate 
information is provided to the customer.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

13



Building Community

JEA Operations Report
as of September 30, 2015

Board of Directors Meeting
October 30, 2015

III. A. 5.
10/30/15

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

14



2

Building Community

JEA Safety
(September 30, 2015)

FY2014
• RIR = 2.29
• # of Recordables = 46
• September YTD Recordables = 48

FY2015
• September Recordables = 2

• September YTD Recordables = 32
8 (39%) were lost time
o Electric Systems =  22
o Water/WW Systems = 7
o Customer Service = 1
o Finance/Shared  Services = 2

• Continuing to “Plan for Zero”

• Maintaining focus on severity 
and lost time incidents

Industry Benchmark*
Average Municipal Utility RIR is  6.3

Units FY2015 YTD FY2015 Target FY2014 FY2013
RIR 1.56 1.20 2.29 1.84

*Provided by Bureau of Statistics 

3.80

2.16

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

5.0

FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

RI
R

Safety
Recordable Incident Rate (RIR)

FY14 FY15 FY14 Target

YTD
1.56

TARGET
1.2

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

15



3

Building Community

JEA FY2015 Performance Objectives
Electric System Reliability Metrics

Electric Service 
Reliability

• Outage frequency and 
duration has been cut in 
half over the last  6 years;  
running flat this year and  
near the FY2015 targets

• The typical JEA customer 
sees 1.7 outages per year 
and a total outage 
duration of 99 minutes

• CEMI5: 9,714  (2.1%) of 
our customers have 
experienced more than 5 
outages in the past 12 
months

Transmission Line 
Reliability

• Overall downward trend 
over the last six years

• YTD (1.7) running below 
the FY15 target

Other Operational Metrics 
• Continue showing 

favorable trends over time

T&D Grid Performance Metric FY2015 YTD FY2015 Target FY2014 FY2013
Customer Outage Frequency # of Outages per Year 1.7 1.8 1.7 1.7
Electric Service Available % Available 99.981 99.985 99.987 99.987
Transmission Line Faults # of Faults 1.7 3.5 2.4 3.8
CEMI5 %  Customers  > 5 outages 2.1 1.5 2.34 N/A

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

O
U

TA
G

ES
 /

 Y
EA

R

Electric Service Reliability
Outage Frequency

YTD
1.7

TARGET
1.8

99.955%

99.960%

99.965%

99.970%

99.975%

99.980%

99.985%

99.990%

99.995%

100.000%

PE
RC

EN
T

Electric Service Reliability
Electric Service Available

YTD
99.981%

TARGET
99.985%

3.47%

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

CEMI5

# Const Projs # Forestry Projs CEMI5 Target

YTD
2.1%

TARGET
1.5%

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

FA
U

LT
 F

RE
Q

U
EN

CY
 IN

D
EX

Transmission Line Reliability
Fault Frequency

TARGET
3.5

YTD
1.7

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

16



4

Building Community

JEA FY2015 Performance Objectives
Electric System Reliability Metrics 

Generating Fleet Reliability
• The JEA fleet Forced Outage Rate is in line with prior 6-year performance and under FY15 target of 2.5

• Planned outage work was successfully completed in the Fall on NS1, NS2, and BBCC and in the Spring on both SJRPP units

• High unit reliability contributes to lower fuel and non-fuel expenses

Environmental Compliance
• Excellent environmental performance in FY15 and prior years, with no air permit violations

• No reportable events through the first 10 months; two events in August—one at SJRPP sump discharge line leak), one at NS (unloading fuel)

• Mercury Air Toxics Standards (MATS) became effective April 2015

Generating Plant Performance Metric FY2015 YTD FY2015 Target FY2014 FY2013
Generation Fleet Reliability Forced Outages Rate 1.8 2.5 3.0 1.6
Environmental Compliance Permit Exceedances 2 5 3 4

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

EF
O

R

JEA Fleet Reliability
Forced Outage Rate

TARGET
2.5

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

N
U

M
BE

R 
O

F 
EV

EN
TS

Environmental Compliance
Reportable Events

YTD
2

TARGET
5

YTD     
1.8

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

17



Unit Sales Driver: Degree days were 4% higher than last year.

Electric System Financial Results
Financial Planning Budget and RatesBuilding Community

JEA Electric System 
MWh Sales

5

 11,000

 11,500

 12,000

 12,500

 13,000

 13,500

 14,000

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

MWh Sales
(in Thousands)

Degree Days

30-yr. Avg. . FY14 FY15
4,014 3,998 4,159

Month FY14 FY15 % Change
Oct 959,319 971,595 1.3% 

Nov 835,344 895,617 7.2% 

Dec 914,615 943,753 3.2% 

Jan 1,104,547 1,035,621 (6.2%)

Feb 843,507 934,102 10.7%

Mar 933,671 898,524 (3.8%)

Apr 900,972 954,803    6.0%

May 1,028,801 1,062,459 3.3%

Jun 1,124,764 1,187,741 5.6%

Jul 1,207,001 1,254,252 3.9%

Aug 1,255,262 1,212,295 (3.4%)

Sep 1,064,186 1,083,446 1.8%

Total 12,171,989 12,434,208 2.2%

Total System 2.2%
Residential 3.1%
Comm./Industrial 1.1%
Interruptible 4.8%
Wholesale (FPU) (1.0%)

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

18



Building Community

($ in thousands)

Revenues FY15 Actual FY14 Actual FY15 Budget FY15 vs  FY14 ($) Variance (%)
Fuel Revenue $ 486,362 $ 498,930 $ 516,398 $ (12,568) -2.5%
Base Revenue 741,411  725,203  711,462 16,208 2.2%
Other Revenue 38,183 39,571         42,626 (1,388) -3.5%

Total Revenues $ 1,265,956 $ 1,263,704      $  1,270,486 $    2,252    0.2%

Select Expenses
Fuel Expense $    441,076       $   501,763 $     503,519       $   60,687    12.1%    
Fuel Fund Transfers 45,286 (2,833) 12,879 (48,119)
O & M Expense 191,764 168,688 207,337 (23,076) -13.7%
Non-fuel Purchased Power 114,804 194,030 123,663 79,226 40.8%

Net Revenues $    461,604 $ 389,604 $    414,571 $    72,000 18.5%

Capital Expenditures $    116,728 $  86,155 $     129,000 $     (30,573) -35.5%
Debt Service $    175,779 $  161,509 $     196,591  $     (14,270) -8.8%

JEA Electric System 
Financial Results and Cost Metrics

6

$(5M)

2

Financial Metrics FY15 Actual
Coverage: 2.6x
Days Cash/Liquidity: 182 / 303
Debt/Asset: 68% (6% lower)
Total Debt: $3.1B ($314M lower)

Fuel Fund    ($ in millions)

Beginning Balance $  105
Surplus/(Deficit) 96
Fuel Credit (50)
Ending Balance $  151

Electric Costs / MWh Non-Fuel
Target $ 54.73
Actual 4 49.69
Difference $   5.04

1

$47M

3

1 Net of $50 million fuel credit in April bill
2 Net of $26 million fuel credit in FY14
3 Council approved limit for capital expenditures in FY15 is $150 million
4 Preliminary numbers

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

19



$0

$50

$100

$150

Utility Charges Gross Receipts Tax Public Service Tax Franchise Fee

Florida Utilities Monthly Residential Electric Bill Comparison
(Consumption @ 1,000 kWh)

Residential Rates as of October 2015

City / UtilityCity / Utility

JEA

7

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

20



-100

100

300

500

700

900

1100

1300

1500

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep

# 
of

 C
us

to
m

er
s/

M
on

th

Customer Service - Unplanned Main Water Outages

102 88
74 70 69 67 69

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

M
in

ut
es

Priority Tickets: Customer Response Time

Building Community

JEA FY2015 Performance Objectives
Water and Wastewater System Reliability

8

Unplanned Water Outages
# of Customers Affected by Unplanned Outages increased in 
4th QTR correlating to heavy rainfall and ground saturation 

Water Pressure (minutes per month < 30 psi)
Measured by 109 pressure monitoring stations in the 
distribution system.  Slight increase during June due to high 
peak customer demand.

Customer Response Time
Average time from a customer call to the ticket completion or 
transfer to a field crew for repair

*Priority Tickets are defined as an interruption of water or sewer service

Water Grid Performance Metric FY2015 YTD FY2015 Target FY2014 FY2013 
Water Main Outages # of Customers per Year 5,659 4,500 4,645 3,671

Tickets
31,096

Tickets
25,633

Tickets
27,672

Tickets
30,025

FY2015 Goal < 375/Month

0

5

10

15

20

A
ve

ra
ge

 M
in

ut
es

 p
er

 M
on

th

Water Distribution System
Average Minutes Water Pressure Less than 30 psi

QTR 4:  21” of Rainfall

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

21



0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16

To
ta

l N
itr

og
en

 (t
on

s/
ye

ar
)

Total Nitrogen Discharge to St. Johns River (SJR)

TMDL Tons

*July 31, 2015
Permit Limit

682

2.80
5.32

8.37 11.56
15.42

19.30
22.96

26.37
29.41

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

Bi
lli

on
 G

al
lo

ns

2015 YTD Allocation of CUP 2015 Actual Consumption

2015 Consumptive Use Permit (CUP)

60

36 37

26
23

29 28
35

23

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

W
at

er
s 

of
 U

S 
SS

O
s

SSOs Impacting Waters of the US by Fiscal Year

Compliance Metric FY2015 YTD FY2015 Target FY2014 FY2013 
Water CUP Limits (MGD) – CY basis 108 129 104 (127 limit) 100 (126 limit)
Sewer Nitrogen (N) Tons – FY basis 556 650 (TMDL of 682*) 577 767 (1536 limit)

9

Building Community

Environmental Compliance
Water and Wastewater System

St. Johns River Water Management CUP
YTD average daily flow is 16% below CY limit of 129 MGD, 
and the YTD South Grid consumption is below allocation 
limits

Nitrogen Discharge to St. Johns River (SJR)
Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) has 
reduced the Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) at 682 tons 
upon JEA cost allocating 33 tons to COJ via Trading Credits 

Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs)
On FY15 met the record low of 23 SSO’s

*Sept. 30, 2014
Permit Limit

720

TMDL Permit Limit
1536 tons/yearThe YTD CUP allocation is 

determined by using the last 
five years' monthly amounts 
to create JEA's monthly target.  

CY2015 CUP Limit 47.1

FY2015 Projection 
556

Good

FY15 Goal = 23

Average = 31

South Grid Allocation

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

22



Unit Sales Driver:  Rainfall was down 2 inches; rain days were same as prior year.

Electric System Financial Results
Financial Planning Budget and RatesBuilding Community

JEA Water and Sewer System
kGal Sales

(in Thousands)

10

Rain
30-Yr. Avg. . FY14 FY15

Inches 52 51 49
Days 114 114 114

Month FY14 FY15 % Change
Oct 2,793 3,051 9.2% 
Nov 2,381 2,597 9.1% 
Dec 2,662 2,708 1.7% 
Jan 2,475 2,502 1.1%
Feb 2,130 2,238 5.1%
Mar 2,387 2,732 14.4%
Apr 2,691 2,765 2.7%
May 3,088 3,509 13.7%
Jun 2,897 3,382 16.8%
Jul 2,993 3,300 10.3%

Aug 3,221 3,062 (4.9%)
Sep 2,750 2,712 (1.4%)

Total 32,468 34,558 6.4%

Total System 6.4%
Residential 4.9%
Comm./Industrial 6.1%
Irrigation 12.1%

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

kGal Sales
(in Thousands)

Water Sewer

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

23



Building Community

Revenues FY15 Actual FY14 Actual FY15 Budget FY15 vs FY14 ($) Variance (%)
Water & Sewer Revenues $ 393,167 $  375,372 $ 390,392 $ 17,795 4.7%
Other Revenue 43,750 32,518 28,868 11,232       34.5%

Total Revenues $ 436,917 $ 407,890 $  419,260 $ 29,027 7.1%

Select Expenses
O & M Expense $   127,174 $  119,466 $   136,523 $ (7,708) -6.5%

Net Revenues $ 278,471 $ 281,727 $ 279,426 $  (3,256) -1.2%

Capital Expenditures $ 100,806 $ 76,852 $ 130,900 $ (23,954) -31.2%
Debt Service $ 101,108 $ 114,372  $ 124,443 $ 13,264 11.6%

JEA Water and Sewer System
Financial Results and Cost Metrics

11

$18M

($ in thousands)

Metrics FY15 Actual
Coverage: 2.8x
Days Cash/Liquidity: 149 / 269
Debt/Asset: 55% (1% lower)
Total Debt: $1.7B ($117M lower)

Cost / KGal Water Sewer
Target $ 4.47 $ 7.96 
Actual 1 4.01 7.26
Difference $ 0.46 $ 0.70 

$(1M)

1 Preliminary numbers

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

24



12

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

$60

$70

$80

$90

$100

Utility Charges Public Service Tax Franchise Fee

$ 
/ 

M
on

th
Water & Sewer Rates in Florida

Residential Service with a 5/8" meter and 6 kgals of Consumption
Residential Rates as of October 2015

JEA 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

25



13

Communicating with
customers  about utility 
programs and services 
that impact them is a 

key driver to satisfaction

JDP Comm Awareness

Residential
FY13 48.8%
FY14 51.9%
FY15 56.6%

Commercial
FY13 53.4%
FY14 55.7%
FY15 70.4%

Empowering Customers to Make Informed Decisions
Communication Communication 

Channels 
FY15 

Volume: 467,999,215
• e-Com

(jea.com, email, social)
25,414,020

• Paid Media
(Radio, TV, Print)
120,944,121

• Community Engagement
(Events, Workshops)
462,598

• Other Communication
(Bill Inserts, Brochures, 
11,909,480

• Earned Media
309,268,996

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

26



Presenter:  Monica Whiting

Date: October 2015

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

27



Customer Service

Power Quality & Reliability

Billing & Payment

Price

FY15 Customer Satisfaction Goal
Achieve National 2nd Quartile Ranking for 
Residential and 1st for Business on the J.D. 

Power Customer Satisfaction Index
Residential (R)

Business (B)                                    

Be Easy to Do Business With

Empower Customers to Make Informed Decisions

Improve Quartile Rankings from FY14

FY13 FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 
3Q 640 3Q 647 1Q 701 3Q 663 1Q 709 1Q 693 1Q 692

FY13 FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 FY15 YTD 
4Q 619 1Q 682 1Q 723 2Q 686 1Q 705

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 

2Q 600 1Q 669 3Q 620 1Q 667 1Q 658 1Q 653

1Q 627 1Q 679 2Q 618 1Q 648

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD

2Q 592 2Q 644 3Q 601 1Q 658 2Q 635 2Q 634

1Q 635 1Q 687 1Q 659 1Q 673

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 

2Q 736 1Q 762 2Q 740 1Q 764 1Q 754 1Q 755

1Q 740 1Q 754 1Q 758 1Q 756

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 

3Q 701 2Q 743 3Q 703 1Q 755 2Q 742 2Q 736

2Q 721 1Q 763 3Q 709 2Q 736

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 

2Q 731 1Q 799 3Q 717 1Q 767 1Q 820 1Q 775

2Q 716 1Q 757 2Q 750 1Q 754

FY14 Wave 1 Wave 2 Wave 3 Wave 4 FY15 YTD 

4Q 538 1Q 626 3Q 588 1Q 635 2Q 611 2Q 615

2Q 612 1Q 674 2Q 625 1Q 650

R
B

R
B

R
B

R
B

2015 Business # of companies ranked:  87

1Q= 1st quartile     2Q= 2nd quartile     3Q = 3rd quartile   4Q = 4th quartile

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

28



589
602

640
619

647

682692
705

Residential Business

2012 2013 2014 2015

JEA
Rank
Florida

JEA
Rank
Industry

116/126 60/126 75/138 30/140 91/95 81/95 17/93 14/87

10/10 7/10 7/11 5/11 6/6 6/6 1/6 2/6

JEA
Quartile
Industry

4 1141334

Customer Satisfaction Index Scores

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

29



Easy to Do Business With
Customer Service

17

Providing multiple 
contact channels 

allows the customer 
to interact with JEA in 

a way that’s easiest 
for them.

Customer  Satisfaction

Rating: 8s-10s 
by Channel -- JDP

FY 14    FY15

Phone 68.0%   60.8%

IVR 54.7%   68.5%

Web 59.6%   74.0% 0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

200,000

IVR Web Res-Phone Comm-Phone

Transactional Volume

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

30



Easy to Do Business With
Customer Service

18

Accurately 
addressing a 

customer’s needs 
the first time 
produces a 

positive customer 
experience

FY2015 YTD

Residential CC 72.8%
Branches 72.7%
Commercial CC 73.8%
jea.com 85.4%
Overall 80.9%

2015 JD Power FCR
Residential CC    74.3%
Jea.com 80.2%
Business CC         73.8%

FCR Branches, Call Centers, and jea.com

45%

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

Combined Target YTD

*

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

31



Easy to Do Business With
Power Quality and Reliability

19

Customers are more 
satisfied when 

receiving additional 
information about 
their outage and 

given callbacks when 
power is restored.

JD Power  

“Keeping you informed about 
outage”

Score 2014      2015 

8 – 10 29.6%      36.1%

< 5 28.0%      24.1%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

R
eq

ue
st

ed
 C

al
lb

ac
k 

%

Customers Requesting a Call Back after an Outage

FY14        
47.9%

FY15        
49.2%

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

32



Empowering Customers to Make Informed Decisions
Billing & Payment

20

FY15 Industry 
Benchmark*

e-Bill 15.5% 14.5%

Budget Bill 4.7% 11.0%

Auto Pay 7.3% 14.0%

*2013 IOU Benchmark Median

Customer Solution 
Participation 2015 Goal FY14 FY15 Status

e-Billing Participation 60,900 48,900 61,981 Meets Target
Budget Bill Participation 30,000 15,394 18,986 Not On Track
Auto Pay Participation 35,012 25,012 29,272 Not On Track
JEA MyWay Participation 7,675 5,675 8,577 Meets Target

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

70000

FY13 FY14 FY15

C
us

to
m

er
 C

ou
nt

B&P Program Participation

e-Bill

Budget Bill

Auto Pay

JEA MyWay

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

33



21

Electronic Payment 
methods provide a 

true win-win for JEA 
and the Customer –

higher satisfaction and 
lower transaction cost

FY2015

2015 Electronic Transaction        
Goal: 60%

60.0%

40.0%

2.6%

20.4%
17.0%

Branch 3rd Party US Mail

11.6%

26.1% 6.5%

15.9%

IVR jea.com EZ Pay Bank Transfer

Physical Bill 
Payments

Electronic 
Bill Payments

FY15 Industry 
Benchmark

Electronic 
Transaction 60.0% 51.5%

*2013 IOU Benchmark Median

Empowering Customers to Make Informed Decisions
Billing & Payment

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

34



Communicating with
customers  about utility 
programs and services 
that impact them is a 

key driver to satisfaction

JDP Comm Awareness

Residential
FY13 48.8%
FY14 51.9%
FY15 56.6%

Commercial
FY13 53.4%
FY14 55.7%
FY15 70.4%

Empowering Customers to Make Informed Decisions
Communication

Communication 
Channels 

FY15 
Volume: 517,049,230

• e-Com
(jea.com, email, social)
28,596,394

• Paid Media
(Radio, TV, Print)
130,548,737

• Community Engagement
(Events, Workshops)
476,143

• Other Communication
(Bill Inserts, Brochures, 
12,992,160

• Earned Media
344,435, 796

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

35



Giving back to our community 
through volunteering is 

foundational as a
community-owned utility

September— 53 Volunteers
• Bird Stewards at Huguenot Park
• Feeding NE Florida Food Bank (2)
• Dignity U Wear
• Dragon Boat Festival 

FY15 Activities:
• 792 Volunteers
• 4,093 hours of  Community Service
• 62 Volunteer Events
• 41 Organizations Benefited

TARGET

700

JEA Employee Volunteer Participation Community Service

Tonya Middleton
Integration 
Services Specialist
JEA Employee 
Volunteer 
of the Month

Demonstrating Community Responsibility
Corporate Citizenship

Dignity You Wear

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

C
um

ul
at

iv
e 

 C
ou

nt

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

36



JEA Ambassadors are 
engaging customers 

throughout our 
community in a greatly 

expanded way.

FY15 Activities:
• Speakers Bureau—102

• Facility Tours—62

• Community Events—66

• Educational Partnership 
Activities—36

JEA Ambassador Program

Demonstrating Community Responsibility
Corporate Citizenship

JEA met with local non-profit leaders: 
Ambassador Brian Pippin discussed 
ways to help low-income residents pay 
their utility bill with members of 
Community Connections of 
Jacksonville.  

JEA Ambassadors at Northeast 
Florida Community Action 
Agency’s Resource Fair:  JEA 
Ambassadors Angel Vilechez and 
Thomas Hannah represented JEA at 
the NE FL Community Action Agency 
Resource Fair at the Emmett Reed 
Community Center.    

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

37



25

DSM Programs & Participation 2015 
Goal FY14 FY15 Status

Efficiency Assessment 22,400 24,462 24,348 Meets Target

Electric Efficiency Online  Assessment 15,100 14,975 13,119 Not On Track

Electric and Water Efficiency in-home Assessment 8,900 8,967 10,690 Meets Target

Irrigation Efficiency at home Assessment 500 520 539 Meets Target

Invest Smart & Shop Smart 70,290 65,313 91,588 Meets Target

Neighborhood Energy Efficiency 1,132 1,140 1,199 Meets Target

Electric Vehicle Rebates 150 N/A 47 Not On Track

Demonstrating Community Responsibility
Corporate Citizenship: Environmental

27 New Electric Vehicle Host Sites:
• Capacity for approximately 50 charging spaces
• Installation started in October
• To be completed by Year End
• 10 sites selected based on customer input
• 17 sites selected by application process which 

divided city into 10 geographic zones to get better 
disbursement

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

38



26

Customers Receiving Agency & 
Federal Utility Assistance 

FY 15 YTD 
10,557

30 agencies provided 590 utility payments 
on behalf of JEA customers in 

September 2015 totaling $183,893

502

1,576 

2,621 

5,858

0 2000 4000 6000

Neighbor to Neighbor

Faith-based
Organizations

Social and Health
Organizations

Federal (LIHEAP)

# Customers Receiving 
Agency Assistance YTD

Demonstrating Community Responsibility
Corporate Citizenship: Customer Assistance Funding

Neighbor to 
Neighbor
$151,538

5% Social and 
Health 

Organizations
$777,621

22%
Faith-Based 

Organizations
$491,242

13%
Federal 

(LIHEAP)
$1,907,016

60%

Agency & Federal 
Customer Assistance

FY15 YTD
$3,327,416

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

39



27

JEA works with 
customers during 
times of financial 

stress, offering 
assistance through 
Payment Plans and 

Payment 
Arrangements

Write-offs  YTD
Combined – 0.16%
Residential – 0.15%
Commercial – 0.01%

Receivables YTD
< 30 Days = 84.7% 
Goal > 82%

> 90 Days = 1.60%
Goal < 2%

Demonstrating Community Responsibility
Corporate Citizenship: Customer Assistance

2000

7000

12000

17000

22000

27000

Pay Arrangements Pay Plans

Active Customer Count

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

40



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

41



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

42



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

43



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

44



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

45



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

46



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

47



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

48



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

49



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

50



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

51



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

52



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

53



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

54



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

55



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

56



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

57



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

58



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

59



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

60



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

61



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

62



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

63



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

64



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

65



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

66



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

67



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

68



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

69



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

70



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

71



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

72



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

73



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

74



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

75



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

76



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

77



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

78



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

79



JEA Community Engagement Calendar - September - November 2015
(Events highlighted in blue are either JEA sponsored or corporate events)

Page 1

1
2

3

4

5
6
7

8
9

10

11

12
13

14

15

16
17
18
19

A B C D E F

Date Event/Activity Location Time Type
Opportunity for Public to 

Attend or Participate

Sep-15

9/1/2015
Feeding NE Florida Food 

Bank
Feeding NE Florida Food 

Bank

8:30 – 11:30 a.m. 
and/or 12:30 – 

3:30 p.m.
Volunteer Event Yes

9/1 - 4/2015
Bird Stewards at Huguneot 

Park
Huguneot Park 8 a.m. – 6 p.m. Volunteer Event Yes

9/4/2015
Variable Frequency Drives 

Workshop
JEA - Tower 19 8am - 10am Ambassador Event Yes

9/8/2015 Riverview Senior Center Main St Lab 10:30am Ambassador Facility Tour No
9/12/2015 TEACH Conference Hyatt Riverfront 8am - 3pm Ambassador Event Yes

9/12 2015
NE FL Community Action 

Agency Resource Fair
Emmett Reed Center - 

1093 W 6th St
10am - 2pm Ambassador Event Yes

9/12/2015 Cars & Coffee 8am Ambassador Event Yes

9/16/2015
Field Inspectors Course 

Fieldtrip
Mandarin WWTP Plant 

Tour
2:30 Ambassador Facility Tour No

9/17/2015
National Drive Electric 

Week
Whole Foods - San Jose 5pm Ambassador Event Yes

9/18/2015
Feeding NE Florida Food 

Bank
Feeding NE Florida Food 

Bank

8:30 – 11:30 a.m. 
and/or 12:30 – 

3:30 p.m.
Volunteer Event Yes

9/20/2015 Robotics Club Brooks Family YMCA 11am Ambassador Speaker Yes

9/23/2015 Dignity U Wear Dignity U Wear
9 a.m. – Noon 

and/or 1 – 4 p.m. 
Volunteer Event Yes

9/24/2015
Non-Profit Agency 

Appreciation Breakfast
JEA - Tower 19 7:30am Ambassador Event Yes

9/26/2015
Family Foundation 

Homebuyer Workshop
duPont Building 9am Ambassador Instructor No 

9/26/2015 Dragon Boat Festival Jacksonville Landing 8 a.m. – 6 p.m. Volunteer Event Yes
9/29/2015 USGBC NF Chapter UNF 11:30am Ambassador Speaker No

Oct-15

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

80



JEA Community Engagement Calendar - September - November 2015
(Events highlighted in blue are either JEA sponsored or corporate events)

Page 2

20

21

22
23

24

25
26

27

28

29
30

31

32
33

34
35
36
37
38

A B C D E F

Date Event/Activity Location Time Type
Opportunity for Public to 

Attend or Participate

10/1 -4/2015
2015 Fall Home & Patio 

Show
Prime Osborn 10am - 9pm Ambassador Event Yes 

10/8/2015 United Way Days of Caring Clara White Mission 8am - 11am Volunteer Event Yes

10/14/2015 Deutsche Bank Lunch & Learn 12noon Ambassador Event Yes 

10/14 - 16/2015
2015 Florida Energy 

Summit
Hyatt Riverfront All Day Ambassador Event Yes 

10/15/2015 United Way Days of Caring 
Pine Castle - 4933 Spring 

Park Road  
9am - 12noon Volunteer Event Yes

10/15/2015 Web.com Benefits Fair 12808 Gran Bay Parkway 10am - 3pm Ambassador Event No

10/15/2015
Mayport Energy 
Awareness Event

Mayport Base - Commissary 10am - 2pm Ambassador Event No

10/15 - 18/2015
2015 Southern Women's 

Show 
Prime Osborn 10am - 9pm Ambassador Event Yes 

10/17/2015
Home Depot Customer 

Appreciation
Atlantic & Girvin 10am - 2pm Ambassador Event Yes

10/24/2015 2015 Black Expo Prime Osborn 10am - 6pm Ambassador Event Yes 

10/24/2015
Eco-Latina Hispanic Art 

Walk
Jax Landing 4pm Ambassador Event Yes

10/24/2015 TEDxJacksonville 
Webb Wesconnett and 

University Park Libraries 
9:30am - 2pm Volunteer Event Yes

Nov-15

11/7/2015
Main Library Anniversary 

Celebration
Main Library 10am Ambassador Event Yes

11/11/2015 Veterans Day Parade Downtown Jax 11:01am Ambassador Event Yes

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

81



JEA Community Engagement Calendar - September - November 2015
(Events highlighted in blue are either JEA sponsored or corporate events)

Page 3

39
40

41
42
43
44

A B C D E F

Date Event/Activity Location Time Type
Opportunity for Public to 

Attend or Participate

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

82



FY15 Communications & Community Engagement
August/September Update

_______________________________________________________

Communications: In September we began communicating that the Fuel Credit would be coming in customers’ 
October bills. We also updated customers on the change to terminology that occurred on their bill eliminating the 
Customer Charge from the electric section and the Service Availability Charge from the water and sewer sections to
replace all three with a Basic Monthly Charge on each. We also continued to promote the use of jea.com as a 
convenient way to interact with JEA. All paid and owned messaging are supported by social media, using Twitter, 
Facebook, Linkedin, Google+ and YouTube to provide additional timely, relevant information. Proactive media for 
the period included information on the elimination of Fats, Oils and Grease, the availability of dark fiber and the 
upcoming fuel credit. Performance Pay, Paul’s contract and the JEA Board were in the news in September.

Community Engagement: We set a goal for having 700 employee volunteers in the community in FY15 so we are 
very excited to report we actually exceeded our goal by 90 volunteers for a total number of 790. As we move into 
October, we are off to a good start with our volunteer activities which include Days of Caring at the Clara White 
Mission, Days of Caring at Pine Castle and assistance with TEDx Jacksonville.

As for our Ambassador program, our goal was to have 100 new JEA Ambassadors from around the company 
trained by September 30. Again we exceeded our goal and ended the year with 163 fully certified Ambassadors. 
Activities in September included speaking at the Robotics Club at Brooks YMCA, at the USGBC NF Chapter Meeting, 
participating in the Variable Frequency Drives Workshop, TEACH Conference, NE FL Community Action Agency 
Resource, Cars & Coffee, National Drive Electric Week, conducting facility tours at the Main Street Lab for the 
Riverview Senior Center and at Mandarin WWTP Plant Tour for Field Inspectors. We even conducted a First-Time 
Homebuyer Workshop for Family Foundation. And last but not least, we hosted a Non-Profit Agency Appreciation 
Breakfast for local non-profits who provide utility assistance to our customers to say thank you and increase the 
dialogue to provide more opportunities for collaboration.

We are very excited about the year ahead and with more volunteers and Ambassadors than ever before; we 
believe we will have another great year engaging our customers one-on-one to make their use of our products 
more efficient and safe as well as assisting local non-profits to achieve their missions.

Communications Contacts Generated Year to Date 517,049,230
∑ Number of Paid Communications Contacts 130,548,737

(Radio, Television, Out of Home, Online, Print)
∑ Number of Other Communications Contacts 357,427,956

(Bill Insert, Bill Envelop, Brochure, Earned Media etc.) 
∑ Number of E-communications Contacts 28,596,394

(jea.com Visitors, Email, Social Media, Videos)
∑ Number of Community Engagement Communications Contacts 476,143

(Events, Public Speaking, Presentations, Training, Workshops, etc.)

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. A. Consent Agenda

83



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 14, 2015

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF STEVEN V. TUTEN, DIRECTOR, AUDIT SERVICES

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: JEA staff has conducted an extensive search and interview process to employ the position of 
Director, Audit Services to replace Ms. Doris Champ due to her retirement.  The JEA staff recommends for 
approval by the JEA Board of Directors, the appointment of Mr. Steven V. Tuten, CIA, CMA, CTP (resume 
attached).   

Significance: Mr. Tuten has an extensive background in the performance of audit services and will have 
the opportunity to work with Ms. Champ for the next several weeks to transition into this position. Due to 
the timing of this appointment, it is requested that this item be heard and this request be made directly to 
the JEA Board without first being heard by the Finance and Audit Committee.

Effect: The appointment of a highly skilled auditor to replace Doris Champ due to her retirement after 
thirteen years of employment with JEA.

Cost or Benefit: The Director, Audit Services shall be paid an annual salary of $135,000 plus standard 
JEA employee benefits.

Recommended Board action: Staff recommends that the JEA Board of Directors discharge this item out 
of the Finance and Audit Committee and approve the appointment of Mr. Steven V. Tuten to the position of 
Director, Audit Services.

For additional information, contact: Jody Brooks 630-1720

Submitted by: PEM/TEH

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

84



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 14, 2015

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF STEVEN V. TUTEN, DIRECTOR, AUDIT SERVICES

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:

Doris Champ, JEA’s Chief Auditor is retiring from JEA.  She has extended her retirement to be effective 
on December 1, 2015.  Upon knowledge of her retirement, JEA began the process to recruit for the 
Director’s position in February of this year.  After an extensive search and interview process JEA staff
has selected and recommends for approval by the JEA Board of Directors, the appointment of 
Mr. Steven V. Tuten, CIA, CMA, CTP to the position of Director, Audit Services. 

DISCUSSION:

Mr. Tuten has an extensive background in the performance of audit services and will have the 
opportunity to work with Ms. Champ for the next several weeks to transition into this position. Mr. Tuten 
will be paid a salary of $135,000 per year along with standard JEA employee benefits.

Due to the timing of this appointment, it is requested that this item be heard and this request be made 
directly to the JEA Board without first being heard by the Finance and Audit Committee.  One of the listed 
responsibilities contained in the Operating Policy of the Finance in Audit Committee is the approval of the 
appointment of the Director of Audit Services.  For the ease of transition and the ability of Ms. Champ to 
impart certain strategic and institutional knowledge, it is recommended that the appointment of Mr. Tuten 
go directly before the JEA Board and be discharged from the Finance and Audit Committee.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends that the JEA Board of Directors discharge this item out of the Finance and Audit 
Committee and approve the appointment of Mr. Steven V. Tuten to the position of Director, Audit 
Services.

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

85



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

86



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

87



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 21, 2015

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION: FY2016 BUDGETARY TRANSFERS 

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: In the past, the Board has delegated to the Managing Director the authority to make transfers 
during the fiscal year between budget line items. In December 2008 a modification was made to notify the 
Board of line item transfers greater than $5.0 million. Consistent with past practices and Board delegation 
of authority, staff recommends the board authorize the Managing Director to approve FY2016 budget 
transfers up to $5.0 million.

Significance: High. Delegates authority to Managing Director to approve budget transfers for FY2016.

Effect: Transfers occurring within FY2016 Operating and Capital Budgets.

Cost or Benefit: Business continuity, administrative efficiency and budget effectiveness.

Recommended Board action: This item is submitted for information. Staff will request approval at the 
November 17, 2015 Board Meeting. 

For additional information, contact: Melissa Dykes

Submitted by: PEM/ MHD/ DRJ

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

88



Building Community

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 21, 2015

SUBJECT: APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION: FY2016 BUDGETARY TRANSFERS

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND
The budget ordinance includes the authority for JEA to transfer from time to time, without
Councilapproval,appropriated funds from one of the purposes for which funds are appropriated
to another such purpose during the fiscal year. The ordinance requires that the City Council
Auditor be provided, at the end of each quarter, a copy or a written summary of the
documentation of all transfers made between approved budget line items. Inthe past, the Board
has delegated to the Managing Director the authority to make transfers during the fiscal year
betweenthe budget line items.

DISCUSSION
The proposed Resolution authorizes the Managing Director to approve transfers between
approved budget line items within the JEA budget for Fiscal Year 2016. Authorization is limited
to $5.0 million per transfer; however, in the event of an emergency or for year-end adjustments,
the Managing Director is authorized to approve budget transfers exceeding $5.0 million.
Emergency and year-end transfers exceeding $5.0 million will be brought to the Board for
ratification. The Resolution states that the JEA staff will provide to the City Council Auditor at the 
end of each quarter a copy or written summary of the documentation of all transfers made
between approved budget line items.

RECOMMENDATION
This item is submitted for information.  Staff will request approval at the November 17, 2015 
Board Meeting. 

Paul McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/MHD/DRJ

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

89



Resolution No. 2015-05

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MANAGING DIRECTOR TO 
AFFECT TRANSFERS WITHIN THE ACCOUNTS OF THE FISCAL 

YEAR 2016 OPERATING AND CAPITAL BUDGETS FOR JEA, 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

WHEREAS, each year, the City Council approves the JEA Budget, and authorizes the Board 
to make allocations, allotments, and transfers within the approved budget for JEA; and

WHEREAS, each year, the Board of Directors authorizes the Managing Director to make 
allocations, allotments, and transfers within the approved budget for JEA, within a limit set by 
Resolution; now therefore

BE IT RESOLVED by the JEA Board of Directors that:

1. The Managing Director is authorized to approve transfers between line items within the 
JEA budget for Fiscal Year 2016, providing the transfers are within the total budget as 
approved by the City Council.  

2. This Authorization is limited to $5.0 million per transfer except in the event of an 
emergency or year-end adjustments, where the Managing Director is authorized to 
approve budget transfers exceeding $5.0 million.  Emergency and year-end transfers 
exceeding $5.0 million will be brought to the Board of Directors for ratification.  

3. There shall be a copy or a summary of the written documentation of all transfers made 
between approved budget line items provided to the Council Auditor at the end of each 
quarter.

4. This Resolution shall be effective immediately upon passage.

Dated this ______ day of ____________2015.

JEA

By:  __________________________________
Chair

Form Approved:

_________________________________
Jody L. Brooks
Assistant General Counsel

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

90



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 5, 2015

SUBJECT: 
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY FOR OPERATIONAL/CAPITAL PURPOSES AND 
LIQUIDITY

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: JEA has utilized revolving credit facilities (revolvers) since 2003 to enhance liquidity metrics and to 
efficiently provide flexibility for operational and capital cash needs. By prior Resolutions, the Board has 
delegated to the Managing Director and CEO the authority to amend, renew or extend revolvers. Methods 
of procuring revolver providers are described in the JEA procurement code. Prior Resolutions do not 
address the delegation of authority for selecting replacement revolver providers or for replacing revolvers.

Significance: High. Bank revolving credit facilities improve JEA’s liquidity position, reduce financial risks 
and strengthen JEA’s credit position with the rating agencies and bondholders.

Effect: Permits the Managing Director and CEO, in accordance with the JEA procurement code, to select 
the banks or financial institutions providing JEA with revolving credit facilities and to substite new revolvers 
to replace existing revolvers.

Cost or Benefit: JEA pays fees for revolving credit facility capacity, which provides an important source of 
liquidity, helping protect JEA's credit ratings and minimize its overall cost of debt.

Recommended Board action: This item is submitted for information.  Staff will request approval at the 
November 17, 2015 Board Meeting.

For additional information, contact: Joe Orfano, 665-4541

Submitted by: PEM/ MHD/JEO/ RLH

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

91



4824-9859-6137.4
Ver 2.2 02/01/2014

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 5, 2015

SUBJECT:
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY FOR OPERATIONAL/CAPITAL 
PURPOSES AND LIQUIDITY

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
JEA currently has two revolving credit agreements (revolvers) totaling $300 million with two banks to 
provide additional funds, as may be needed, to supplement the Debt Management Subaccounts of the 
Rate Stabilization Fund and to mitigate various potential risks in JEA’s debt portfolio. One revolver is with 
Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd for a commitment amount of $200 million (the “BTMU Agreement”) 
and the second is with Union Bank, N.A. (now named MUFG Union Bank, N.A.) for a commitment 
amount of $100 million (the “Union Agreement”). Both revolvers were executed September 9, 2013 and 
expire September 7, 2016. These banks were procured pursuant the JEA Procurement Code, and the 
revolvers were executed under authority granted by the Board in the Amended and Restated Note 
Resolution dated August 20, 2013 (“Resolution No. 2013-14”). 

Historically, JEA has utilized borrowings under revolvers as bridge financings in order to advantageously 
time the issuances of long term debt for capital projects, to supplement long-term refunding transactions
if the market pricing was not advantageous for certain maturities, or to provide short-term funding for fuel 
inventory. In addition, the rating agencies favorably view our revolvers as an excellent source of liquidity 
and reflect the facilities on our various liquidity ratios. Moody’s rating criteria specifies that target number 
of days of liquidity for utilities with a Aa rating is 150 to 250 days; this revolving credit facility will help JEA 
achieve and maintain this target metric.

Note: JEA has not made any borrowings under the two revolvers and does not anticipate a need to do 
so.

DISCUSSION:
Staff has notified the banks of JEA’s desire to request an extension beyond the current revolver 
expiration dates. Prior to requesting an extension and based on preliminary indicative pricing received 
from BTMU on behalf of itself and Union, Staff with the input of JEA’s financial advisor Public Financial 
Management (“PFM”) decided to review current pricing, as well as terms and conditions for revolvers and 
intends to issue a Request for Information (“RFI”) in order to determine if it would be advantageous for 
JEA to enter into new revolvers with possibly one or more new banks or financial institutions. Consistent 
with the process used to procure the BTMU and Union agreements, the RFI will request proposals from 
banks to serve as a revolving credit provider on its own or as a lead bank in a syndicated revolving credit 
facility for up to $300 million with a term of at least three years and up to five years. 

Attached is an Amended and Restated Note Resolution (“Resolution No. 2015-06”) amending Resolution 
No. 2013-14, drafted by our Bond Counsel, Nixon Peabody LLP, which authorizes the following:

∑ A delegation to: (a) the Managing Director and CEO, or his designee, to: (i) select one or more 
banks or financial institutions, from respondents to a request for information, a request for 
proposal or competitive bid request distributed by or on behalf of JEA as provided for in JEA’s 
then current Procurement Code (currently Section 4-315 of the JEA Procurement Code), or (ii) if 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

92



4824-9859-6137.4

Page 2
considered by the Managing Director and CEO to be in the best interest of JEA and upon the 
written recommendation of JEA’s financial advisor, to negotiate the terms of a Credit Agreement 
with one or more banks or financial institutions in accordance with JEA’s then current 
procurement code (currently Section 4-315 of the JEA Procurement Code); and (b) certain 
Authorized Officers to execute one or more revolver(s) subject to the $300 million limit. 
Resolution No. 2015-06 requires a certificate from JEA’s financial advisor stating that the terms 
and conditions of the final revolver are necessary or desirable and advantageous to JEA, are in 
commercially reasonable form and reflect current markets terms and conditions.

∑ A delegation to the Managing Director and CEO, or his designee to extend, amend, renew or
substitute such new credit agreement(s) with the incumbent banks or other bank(s) or financial 
institution(s), procured using a selection method allowed in Section 4-315 of the JEA 
Procurement Code, subject to a determination from the Managing Director and CEO, or his 
designee and a certificate from JEA’s financial advisor, in each case, that any revised 
agreement(s) or replacement agreement(s) executed in connection with such extension, 
amendment, renewal or substitution contains terms that are necessary or desirable and 
advantageous to JEA and in commercially reasonable form and, in the case of the certificate from 
JEA’s financial advisor, reflect current markets terms and conditions and, in the case of a 
negotiation with banks or financial institution(s) instead of an alternate method of selection, a 
recommendation from JEA’s financial advisor to negotiate the terms of such revised agreement(s) 
or replacement agreement(s) with such bank(s) or financial institution(s).

Finally, if negotiation with the selected bank(s) or financial institution(s), take longer than anticipated, 
staff request the authorization to have the Managing Director and CEO, or his designee, be delegated 
the authority to renew the current revolvers until the new revolver(s) is executed.

RECOMMENDATION:
This item is submitted for information.  Staff will request approval at the November 17, 2015 Board 
Meeting. 

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/MHD/JEO/RLH

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

93



RESOLUTION NO. 2015-06

A RESOLUTION RESTATING AND AMENDING THE RESOLUTION 
OF JEA DATED AUGUST 19, 2003 ENTITLED “A RESOLUTION 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY BY JEA OF A 
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH SUNTRUST BANK AND 
AUTHORIZING BORROWINGS THEREUNDER OF NOT 
EXCEEDING $50,000,000 OUTSTANDING FROM TIME TO TIME, 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING JEA WITH WORKING 
CAPITAL AND SHORT-TERM OR INTERIM FINANCING FOR 
CAPITAL PROJECTS FOR THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM, THE WATER 
AND SEWER SYSTEM AND SUCH OTHER UTILITY SYSTEMS AS 
MAY HEREAFTER BE ESTABLISHED BY JEA; AUTHORIZING 
THE ISSUANCE OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, SERIES 2 AND WATER AND 
SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK 
NOTES, SERIES 2 OF JEA FOR THE PURPOSE OF EVIDENCING 
JEA’S OBLIGATION TO REPAY AMOUNTS BORROWED UNDER 
SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE ELECTRIC 
SYSTEM AND THE WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM, 
RESPECTIVELY; DETERMINING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES AND 
PROVIDING FOR THE SECURITY THEREFOR; AUTHORIZING 
THE PROPER OFFICERS OF JEA TO DO ALL OTHER THINGS 
DEEMED NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH 
BORROWINGS UNDER SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE 
ISSUANCE OF SAID REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED 
BANK NOTES; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE”, AS 
SUPPLEMENTED AND AMENDED TO THE DATE HEREOF, 
WHICH AUTHORIZES THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY BY JEA 
OF ONE OR MORE CREDIT AGREEMENTS WITH ONE OR MORE 
BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS SELECTED BY THE 
MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND 
AUTHORIZES BORROWINGS THEREUNDER OF NOT EXCEEDING 
$300,000,000 OUTSTANDING FROM TIME TO TIME FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF PROVIDING JEA WITH WORKING CAPITAL AND 
SHORT-TERM OR INTERIM FINANCING FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS 
FOR THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM, THE WATER AND SEWER 
SYSTEM, THE DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM, THE ST. JOHNS 
RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM, THE BULK POWER SUPPLY 
SYSTEM AND SUCH OTHER UTILITY SYSTEMS AS MAY 
HEREAFTER BE ESTABLISHED BY JEA; AUTHORIZING THE 
ISSUANCE OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, DISTRICT 
ENERGY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK 
NOTES, ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

94



CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, BULK POWER SUPPLY 
SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES 
OF JEA FOR THE PURPOSE OF EVIDENCING JEA’S OBLIGATION 
TO REPAY AMOUNTS BORROWED UNDER SUCH CREDIT 
AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM,  THE 
WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM, THE DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM, 
THE ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM AND THE BULK
POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM, RESPECTIVELY; DETERMINING 
CERTAIN DETAILS OF SAID REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
SECURITY THEREFOR; AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICERS 
OF JEA TO DO ALL OTHER THINGS AND TAKE SUCH ACTIONS 
DEEMED NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH
THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THE REVOLVING CREDIT 
AGREEMENT AND THE BORROWINGS UNDER SUCH CREDIT 
AGREEMENT AND THE ISSUANCE OF SAID REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, INCLUDING RENEWING OR 
EXTENDING THE TERM OF SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT OR 
AMENDING SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT OR PROCURING A 
CREDIT AGREEMENT IN SUBSTITUTION OF AN EXISTING 
CREDIT AGREEMENT, IN EACH CASE, UPON SUCH TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS AS SHALL BE DETERMINED BY THE MANAGING 
DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF JEA OR SUCH 
DESIGNEE TO BE ADVANTAGEOUS TO JEA AND 
COMMERCIALLY REASONABLE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

95



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

i

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS AND AUTHORITY

Section 1.01 Authority for this Bank Note Resolution ................................................................ 2
Section 1.02 Definitions............................................................................................................... 2
Section 1.03 Bank Note Resolution to Constitute Contract......................................................... 9

ARTICLE II 
AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL OF CREDIT AGREEMENT

Section 2.01 Authorization and Approval of Credit Agreement ................................................. 9
Section 2.02 Authorization to Borrow Pursuant to the Credit Agreement .................................. 9
Section 2.03 Officers Authorized to Execute and Deliver Credit Agreement ........................... 10
Section 2.04 Authorization to Select One or More Banks or Financial Institutions.................. 10
Section 2.05 Authorization to Extend the Term or Renew the Credit Agreement; 

Authorization to Amend the Credit Agreement.................................................... 10
Section 2.06 Further Actions ..................................................................................................... 12

ARTICLE III 
AUTHORIZATION OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM 

REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 3.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.................................... 12
Section 3.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................. 13
Section 3.03 Execution and Delivery of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes ................... 13
Section 3.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, 

Interest on Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, Payment of Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for Payment ..................... 13

Section 3.05 Form of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule of Loans 
and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule .................................................. 14

Section 3.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 14

ARTICLE IV
SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR 

ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 4.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 15

Section 4.02 Payment of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes ..................................... 15
Section 4.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.................................................................................. 15
Section 4.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Electric System Revolving Credit Notes ............. 16

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

96



TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Page

ii

ARTICLE V 
AUTHORIZATION OF WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM 

REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 5.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.................................... 16
Section 5.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................. 16
Section 5.03 Execution and Delivery of Water and Sewer System Revolving 

Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 16
Section 5.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Water and Sewer System Revolving 

Credit Notes, Interest on Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Notes, Payment of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes 
and Optional Tender for Payment......................................................................... 17

Section 5.05 Form of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule 
of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule ................................... 18

Section 5.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Notes......................................................................................... 18

ARTICLE VI
SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR 

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 6.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 18

Section 6.02 Payment of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes ...................... 19
Section 6.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.................................................................................. 19
Section 6.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Water and Sewer System Revolving 

Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 20

ARTICLE VII 
AUTHORIZATION OF DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM 

REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 7.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.................................... 20
Section 7.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................. 20
Section 7.03 Execution and Delivery of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes....... 21
Section 7.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of District Energy System Revolving 

Credit Notes, Interest on District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, 
Payment of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes and Optional 
Tender for Payment............................................................................................... 21

Section 7.05 Form of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule 
of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule ................................... 22

Section 7.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of District Energy System Revolving 
Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 22

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

97



TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Page

iii

ARTICLE VIII 
SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR 

DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 8.01 Source of Payment and Security for the District Energy System Revolving
Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 23

Section 8.02 Payment of the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes ......................... 24
Section 8.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.................................................................................. 24
Section 8.04 Rate Covenant with respect to District Energy System Revolving Credit 

Notes ............................................................................................................. 24
Section 8.05 Covenant To Fund Payment on District Energy System Revolving Credit 

Notes. ............................................................................................................. 24
Section 8.06 Certain Provisions of the District Energy System Resolution Excluded.............. 24

ARTICLE IX 
AUTHORIZATION OF ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER 

PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 9.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.................................... 24
Section 9.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................. 25
Section 9.03 Execution and Delivery of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving 

Credit Notes .......................................................................................................... 25
Section 9.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of St. Johns River Power Park System 

Revolving Credit Notes, Interest on St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes, Payment of St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for Payment.................................. 26

Section 9.05 Form of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes and 
Schedule of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule ................... 26

Section 9.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes......................................................................................... 27

ARTICLE X 
SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR 

ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 10.01 Source of Payment and Security for the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes......................................................................................... 27

Section 10.02 Payment of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes...... 28
Section 10.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.................................................................................. 28
Section 10.04 Rate Covenant with respect to the St. Johns River Power Park System............... 29

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

98



TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Page

iv

ARTICLE XI 
AUTHORIZATION OF BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM 

REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 11.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.................................... 29
Section 11.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................. 29
Section 11.03 Execution and Delivery of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit 

Notes ............................................................................................................. 29
Section 11.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 

Credit Notes, Interest on Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit 
Notes, Payment of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and 
Optional Tender for Payment................................................................................ 30

Section 11.05 Form of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule of 
Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule ....................................... 31

Section 11.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes......................................................................................... 31

ARTICLE XII 
SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR 

BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 12.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes......................................................................................... 31

Section 12.02 Payment of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes .................. 32
Section 12.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.................................................................................. 33
Section 12.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Bulk Power Supply System ................................. 33

ARTICLE XIII
FORM OF REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 13.01 Form of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes ................................................ 33
Section 13.02 Form of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes ................................. 37
Section 13.03 Form of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes .................................... 41
Section 13.04 Form of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes................. 45
Section 13.05 Form of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes ............................. 49

ARTICLE XIV 
ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS

Section 14.01 Supplemental Resolutions Authorizing Borrowings for Additional Systems ...... 53
Section 14.02 Additional System Revolving Credit Notes.......................................................... 53
Section 14.03 Bank Consent ........................................................................................................ 53

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

99



TABLE OF CONTENTS (continued)

Page

v

ARTICLE XV 
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 15.01 Severability .......................................................................................................... 53
Section 15.02 Amendments to this Bank Note Resolution.......................................................... 53
Section 15.03 Effect of this Resolution; Effective Date .............................................................. 53

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

100



WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of Article 21 of the Charter of the City of 
Jacksonville, Florida (the “City”), as amended and readopted by Chapter 80-515, Laws of 
Florida, Special Acts of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-341, Laws of Florida, 
Special Acts of 1992 and as thereafter amended in accordance with the terms thereof prior to the 
date hereof (the “Act”), JEA is authorized, among other things, to borrow money from lending 
institutions, including borrowing as part of a commercial paper or other short-term note 
financing program which may include provisions for payment upon demand by the purchaser or 
purchasers, as authorized by resolution of JEA;

WHEREAS, it is hereby determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best 
financial interests of JEA that JEA establish a revolving credit facility with one or more banks or 
financial institutions in order to provide JEA with a mechanism for obtaining funds for working 
capital purposes and short-term or interim financing for capital projects for its Electric System, 
its Water and Sewer System, its District Energy System, its St. Johns River Power Park System, 
its BPSS Projects and such other utility systems as may hereafter be established by JEA (such 
terms, and all other capitalized terms used in these recitals without definition, having the 
respective meanings ascribed thereto in Section 1.02 hereof) from time to time, and that the 
proper officers of JEA be authorized to borrow thereunder from time to time;

WHEREAS, it is hereby determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best 
financial interests of JEA that (i) JEA’s obligation to repay any such borrowings made in respect 
of the Electric System, and interest thereon, be secured by a subordinate lien on the Revenues (as 
defined in the Electric System Resolution) of the Electric System in the manner provided herein,  
(ii) JEA’s obligation to repay any such borrowings made in respect of the Water and Sewer 
System, and interest thereon, be secured by a subordinate lien on the amounts on deposit in the 
Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund in the manner provided herein, (iii) 
JEA’s obligation to repay any such borrowings made in respect of the District Energy System, 
and interest thereon, be secured by a subordinate lien on Revenues (as defined in the District 
Energy System Resolution) of the District Energy System in the manner provided herein and that 
JEA’s obligations to repay any such borrowings, and the interest thereon, be additionally payable 
from Available Water and Sewer System Revenues in the manner provided herein; (iv) JEA’s 
obligation to repay any such borrowings made in respect of the St. Johns River Power Park 
System, and interest thereon, be secured by the moneys on deposit in the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund in the manner provided herein, and (v) JEA’s 
obligation to repay any such borrowings made in respect of the Bulk Power Supply System, and
interest thereon, be secured by the moneys on deposit in the Bulk Power Supply System 
Subordinated Indebtedness Fund in the manner provided herein;

WHEREAS, it is hereby determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best 
financial interests of JEA that borrowing under such revolving credit facility be available for 
obtaining funds for working capital purposes and short-term or interim financing for capital 
projects for any additional utility system which may hereafter be established by JEA and that 
JEA increase the total amount that can be borrowed under the revolving lines of credit to 
$300,000,000 and that the proper officers of JEA be authorized to borrow thereunder from time 
to time;

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

101



- 2 -

WHEREAS, in order to accomplish the foregoing, it is hereby determined that it is 
necessary and required that JEA adopt this Amended and Restated Bank Note Resolution (the 
“Bank Note Resolution”); and

WHEREAS, JEA desires to authorize the proper officers of JEA to take all necessary 
steps to give effect to the transactions contemplated by this Bank Note Resolution;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY JEA AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS AND AUTHORITY

Section 1.01 Authority for this Bank Note Resolution. This Bank Note Resolution is 
adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Act.  The provisions of this Bank Note Resolution 
relating to the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes supplement the Electric System 
Resolution. The provisions of this Bank Note Resolution relating to the Water and Sewer 
System Revolving Credit Notes supplement the Water and Sewer System Resolution.  The 
provisions of this Bank Note Resolution relating to the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes supplement the District Energy System Resolution.  The provisions of this Bank Note 
Resolution relating to the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes 
supplement the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution. The 
provisions of this Bank Note Resolution relating to the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes supplement the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution.

Section 1.02 Definitions.  (a) Except as provided by this Bank Note Resolution, all 
terms which are defined in (i) Section 2 of the Electric System Resolution shall have the same 
meanings, respectively, herein as such terms are given in said Section 2 of the Electric System 
Resolution, (ii) all terms which are defined in Section 101 of the Water and Sewer System 
Resolution shall have the same meanings, respectively, herein as such terms are given in said 
Section 101 of the Water and Sewer System Resolution, (iii) Section 101 of the District Energy 
System Resolution shall have the same meanings, respectively, herein as such terms are given in 
said Section 101 of the District Energy System Resolution, (iv) Section 101 of the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution shall have the same meanings, 
respectively, herein as such terms are given in said Section 101 of the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution and (v) Section 101 of the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revenue Bond Resolution shall have the same meanings, respectively, herein as such 
terms are given in said Section 101 of the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution. 

In addition, terms defined in Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement shall have the same 
meanings, respectively, herein as such terms are given in said Section 1.01 of the Credit 
Agreement.

(b) In this Bank Note Resolution, the following terms shall have the indicated 
meanings:

“Additional Obligations” shall have the meaning given such term in the Water and Sewer 
System Resolution.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

102



- 3 -

“Additional Parity Obligations” shall have the meaning given such term in the Electric 
System Resolution.

“Additional System” shall mean such additional utility system as may hereafter be 
established by JEA, separate and apart from the Electric System, the Water and Sewer System, 
the District Energy System, the St. Johns River Power Park System or the Bulk Power Supply 
System. 

“Additional System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and delivered pursuant to 
the Additional System Resolution and all additional obligations payable on a parity therewith 
issued in accordance with the terms of the Additional System Resolution.

“Additional System Net Revenues” shall mean the net revenues of the Additional 
System, determined as shall be provided in the Additional System Resolution.

“Additional System Resolution” shall mean such resolution as shall be adopted by JEA 
authorizing the issuance of the obligations payable from the revenues or net revenues of an 
Additional System, as the same may be amended and supplemented in accordance with the 
provisions thereof.

“Additional System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the Additional System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note or Notes authorized to be issued pursuant to an 
Additional System Supplemental Resolution.

“Additional System Supplemental Resolution” means a resolution supplemental to this 
Bank Note Resolution adopted pursuant to Article XIV of this Bank Note Resolution authorizing 
borrowings under the Credit Agreement for obtaining funds for working capital purposes and 
short-term or interim financing for capital projects for the Additional System referred to in such 
supplemental resolution and authorizing the issuance of Additional System Revolving Credit 
Notes to evidence such borrowings.

“Authorized Officer” shall mean (1) the Chair, the Vice Chair, the Secretary or any 
Assistant Secretary of JEA, (2) the Managing Director/CEO, the Vice President and General 
Manager, Electric Systems (with respect to the Electric System, the St. Johns River Power Park 
System and the Bulk Power Supply System), the Vice President and General Manager, Water 
and Sewer Systems (with respect to the Water and Sewer and the District Energy System), the 
Chief Financial Officer and the Treasurer of JEA (or any officer of JEA hereafter serving in a 
capacity equivalent to that of any of the foregoing officers) or (3) any other officer or employee 
of JEA authorized to perform specific acts or duties by resolution duly adopted by JEA.

“Available Water and Sewer System Revenues” shall mean amounts on deposit in the  
Revenue Fund (as defined in the Water and Sewer System Resolution) established pursuant to 
subsection 1 of Section 502 of the Water and Sewer System Resolution and available for use by 
JEA in accordance with the provisions of subsection 2 of Section 507 of the Water and Sewer 
System Resolution.

“Bank” shall mean any bank or financial institution (and its successors and assigns) with 
which JEA enters into a Credit Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

103



- 4 -

“Bank Note Resolution” shall mean this Amended and Restated Bank Note Resolution 
which amends and restates a resolution of JEA adopted on August 19, 2003 entitled “A 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY BY JEA OF A 
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH SUNTRUST BANK AND AUTHORIZING 
BORROWINGS THEREUNDER OF NOT EXCEEDING $50,000,000 OUTSTANDING 
FROM TIME TO TIME, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING JEA WITH WORKING 
CAPITAL AND SHORT-TERM OR INTERIM FINANCING FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FOR 
THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM, THE WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM AND SUCH OTHER 
UTILITY SYSTEMS AS MAY HEREAFTER BE ESTABLISHED BY JEA; AUTHORIZING 
THE ISSUANCE OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK 
NOTES, SERIES 2 AND WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, SERIES 2 OF JEA FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
EVIDENCING JEA’S OBLIGATION TO REPAY AMOUNTS BORROWED UNDER SUCH 
CREDIT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM AND THE WATER 
AND SEWER SYSTEM, RESPECTIVELY; DETERMINING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
SECURITY THEREFOR; AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICERS OF JEA TO DO ALL 
OTHER THINGS DEEMED NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH 
BORROWINGS UNDER SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE ISSUANCE OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE”, as amended and supplemented to the date hereof, and as may be further 
amended and supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof.

“BPSS Projects” shall have the same meaning as the term “Project” is defined in the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution.

“Bulk Power Supply System” shall mean JEA’s Bulk Power Supply System and shall 
have the same meaning as the term “System” as defined in the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revenue Bond Resolution.

“Bulk Power Supply System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and delivered 
pursuant to the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution, other than Bulk Power 
Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness.

“Bulk Power Supply System Net Revenues” shall mean the Net Revenues (as defined in 
the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution).

“Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA 
entitled “Restated and Amended Bulk Power Supply System Reserve Bond Resolution” adopted 
September 18, 2007, authorizing the issuance of the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bonds, 
as the same has been or hereafter may be amended, restated and supplemented in accordance 
with the provisions thereof.

“Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X and the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X of JEA authorized to be issued 
pursuant to Article XI of this Bank Note Resolution.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

104



- 5 -

“Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean the Subordinated 
Indebtedness of the Bulk Power Supply System issued under (and as defined in) the Bulk Power 
Supply System Resolution.

“Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund” shall mean the 
Subordinated Indebtedness Fund established in subsection 1(d) of Section 502 of the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution.

“Bulk Power Supply System Supplemental Resolution” shall mean the Bulk Power 
Supply System Supplemental Resolution adopted by JEA on February 19, 2008 which 
supplemental resolution was adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Act and Article VIII of the 
Original Bank Note Resolution.

“Credit Agreement” shall mean a Credit Agreement authorized by JEA pursuant to 
Section 2.01 of this Bank Note Resolution and entered into between JEA and a Bank, as 
amended from time to time.

“Designee” shall mean an officer or employee of JEA authorized by written instrument of 
an Authorized Officer of JEA to make borrowings or take such other actions under the Credit 
Agreement on behalf of such Authorized Officer in accordance with the provisions hereof.

“District Energy System” shall mean JEA’s District Energy System and shall have the 
same meaning as the term “System” as defined in the District Energy System Resolution.

“District Energy System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and delivered 
pursuant to the District Energy System Resolution, other than District Energy System 
Subordinated Indebtedness.

“District Energy System Net Revenues” shall mean the Net Revenues (as defined in the 
District Energy System Resolution) of the District Energy System.

“District Energy System Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA adopted June 15, 
2004, authorizing the issuance of the District Energy System Bonds, as the same has been or 
hereafter may be amended, restated and supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof.

“District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X and the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X of JEA authorized to be issued pursuant 
to Article VII of this Bank Note Resolution.

“District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean the Subordinated 
Indebtedness issued under (and as defined in) the District Energy System Resolution.

“District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund” shall mean the Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund established in Section 502.1(4) of the District Energy System Resolution.

“District Energy System Supplemental Resolution” means the District Energy System 
Supplemental Resolution adopted by JEA on August 15, 2006 which supplemental resolution 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

105



- 6 -

was adopted pursuant to the provisions of the Act and Article VIII of the Original Bank Note 
Resolution.

“Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Bank’s commitment under a Credit 
Agreement shall become effective in accordance with the terms of a Credit Agreement.

“Electric System” shall mean JEA’s Electric System and shall have the same meaning as 
the term “Electric System” as defined in the Electric System Resolution

“Electric System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and delivered pursuant to the 
Electric System Resolution and all Additional Parity Obligations issued in accordance with the 
terms of the Electric System Resolution.

“Electric System Net Revenues” shall mean the Net Revenues (as defined in the Electric 
System Resolution) of the Electric System.

“Electric System Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA adopted March 30, 1982 
authorizing the issuance of the Electric System Bonds, as the same has been or hereafter may be 
amended and supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof.

“Electric System Revenue Fund” shall mean the Revenue Fund as defined in the Electric 
System Resolution.

“Electric System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X and the Electric System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X of JEA authorized to be issued pursuant to Article III of 
this Bank Note Resolution.

“Electric System Subordinated Bonds” shall mean Subordinated Bonds issued under 
subsection K of Section 13 of the Electric System Resolution.

“Electric System Subordinated Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA adopted 
August 16, 1988 authorizing the issuance of Electric System Subordinated Bonds, as the same 
has been or hereafter may be amended, restated and supplemented in accordance with the 
provisions thereof.

“Fiscal Year” shall have the meaning given such term in the Electric System Resolution, 
the Water and Sewer System Resolution, the District Energy System Resolution, St. Johns River 
Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution or the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revenue Bond Resolution, as applicable.

“Original Bank Note Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA entitled “A 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY BY JEA OF A 
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH SUNTRUST BANK AND AUTHORIZING 
BORROWINGS THEREUNDER OF NOT EXCEEDING $50,000,000 OUTSTANDING 
FROM TIME TO TIME, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING JEA WITH WORKING 
CAPITAL AND SHORT-TERM OR INTERIM FINANCING FOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FOR 
THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM, THE WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM AND SUCH OTHER 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

106



- 7 -

UTILITY SYSTEMS AS MAY HEREAFTER BE ESTABLISHED BY JEA; AUTHORIZING 
THE ISSUANCE OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK 
NOTES, SERIES 2 AND WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT 
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES, SERIES 2 OF JEA FOR THE PURPOSE OF 
EVIDENCING JEA’S OBLIGATION TO REPAY AMOUNTS BORROWED UNDER SUCH 
CREDIT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE ELECTRIC SYSTEM AND THE WATER 
AND SEWER SYSTEM, RESPECTIVELY; DETERMINING CERTAIN DETAILS OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
SECURITY THEREFOR; AUTHORIZING THE PROPER OFFICERS OF JEA TO DO ALL 
OTHER THINGS DEEMED NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE IN CONNECTION WITH 
BORROWINGS UNDER SUCH CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE ISSUANCE OF SAID 
REVOLVING CREDIT SUBORDINATED BANK NOTES; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE,” dated August 19, 2003.

“Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations” shall mean any Subordinated 
Indebtedness hereafter issued under (and as defined in) the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue 
Bond Resolution and designated by JEA as Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations.

“Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated Obligations” shall mean any 
Subordinated Indebtedness hereafter issued under (and as defined in) the District Energy System 
Resolution and designated by JEA as Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated 
Obligations.

“Prior Lien Electric System Subordinated Bonds” shall mean the Subordinated Bonds 
issued under (and as defined in) the Electric System Subordinated Resolution.

“Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Obligations” shall mean 
any Subordinated Indebtedness hereafter issued under (and as defined in) the St. Johns River 
Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution and designated by JEA as Prior Lien 
St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Obligations.

“Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated Obligations” shall mean the 
Subordinated Bonds issued under (and as defined in) the Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Resolution and the Water and Sewer System Parity Subordinated Indebtedness.

“Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Notes, and, if hereafter authorized by a supplemental resolution 
adopted pursuant to Article XIV of this Bank Note Resolution, the Additional System Revolving 
Credit Notes.

“St. Johns River Power Park System” shall mean JEA’s St. Johns River Power Park 
System and shall have the same meaning as the term “System” as defined in the St. Johns River 
Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

107



- 8 -

“St Johns River Power Park System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and 
delivered pursuant to the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution, 
other than St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Indebtedness.

“St. Johns River Power Park System Net Revenues” shall mean the Net Revenues (as 
defined in the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution) of the 
St. Johns River Power Park System.

“St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X and the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X of 
JEA authorized to be issued pursuant to Article IX of this Bank Note Resolution.

“St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution” shall mean the 
resolution of JEA adopted February 20, 2007, authorizing the issuance of the St. Johns River 
Power Park System Bonds, as the same has been or hereafter may be amended, restated and 
supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof.

“St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean the 
Subordinated Indebtedness issued under (and as defined in) the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Resolution.

“St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund” shall mean the 
Subordinated Indebtedness Fund established in subsection 1(d) of Section 502 of the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System” shall mean JEA’s Water and Sewer System and shall have the 
same meaning as the term “System” as defined in the Water and Sewer System Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes” shall mean the Water and Sewer 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X and the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X of JEA authorized to be issued pursuant 
to Article V of this Bank Note Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System Subordinated Revenue Bonds” shall mean all bonds 
authenticated and delivered pursuant to the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean Subordinated 
Indebtedness as (as defined in the Water and Sewer System Resolution) of the Water and Sewer 
System.

“Water and Sewer System Net Revenues” shall mean the Net Revenues (as defined in the 
Water and Sewer System Resolution) of the Water and Sewer System.

“Water and Sewer System Parity Subordinated Indebtedness” shall mean Existing Parity 
Subordinated Indebtedness and Additional Parity Subordinated Indebtedness (each as defined in 
the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution).

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

108



- 9 -

“Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund” shall mean the Subordinated
Indebtedness Fund established under the Water and Sewer System Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System Bonds” shall mean all bonds authenticated and delivered 
pursuant to the Water and Sewer System Resolution, and all Additional Obligations issued in 
accordance with the terms of the Water and Sewer System Resolution.

“Water and Sewer System Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA adopted 
January 17, 1997 authorizing the issuance of the Water and Sewer System Bonds, as the same 
has been or hereafter may be amended, restated and supplemented in accordance with the 
provisions thereof.

“Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution” shall mean the resolution of JEA 
adopted May 15, 2003 authorizing the issuance of Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Revenue Bonds, as the same has been or hereafter may be amended and supplemented in 
accordance with the provisions thereof.

Section 1.03 Bank Note Resolution to Constitute Contract.  In consideration of the 
execution and delivery by the Bank of the Credit Agreement, this Bank Note Resolution shall be 
deemed to be and shall constitute a contract between JEA and the Bank; and the pledges made in 
this Bank Note Resolution and the covenants and agreements set forth in this Bank Note 
Resolution to be performed on behalf of JEA shall be for the benefit, protection and security of 
the Bank.

ARTICLE II

AUTHORIZATION AND APPROVAL OF CREDIT AGREEMENT

Section 2.01 Authorization and Approval of Credit Agreement.   JEA hereby 
approves, in substantially the form of that Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September 9, 
2013, between JEA and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, LTD., acting through its New York 
Branch (the “Bank of Tokyo Revolving Credit Agreement”), the form of Credit Agreement and 
authorizes the officers of JEA hereinafter authorized pursuant to Section 2.03 hereof, and each of 
them, to execute and deliver one or more Credit Agreements on behalf of JEA, subject to 
completion thereof, and with such changes therein as the officer executing the same may approve 
as necessary or desirable and in the best interests of JEA, such approval and acceptance to be 
evidenced conclusively by the execution and delivery of such agreement by such officer.

Section 2.02 Authorization to Borrow Pursuant to the Credit Agreement.  Each 
Authorized Officer of JEA (and any Designee thereof) is hereby authorized to perform JEA’s 
obligations under the Credit Agreement, including borrowing and repaying and reborrowing and 
repaying of loans (and, in the case of any repayment, the payment of accrued interest thereon) 
pursuant to the Credit Agreement for the purpose of obtaining working capital and short-term or 
interim financing for capital projects for the Electric System, the Water and Sewer System, the 
District Energy System, the St. Johns River Power Park System, the BPSS Projects, and, if so 
authorized by one or more Additional System Supplemental Resolutions, for Additional 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

109



- 10 -

Systems, provided that the aggregate principal amount of such loans outstanding at any time 
shall not exceed $300,000,000.

Section 2.03 Officers Authorized to Execute and Deliver Credit Agreement.  The 
Chair, Vice-Chair, Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Financial Officer 
are hereby authorized to execute the Credit Agreement on behalf of JEA, subject to completion 
thereof, and with such changes therein as such officer may approve as necessary and desirable 
and in the best interest of JEA, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and 
delivery thereof.  The form of each such Credit Agreement shall be approved by the Office of 
General Counsel of the City prior to the execution thereof by the Chair, Vice-Chair, Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer, as applicable.

Section 2.04 Authorization to Select One or More Banks or Financial Institutions.
The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer or his Designee is hereby authorized to 
select one or more banks or financial institutions from among the banks and financial institutions 
that submit a response to a request for information, request for proposal or competitive bid 
request distributed by or on behalf of JEA in accordance with JEA’s then current procurement 
code; such selection shall be based upon a review of the proposed pricing levels, the proposed 
commitment amount, the proposed terms and conditions and the current ratings of each bank or 
financial institution. Alternatively, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer or his 
Designee is additionally hereby authorized, if considered by the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer to be in the best interest of JEA and upon the written recommendation of 
JEA’s financial advisor, to negotiate the terms of a Credit Agreement with one or more banks or 
financial institutions in accordance with JEA’s then current procurement code.  Such selection or 
negotiation shall be evidenced by the execution and delivery of the Credit Agreement or 
Agreements as provided in Section 2.03 hereof and the Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer may rely on a certificate from JEA’s financial advisor that the terms of such Credit 
Agreement or Agreements are necessary or desirable and advantageous to JEA, are in 
commercially reasonable form and reflect current market terms and conditions and, in the case of 
a negotiation, a recommendation to negotiate the terms of such Credit Agreement or Agreements 
with such bank(s) or financial institution(s).

Section 2.05 Authorization to Extend the Term or Renew the Credit Agreement; 
Authorization to Amend the Credit Agreement; Authorization to Procure a Credit 
Agreement in Substitution for an existing Credit Agreement.

(a) The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or his Designee is 
hereby authorized, from time to time, to extend or renew the term of the Credit Agreement, upon
such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer of JEA or such Designee to be advantageous to JEA and commercially reasonable (which 
terms and conditions (including, without limitation, the amounts of the “commitment fee” and 
other fees payable by JEA thereunder and the specification of the interest rates payable on loans 
or advances thereunder) may differ from the terms and conditions then in effect pursuant to the 
Credit Agreement then in effect), such determination to be confirmed in writing by the firm 
serving at that time as JEA’s financial advisor to the extent provided below.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

110



- 11 -

In connection with any such extension or renewal of the term of the Credit Agreement, 
the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or his Designee is hereby further 
authorized to execute and deliver, on behalf of JEA, such documents and instruments (including, 
without limitation, an amendment to such Credit Agreement) as shall be determined by the 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee to be (a) necessary or 
desirable and advantageous to JEA and (b) in commercially reasonable form; provided, however, 
that if any such extension shall be on terms and conditions different from the terms and 
conditions of the Credit Agreement as then in effect, then (x) such determination of the 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee shall be confirmed in 
writing by the firm serving at that time as JEA’s financial advisor and (y) the form of each such 
document or instrument shall be approved by the Office of General Counsel of the City prior to 
the execution thereof by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such 
Designee.

(b) The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or his Designee is 
hereby authorized, from time to time, to amend the Credit Agreement, upon such terms and 
conditions as shall be determined by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA 
or such Designee to be advantageous to JEA and commercially reasonable (which terms and 
conditions (including, without limitation, the amounts of the “commitment fee” and other fees 
payable by JEA thereunder and the specification of the interest rates payable on loans or 
advances thereunder) may differ from the terms and conditions then in effect pursuant to such 
Credit Agreement then in effect), such determination to be confirmed in writing by the firm 
serving at that time as JEA’s financial advisor to the extent provided below.

In connection with any such amendment to a Credit Agreement then in effect with respect 
thereto, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or his Designee is hereby 
further authorized to execute and deliver, on behalf of JEA, such documents and instruments to 
amend the terms of the particular Credit Agreement as shall be determined by the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee to be (a) necessary or desirable 
and advantageous to JEA and (b) in commercially reasonable form, such determination to be 
confirmed in writing by the firm serving at that time as JEA’s financial advisor; provided, 
however, that the form of each such document or instrument shall be approved by the Office of 
General Counsel of the City prior to the execution thereof by the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee.

(c) The Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or his Designee is 
hereby authorized, from time to time, to procure a Credit Agreement in substitution of an 
existing Credit Agreement, upon such terms and conditions as shall be determined by the 
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee to be advantageous to 
JEA and commercially reasonable (which terms and conditions (including, without limitation, 
the amounts of the “commitment fee” and other fees payable by JEA thereunder and the 
specification of the interest rates payable on loans or advances thereunder) may differ from the 
terms and conditions then in effect pursuant to such Credit Agreement then in effect), such 
determination to be confirmed in writing by the firm serving at that time as JEA’s financial 
advisor to the extent provided below.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

111



- 12 -

In connection with any such procurement of a Credit Agreement in substitution of an 
existing Credit Agreement then in effect, the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of 
JEA or his Designee is hereby further authorized to execute and deliver, on behalf of JEA, such 
documents and instruments (including, without limitation, a Credit Agreement) as shall be 
determined by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee to 
be (a) necessary or desirable and advantageous to JEA and (b) in commercially reasonable form, 
such determination to be confirmed in writing by the firm serving at that time as JEA’s financial 
advisor; provided, however, that the form of each such document or instrument shall be approved 
by the Office of General Counsel of the City prior to the execution thereof by the Managing 
Director and Chief Executive Officer of JEA or such Designee and provided further that the 
procedures utilized in connection with any such procurement shall be consistent with the 
applicable requirements of JEA’s procurement code then in effect.

(d) The terms of the renewal, extension, amendment or substitution of a Credit 
Agreement as specified in clauses (a), (b) and (c) above shall not change the terms of Section 
2.02 hereof.

Section 2.06 Further Actions.  Each Authorized Officer of JEA is hereby authorized 
and empowered to execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered such documents, 
instruments, papers and opinions and to do all such other acts and things as may be necessary or 
desirable in connection with the adoption of this resolution and the approval, execution and 
delivery of the Credit Agreement and the Revolving Credit Notes.  In the absence of the 
Managing Director/CEO of JEA for any reason, the authority granted to him in this resolution is
hereby delegated to the Chair of JEA’s governing board and the Chair of the Finance and Audit 
Committee of JEA’s governing board, in that order.

ARTICLE III

AUTHORIZATION OF ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 3.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.  (a) In 
accordance with the provisions of the Electric System Resolution, an issue of indebtedness of 
JEA is hereby authorized in a maximum aggregate principal amount outstanding at any one time 
of up to $300,000,000.  Such indebtedness shall be designated as, and shall be distinguished 
from all other indebtedness of JEA by the title, “Electric System Revolving Credit Subordinated 
Bank Note, Series X” and shall be further designated as the “Electric System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X,” which shall evidence Taxable Loans relating to the 
Electric System, and as the “Electric System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series 
TE-X,” which shall evidence Tax-exempt Loans relating to the Electric System; provided, that 
the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer also may alter the designation of the Electric 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes as he deems appropriate to reflect the 
designation of Revolving Credit Notes previously issued and JEA’s custom in identifying 
Revolving Credit Notes or as he otherwise deems desirable, such determination to be set forth in 
the Credit Agreement relating to the Revolving Credit Notes.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

112



- 13 -

(b) The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall be payable, with respect to 
interest and principal, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the time 
of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Section 3.02 Purpose.  The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes are authorized for 
the purpose of evidencing JEA’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under the Credit 
Agreement for the Electric System, and interest thereon.

Section 3.03 Execution and Delivery of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes.  
(a) On or before the Effective Date, JEA shall execute, authenticate and deliver to the Bank the 
Electric System Revolving Credit Notes as hereinafter in this Section provided.  The Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes shall be in fully registered form, without coupons, and shall be 
dated the date of its execution and delivery.  The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall 
have a stated maximum aggregate principal amount equal to $300,000,000, provided that the 
amount outstanding thereunder shall not be greater than $300,000,000 less the amount then 
outstanding under the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy 
System Revolving Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, 
Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any Additional System Revolving 
Credit Notes.

(b) The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall be executed in the name of JEA 
by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair or Vice-Chair, and its corporate seal (or a 
facsimile thereof) shall be impressed, imprinted, engraved or otherwise reproduced thereon and 
attested by the manual signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of JEA, or in such other 
manner as may be required or permitted by law.  In case any one or more of the officers who 
shall have signed or sealed the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall cease to be such 
officer before the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall have been authenticated and 
delivered, the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes may, nevertheless, be authenticated and 
delivered as herein provided, and may be issued as if the persons who signed or sealed the 
Electric System Revolving Credit Notes had not ceased to hold such offices.  The Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes may be signed and sealed on behalf of JEA by such persons as at 
the time of the execution of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall be duly authorized 
or hold the proper office in JEA, although at the date borne by the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes such persons may not have been so authorized or have held such office.

Section 3.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Electric System Revolving Credit 
Notes, Interest on Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, Payment of Electric System 
Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for Payment.  (a) The principal amount 
outstanding with respect to the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes at any time shall equal 
the amount borrowed by JEA under the Credit Agreement with respect to the Electric System, 
less any prior principal repayments thereof.

(b) The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall bear interest during the same 
periods and at the same rates as are applicable to the respective loans evidenced by the Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, 
determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

113



- 14 -

(c) The principal of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, and interest thereon, 
shalt be payable (and prepayable) at the same times and in the same amounts as are applicable to 
the respective loans evidenced by the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank 
under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(d) As provided in the Credit Agreement, and subject to the conditions and 
limitations set forth therein, the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes may be tendered (or 
deemed tendered) for payment by JEA prior to the due date of the outstanding principal amount 
thereof, whereupon JEA shall be obligated to pay the outstanding principal amount of the 
Electric System Revolving Credit Notes (together with accrued interest thereon) so tendered (or 
deemed tendered) without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which 
are hereby waived by JEA.  The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes immediately shall be 
due and payable upon its becoming subject to payment by JEA pursuant to this Section.

Section 3.05 Form of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule of 
Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule.  (a) The Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes, including the schedule of loans and repayments attached thereto, shall be 
substantially in the form set forth in Section 13.01 hereof with such appropriate variations, 
omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Bank Note Resolution or the Credit 
Agreement.

(b) The Bank is authorized to record on the schedule of loans and repayments 
attached to the respective Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, or a continuation thereof, 
each loan made by the Bank to JEA for the Electric System evidenced thereby, the respective 
dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal thereof and, prior 
to any transfer thereof, appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing information shall be 
endorsed by the Bank on such schedule, or a continuation thereof; provided, however, that the 
failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error therein shall not 
affect the obligations of JEA under the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes or under the 
Credit Agreement.

Section 3.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes.  (a) Except as hereinafter provided in this Section, the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall not be transferable by the holder thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section, the holder of the 
Electric System Revolving Credit Notes may assign its rights with respect to the Electric System 
Revolving Credit Notes and its commitment under the Credit Agreement in accordance with the 
provisions of the Credit Agreement.  Upon such assignment, and upon presentation and 
surrender of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, JEA shall execute and deliver to the 
appropriate person(s), in substitution for the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes so 
surrendered, one or more Electric System Revolving Credit Notes in an aggregate principal 
amount equal to the principal amount of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes so 
surrendered, so as to give effect to such assignment.

ARTICLE IV

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

114



- 15 -

SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY
FOR ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 4.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes.  (a) There is hereby pledged for the payment of the principal of, and interest on, 
the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes in accordance with the terms and provisions of this 
Bank Note Resolution, the Electric System Resolution and the Credit Agreement the amounts on 
deposit in the Revenue Fund (as defined in the Electric System Resolution) as may from time to 
time be available therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof; provided, however, that 
such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the Electric System Bonds and the 
Prior Lien Electric System Subordinated Bonds as to lien on and source and security for payment 
from the Revenues.

(b) Such amounts on deposit in the Electric System Revenue Fund shall immediately 
be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the 
lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any kind in 
tort, contract or otherwise against JEA, irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 13(K) of the Electric System 
Resolution, the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to be, and 
are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable from and secured by a lien on the Revenues (as 
defined in the Electric System Resolution) junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien 
thereon and pledge thereof in favor of the Electric System Bonds.  In addition, the Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes shall be and be deemed to be, and shall constitute, “Subordinated 
Bonds” within the meaning of such term contained in the Electric System Resolution.

(d) The Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be or constitute a general 
obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a “bond” within the meaning of the Constitution 
of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a lien upon and a pledge of the 
amounts as herein provided.  No holder of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall ever 
have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the City or JEA, if any, 
or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes or interest thereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided herein.

Section 4.02 Payment of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes.  Subject to 
(i) the prior payments from the Electric System Revenue Fund as required by clauses (1), (2) and 
(3) of Section 13B of the Electric System Resolution and (ii) the prior payment of all amounts 
due with respect to the Prior Lien Electric System Subordinated Bonds, amounts on deposit in 
the Electric System Revenue Fund and available therefor shall be applied to the payment of the 
principal of, and interest on, the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes when due.

Section 4.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit 
JEA’s ability to issue Additional Parity Obligations and additional Prior Lien Electric System 
Subordinated Bonds payable prior to the payment of the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, 
nor to issue additional Electric System Subordinated Bonds payable on a parity with the Electric 
System Revolving Credit Notes, and JEA hereby reserves the right to issue such Additional 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

115



- 16 -

Parity Obligations, such additional Prior Lien Electric System Subordinated Bonds and such 
additional Electric System Subordinated Bonds.

Section 4.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Electric System Revolving Credit 
Notes.  JEA covenants to fix, establish, revise from time to time whenever necessary, maintain 
and collect always such fees, rates, rentals and other charges for the use or the sale of the 
products, services and facilities of the Electric System which will always provide Electric 
System Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year, together with other available funds, sufficient to make 
all payments required to be made in such Fiscal Year (i) by the Electric System Resolution and 
the Electric System Subordinated Resolution, and (ii) with respect to the Electric System 
Revolving Credit Notes, by this Bank Note Resolution.

ARTICLE V

AUTHORIZATION OF WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM
REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 5.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.  (a) In 
accordance with the provisions of the Water and Sewer System Resolution, an issue of 
indebtedness of JEA is hereby authorized in a maximum aggregate principal amount outstanding 
at any one time of up to $300,000,000.  Such indebtedness shall be designated as, and shall be 
distinguished from all other indebtedness of JEA by the title, “Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes, Series X” and shall be further designated as the 
“Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X” which shall 
evidence Taxable Loans relating to the Water and Sewer System and as the “Water and Sewer 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X” which shall evidence Tax-
exempt Loans relating to the Water and Sewer System; provided, that the Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer also may alter the designation of the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes as he deems appropriate to reflect the designation of 
Revolving Credit Notes previously issued and JEA’s custom in identifying Revolving Credit 
Notes or as he otherwise deems desirable, such determination to be set forth in the Credit 
Agreement relating to the Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be payable, with 
respect to interest and principal, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at 
the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Section 5.02 Purpose.  The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes are 
authorized for the purpose of evidencing JEA’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under the 
Credit Agreement for the Water and Sewer System, and interest thereon.

Section 5.03 Execution and Delivery of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Notes.  (a) On or before the Effective Date, JEA shall execute, authenticate and deliver to the 
Bank the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes as hereinafter in this 
Section provided.  The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be in fully 
registered form, without coupons, and shall be dated the date of its execution and delivery.  The 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall have a stated maximum aggregate 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

116



- 17 -

principal amount equal to $300,000,000, provided that the amount outstanding thereunder shall 
not be greater than $300,000,000 less the amount then outstanding under the Electric System 
Revolving Credit Notes, District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, St. Johns River Power 
Park System Revolving Credit Notes, Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and 
any Additional System Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be executed in the 
name of JEA by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair or Vice-Chair, and its corporate 
seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall be impressed, imprinted, engraved or otherwise reproduced 
thereon and attested by the manual signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of JEA, or in 
such other manner as may be required or permitted by law.  In case any one or more of the 
officers who shall have signed or sealed the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes 
shall cease to be such officer before the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall 
have been authenticated and delivered, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes 
may, nevertheless, be authenticated and delivered as herein provided, and may be issued as if the 
persons who signed or sealed the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes had not 
ceased to hold such offices.  The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes may be 
signed and sealed on behalf of JEA by such persons as at the time of the execution of the Water 
and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office in 
JEA, although at the date borne by the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes such 
persons may not have been so authorized or have held such office.

Section 5.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes, Interest on Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, Payment of 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for Payment.  

(a) The principal amount outstanding with respect to the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Notes at any time shall equal the amount borrowed by JEA under the Credit 
Agreement with respect to the Water and Sewer System, less any prior principal repayments 
thereof.

(b) The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall bear interest during 
the same periods and at the same rates as are applicable to the loans evidenced by the Water and 
Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement, determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(c) The principal of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, and 
interest thereon, shall be payable (and prepayable) at the same times and in the same amounts as 
are applicable to the respective loans evidenced by the Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, determined as 
provided in the Credit Agreement.

(d) As provided in the Credit Agreement, and subject to the conditions and 
limitations set forth therein, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes may be 
tendered (or deemed tendered) for payment by JEA prior to the due date of the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, whereupon JEA shall be obligated to pay the outstanding principal 
amount of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes (together with accrued interest 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

117



- 18 -

thereon) so tendered (or deemed tendered) without presentment, demand, protest or other notice 
of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by JEA.  The Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes immediately shall be due and payable upon its becoming subject to payment by 
JEA pursuant to this Section.

Section 5.05 Form of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes and 
Schedule of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule.  (a) The Water and Sewer 
System Revolving Credit Notes, including the schedule of loans and repayments attached 
thereto, shall be substantially in the form set forth in Section 13.02 hereof with such appropriate 
variations, omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Bank Note Resolution or 
the Credit Agreement.

(b) The Bank is authorized to record on the schedule of loans and repayments 
attached to the respective Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, or a continuation 
thereof, each loan made by the Bank to JEA for the Water and Sewer System evidenced thereby, 
the respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof and, prior to any transfer thereof, appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing 
information shall be endorsed by the Bank on such schedule, or a continuation thereof; provided, 
however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error 
therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA under the Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes or under the Credit Agreement.

Section 5.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) Except as hereinafter provided in this Section, the Water and 
Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be transferable by the holder thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section, the holder of the 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes may assign its rights with respect to the Water 
and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes and its commitment under the Credit Agreement in 
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement.  Upon such assignment, and upon 
presentation and surrender of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Note, JEA shall 
execute and deliver to the appropriate person(s), in substitution for the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Note so surrendered, one or more Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Water and Sewer
System Revolving Credit Notes so surrendered, so as to give effect to such assignment.

ARTICLE VI

SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY
FOR WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 6.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) There is hereby pledged for the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes in accordance with the terms 
and provisions of this Bank Note Resolution, the Water and Sewer System Resolution and the 
Credit Agreement, the amounts on deposit in the Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be available therefor, including the investments, if 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

118



- 19 -

any, thereof; provided, however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects 
to the Water and Sewer System Bonds and the Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Obligations as to lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate (as defined in the Water and Sewer 
System Resolution) created by the Water and Sewer System Resolution and as to lien on and 
pledge of amounts in the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund created by 
the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution.

(b) Such amounts on deposit in the Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical 
delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all 
parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against JEA, irrespective of 
whether such parties have notice thereof.

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 515 of the Water and Sewer System 
Resolution, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be, and shall be deemed 
to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable from and secured by a lien on the 
Trust Estate (as defined in the Water and Sewer System Resolution) junior and subordinate in all 
respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in favor of the Water and Sewer System Bonds.  
The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be and be deemed to be, and shall 
constitute, “Subordinated Bonds” within the meaning of such term contained in the Water and 
Sewer System Resolution.  In addition, in accordance with the provisions of Section 7.06 of the 
Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution, the Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations 
payable from and secured by a lien on amounts in the Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in 
favor of the Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated Obligations.

(d) The Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be or constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a “bond” within the meaning of the 
Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a lien upon and a pledge 
of the amounts as herein provided.  No holder of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the City 
or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay the Water and 
Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes or interest thereon or be entitled to payment of such 
principal and interest from any other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in 
the manner provided herein.

Section 6.02 Payment of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes.  
Subject to (a) the prior payments from the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness 
Fund as required by subsection 3 of Section 510 of the Water and Sewer System Resolution and 
(b) the prior payment of all amounts due with respect to the Prior Lien Water and Sewer System 
Subordinated Obligations, amounts on deposit in the Water and Sewer System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund and available therefor shall be applied to the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes when due.

Section 6.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit 
JEA’s ability to issue Additional Obligations under the Water and Sewer System Resolution and 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

119



- 20 -

additional Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated Obligations payable prior to the 
payment of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, nor to issue additional Water 
and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness payable on a parity with the Water and Sewer 
System Revolving Credit Notes, and JEA hereby reserves the right to issue such Additional 
Obligations, such additional Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated Obligations and
such additional Water and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness.

Section 6.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes.  JEA covenants to fix, establish, revise from time to time whenever necessary, 
maintain and collect always such fees, rates, rentals and other charges for the use or the sale of 
the products, services and facilities of the Water and Sewer System which will always provide 
Water and Sewer System Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year, together with other available funds, 
sufficient to make all payments required to be made in such Fiscal Year (i) by the Water and 
Sewer System Resolution and the Water and Sewer System Subordinated Resolution, and 
(ii) with respect to the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, by this Bank Note 
Resolution.

ARTICLE VII

AUTHORIZATION OF DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM
REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 7.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.  (a) In 
accordance with the provisions of the District Energy System Resolution, an issue of 
indebtedness of JEA is hereby authorized in a maximum aggregate principal amount outstanding 
at any one time of up to $300,000,000.  Such indebtedness shall be designated as, and shall be 
distinguished from all other indebtedness of JEA by the title, “District Energy System Revolving 
Credit Subordinated Bank Notes, Series X” and shall be further designated as the “District 
Energy System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes, Series T-X” which shall evidence 
Taxable Loans relating to the District Energy System and as the “District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X” which shall evidence Tax-exempt
Loans relating to the District Energy System; provided, that the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer also may alter the designation of the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Notes as he deems appropriate to reflect the designation of Revolving Credit 
Notes previously issued and JEA’s custom in identifying Revolving Credit Notes or as he 
otherwise deems desirable, such determination to be set forth in the Credit Agreement relating to 
the Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be payable, with respect 
to interest and principal, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at the 
time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Section 7.02 Purpose.  The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes are 
authorized for the purpose of evidencing JEA’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under the 
Credit Agreement for the District Energy System and interest thereon.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

120



- 21 -

Section 7.03 Execution and Delivery of District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes.  (a)  On or before the Effective Date, JEA shall execute, authenticate and deliver to the 
Bank the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes as hereinafter in this Section provided.  
The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be in fully registered form, without 
coupons, and shall be dated the date of its execution and delivery.  The District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes shall have a stated maximum aggregate principal amount equal to 
$300,000,000, provided that the amount outstanding thereunder shall not be greater than 
$300,000,000 less the amount then outstanding under the Electric System Revolving Credit 
Notes, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any 
other Additional System Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be executed in the name 
of JEA by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair or Vice-Chair, and its corporate seal (or 
a facsimile thereof) shall be impressed, imprinted, or otherwise reproduced thereon and attested 
by the manual signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of JEA, or in such other manner 
as may be required or permitted by law.  In case any one or more of the officers who shall have 
signed or sealed the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall cease to be such 
officer before the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall have been authenticated 
and delivered, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes may, nevertheless, be 
authenticated and delivered as herein provided, and may be issued as if the persons who signed 
or sealed the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes had not ceased to hold such offices.  
The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes may be signed and sealed on behalf of JEA 
by such persons as at the time of the execution of the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office in JEA, although at the date borne by the 
District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes such persons may not have been so authorized or 
have held such office.

Section 7.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of District Energy System Revolving 
Credit Notes, Interest on District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, _Payment of 
District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for Payment.

(a) The principal amount outstanding with respect to the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes at any time shall equal the amount borrowed by JEA under the Credit 
Agreement with respect to the District Energy System, less any prior principal repayments 
thereof.

(b) The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall bear interest during the 
same periods and at the same rates as are applicable to the loans evidenced by the District 
Energy System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit 
Agreement, determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(c) The principal of the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, and interest 
thereon, shall be payable (and prepayable) at the same times and in the same amounts as are 
applicable to the respective loans evidenced by the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, determined as provided in 
the Credit Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

121



- 22 -

(d) As provided in the Credit Agreement, and subject to the conditions and 
limitations set forth therein, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes may be tendered 
(or deemed tendered) for payment by JEA prior to the due date of the outstanding principal 
amount thereof, whereupon JEA shall be obligated to pay the outstanding principal amount of 
the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes (together with accrued interest thereon) so 
tendered (or deemed tendered) without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, 
all of which are hereby waived by JEA.  The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes 
immediately shall be due and payable upon its becoming subject to payment by JEA pursuant to 
this Section.

Section 7.05 Form of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes and Schedule 
of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule.  (a) The District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes, including the schedule of loans and repayments attached thereto, shall 
be substantially in the form set forth in Section 13.03 hereof with such appropriate variations, 
omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Bank Note Resolution or the Credit 
Agreement.

(b) The Bank is authorized to record on the schedule of loans and repayments 
attached to the respective District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, or a continuation 
thereof, each loan made by the Bank to JEA for the District Energy System evidenced thereby, 
the respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof and, prior to any transfer thereof, appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing 
information shall be endorsed by the Bank on such schedule, or a continuation thereof, provided, 
however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error 
therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA under the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes or under the Credit Agreement.

Section 7.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) Except as hereinafter provided in this Section, the District Energy 
System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be transferable by the holder thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section, the holder of the 
District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes may assign its rights with respect to the District 
Energy System Revolving Credit Notes and its commitment under the Credit Agreement in 
accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement.  Upon such assignment, and upon 
presentation and surrender of the District Energy System Revolving Credit Note, JEA shall 
execute and deliver to the appropriate person(s), in substitution for the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Note so surrendered, one or more District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the District Energy 
System Revolving Credit Notes so surrendered, so as to give effect to such assignment.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

122



- 23 -

ARTICLE VIII

SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY
FOR DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 8.01 Source of Payment and Security for the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) There is hereby pledged for the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes in accordance with the terms and 
provisions of this Bank Note Resolution, the District Energy System Resolution and the Credit 
Agreement, the amounts on deposit in the District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness 
Fund as may from time to time be available therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof 
provided, however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the District 
Energy System Bonds and to the Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated Obligations as 
to lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate (as defined in the District Energy System Resolution) 
created by the District Energy System Resolution.

(b) Such amounts on deposit in the District Energy System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical 
delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all 
parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against JEA, irrespective of 
whether such parties have notice thereof.

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 515 of the District Energy System 
Resolution, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to 
be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable from and secured by a lien on the Trust 
Estate (as defined in the District Energy System Resolution) junior and subordinate in all 
respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in favor of the District Energy System Bonds.  
The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be and be deemed to be, and shall 
constitute, “Subordinated Indebtedness” within the meaning of such term contained in the 
District Energy System Resolution.  In addition, in accordance with the provisions of Section 
515 of the District Energy System Resolution, the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable 
from and secured by a lien on amounts in the District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness 
Fund junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in favor of the 
Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated Obligations.

(d) The District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be or constitute a 
general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a “bond” within the meaning of the 
Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a lien upon and a pledge 
of the amounts as herein provided.  No holder of the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of the City 
or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay the District Energy 
System Revolving Credit Notes or interest thereon or be entitled to payment of such principal 
and interest from any other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner 
provided herein.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

123



- 24 -

Section 8.02 Payment of the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes.  
Subject to (a) the prior payments from the District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness 
Fund as required by subsection 3 of Section 510 of the District Energy System Resolution, and 
(b) the prior payment of all amounts due with respect to the Prior Lien District Energy System 
Subordinated Obligations, amounts on deposit in the District Energy System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund and available therefor shall be applied to the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes when due.

Section 8.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit 
JEA’s ability to issue additional District Energy System under the District Energy System 
Resolution and Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated Obligations payable prior to the 
payment of the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, nor to issue additional District 
Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness payable on a parity with the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes, and JEA hereby reserves the right to issue such additional Bonds, such 
additional Prior Lien District Energy System Subordinated Obligations and such additional 
District Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness.

Section 8.04 Rate Covenant with respect to District Energy System Revolving 
Credit Notes. JEA covenants and agrees to include the amount of any District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Note Deficiency (as defined in Section 8.05 below) in the amounts payable out 
of Revenues (as defined in the Water and Sewer System Resolution) for purposes of clause (f) of 
subsection 1 of Section 711, Rates, Fees and Charges, of the Water and Sewer System 
Resolution. 

Section 8.05 Covenant to Fund Payment on District Energy System Revolving 
Credit Notes. JEA shall, on each date upon which a payment is due under Section 7.04 hereof
on the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, apply Available Water and Sewer System 
Revenues, in an amount sufficient to cure any deficiency in amounts on deposit in the District 
Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund that exists with respect to the District Energy 
System Revolving Credit Notes (a “District Energy System Revolving Credit Note Deficiency”), 
to such payment.

Section 8.06 Certain Provisions of the District Energy System Resolution 
Excluded. Amounts due or to become due on the District Energy System Revolving Credit
Notes under Section 7.04 hereof shall be excluded from the calculation of rates, fees and charges 
for the District Energy System pursuant to Section 710 of the District Energy System Resolution.

ARTICLE IX

AUTHORIZATION OF ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM
REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 9.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.  (a) In 
accordance with the provisions of the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond 
Resolution, an issue of indebtedness of JEA is hereby authorized in a maximum aggregate 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

124



- 25 -

principal amount outstanding at any one time of up to $300,000,000.  Such indebtedness shall be 
designated as, and shall be distinguished from all other indebtedness of JEA by the title, 
“St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes, Series X” and 
shall be further designated as the “St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X” which shall evidence Taxable Loans relating to the 
St. Johns River Power Park System and as the “St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving 
Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X” which shall evidence Tax-exempt Loans relating 
to the St. Johns River Power Park System; provided, that the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer also may alter the designation of the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes as he deems appropriate to reflect the designation of 
Revolving Credit Notes previously issued and JEA’s custom in identifying Revolving Credit 
Notes or as he otherwise deems desirable, such determination to be set forth in the Credit 
Agreement relating to the Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall be payable, 
with respect to interest and principal, in any coin or currency of the United States of America 
which at the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Section 9.02 Purpose.  The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes 
are authorized for the purpose of evidencing JEA’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under 
the Credit Agreement for the St. Johns River Power Park System and interest thereon.

Section 9.03 Execution and Delivery of St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) On or before the Effective Date, JEA shall execute, authenticate 
and deliver to the Bank the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes as 
hereinafter in this Section provided.  The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall be in fully registered form, without coupons, and shall be dated the date of its 
execution and delivery.  The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall 
have a stated maximum aggregate principal amount equal to $300,000,000, provided that the 
amount outstanding thereunder shall not be greater than $300,000,000 less the amount then 
outstanding under the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the Water and Sewer System 
Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any other Additional System Revolving Credit 
Notes.

(b) The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall be executed 
in the name of JEA by the manual or facsimile signatures of its Chair or Vice-Chair, and its 
corporate seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall be impressed, imprinted, or otherwise reproduced 
thereon and attested by the manual signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of JEA, or in 
such other manner or as may be required or permitted by law.  In case any one or more of the 
officers who shall have signed or sealed the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall cease to be such officer before the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes shall have been authenticated and delivered, the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Revolving Credit Notes may, nevertheless, be authenticated and delivered as herein 
provided, and may be issued as if the persons who signed or sealed the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Revolving Credit Notes had not ceased to hold such offices.  The St. Johns River 
Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes may be signed and sealed on behalf of JEA by such 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

125



- 26 -

persons as at the time of the execution of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office in JEA, although at the date borne 
by the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes such persons may not have 
been so authorized or have held such office.

Section 9.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes, Interest on St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit 
Notes, Payment of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes and 
Optional Tender for Payment.  

(a) The principal amount outstanding with respect to the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes at any time shall equal the amount borrowed by JEA under the 
Credit Agreement with respect to the St. Johns River Power Park System, less any prior principal 
repayments thereof.

(b) The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall bear 
interest during the same periods and at the same rates as are applicable to the loans evidenced by 
the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and 
pursuant to the Credit Agreement, determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(c) The principal of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, 
and interest thereon, shall be payable (and prepayable) at the same times and in the same 
amounts as are applicable to the respective loans evidenced by the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, 
determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(d) As provided in the Credit Agreement, and subject to the conditions and 
limitations set forth therein, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes may 
be tendered (or deemed tendered) for payment by JEA prior to the due date of the outstanding 
principal amount thereof whereupon JEA shall be obligated to pay the outstanding principal 
amount of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes (together with accrued 
interest thereon) so tendered (or deemed tendered) without presentment, demand, protest or other 
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by JEA.  The St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes immediately shall be due and payable upon its becoming subject 
to payment by JEA pursuant to this Section.

Section 9.05 Form of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes 
and Schedule of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule.  (a) The St. Johns 
River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, including the schedule of loans and 
repayments attached thereto, shall be substantially in the form set forth in Section 13.04 hereof 
with such appropriate variations, omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this 
Bank Note Resolution or the Credit Agreement.

(b) The Bank is authorized to record on the schedule of loans and repayments 
attached to the respective St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, or a 
continuation thereof, each loan made by the Bank to JEA for the St. Johns River Power Park 
System evidenced thereby, the respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

126



- 27 -

repayments of the principal thereof and, prior to any transfer thereof, appropriate notations to 
evidence the foregoing information shall be endorsed by the Bank on such schedule, or a 
continuation thereof, provided, however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such 
recordation or endorsement or any error therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA under the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes or under the Credit Agreement.

Section 9.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) Except as hereinafter provided in this Section, the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be transferable by the 
holder thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section, the holder of the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes may assign its rights with respect to 
the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes and its commitment under the 
Credit Agreement in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement.  Upon such 
assignment, and upon presentation and surrender of the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Note, JEA shall execute and deliver to the appropriate person(s), in substitution 
for the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Note so surrendered, one or more 
St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes in an aggregate principal amount 
equal to the principal amount of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes 
so surrendered, so as to give effect to such assignment.

ARTICLE X

SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY FOR
ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 10.01 Source of Payment and Security for the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) There is hereby pledged for the payment of the principal 
of, and interest on, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes in accordance 
with the terms and provisions of this Bank Note Resolution, the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Second Revenue Bond Resolution and the Credit Agreement, the amounts on deposit in 
the St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to 
time be available therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof; provided, however, that 
such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Bonds and to the Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated 
Obligations as to lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate (as defined in the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution) created by the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Second Revenue Bond Resolution.

(b) Such amounts on deposit in the St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical 
delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all 
parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against JEA, irrespective of 
whether such parties have notice thereof.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

127



- 28 -

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 515 of the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution, the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, 
obligations payable from and secured by a lien on the Trust Estate (as defined in the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution) junior and subordinate in all 
respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in favor of the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Bonds.  The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall be and be deemed 
to be, and shall constitute Subordinated Indebtedness within the meaning of such term contained 
in the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution.  In addition, in 
accordance with the provisions of Section 515 of the St. Johns River Power Park System Second 
Revenue Bond Resolution, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall 
be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable from and 
secured by a lien on amounts in the St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in 
favor of the Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Obligations.

(d) The St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be or 
constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a “bond” within the 
meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a lien 
upon and a pledge of the amounts as herein provided.  No holder of the St. Johns River Power 
Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad 
valorem taxing power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in 
the City to pay the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes or interest 
thereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any other funds of the City 
or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided herein.

Section 10.02 Payment of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit 
Notes.  Subject to (a) the prior payments from the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as required by subsection 2 of Section 510 of the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution, and (b) the prior payment of all 
amounts due with respect to the Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated 
Obligations, amounts on deposit in the St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund and available therefor shall be applied to the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes when due.

Section 10.03 Issuance of Additional Debt.  Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit 
JEA’s ability to issue additional St. Johns River Power Park System Bonds under the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution and Prior Lien St. Johns River 
Power Park System Subordinated Obligations payable prior to the payment of the St. Johns River 
Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, nor to issue additional St. Johns River Power Park 
System Subordinated Indebtedness payable on a parity with the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes, and JEA hereby reserves the right to issue such additional St. 
Johns River Power Park System Bonds, such additional Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park 
System Subordinated Obligations and such additional St. Johns River Power Park System 
Subordinated Indebtedness.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

128



- 29 -

Section 10.04 Rate Covenant with respect to the St. Johns River Power Park 
System. JEA covenants to fix, establish, revise from time to time whenever necessary, maintain 
and collect always such fees, rates, rentals and other charges for the use or the sale of the 
products, services and facilities of the St. Johns River Power Park System which will always 
provide St. Johns River Power Park System Net Revenues in each Fiscal Year, together with 
other available funds, sufficient to make all payments required to be made in such Fiscal Year (i) 
by the St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution, (ii) with respect to 
any Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System Subordinated Obligations, by the resolution or 
other instrument pursuant to which such Prior Lien St. Johns River Power Park System 
Subordinated Obligations were incurred, and (iii) with respect to the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes and by this Bank Note Resolution.

ARTICLE XI

AUTHORIZATION OF BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM
REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 11.01 Principal Amount and Designation; Medium of Payment.  (a) In 
accordance with the provisions of the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution, an 
issue of indebtedness of JEA is hereby authorized in a maximum aggregate principal amount 
outstanding at any one time of up to $300,000,000.  Such indebtedness shall be designated as, 
and shall be distinguished from all other indebtedness of JEA by the title, “Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Notes, Series X” and shall be further designated as 
the “Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series T-X” which 
shall evidence Taxable Loans relating to the BPSS Projects and as the “Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series TE-X” which shall evidence Tax-
exempt Loans relating to the BPSS Projects; provided, that the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer may alter the designation of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Notes as he deems appropriate to reflect the designation of Revolving Credit 
Notes previously issued and JEA’s custom in identifying Revolving Credit Notes or as he 
otherwise deems desirable, such determination to be set forth in the Credit Agreement relating to 
the Revolving Credit Notes.  

(b) The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall be payable, with 
respect to interest and principal, in any coin or currency of the United States of America which at 
the time of payment is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.

Section 11.02 Purpose.  The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes are 
authorized for the purpose of evidencing JEA’s obligation to repay amounts borrowed under the 
Credit Agreement for the BPSS Projects and interest thereon.

Section 11.03 Execution and Delivery of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes.  (a) On or before the Effective Date, JEA shall execute, authenticate and deliver to 
the Bank the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes as hereinafter in this Section 
provided.  The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall be in fully registered 
form, without coupons, and shall be dated the date of its execution and delivery.  The Bulk 
Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall have a stated maximum aggregate principal 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

129



- 30 -

amount equal to $300,000,000, provided that the amount outstanding thereunder shall not be 
greater than $300,000,000 less the amount then outstanding under the Electric System Revolving 
Credit Notes, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes and any 
other Additional System Revolving Credit Notes.

(b) The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall be executed in the 
name of JEA by the manual or facsimile signature of its Chair or Vice-Chair, and its corporate 
seal (or a facsimile thereof) shall be impressed, imprinted, or otherwise reproduced thereon and 
attested by the manual signature of the Secretary or Assistant Secretary of JEA, or in such other 
manner as may be required or permitted by law.  In case any one or more of the officers who 
shall have signed or sealed the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall cease to 
be such officer before the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall have been 
authenticated and delivered, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes may, 
nevertheless, be authenticated and delivered as herein provided, and may be issued as if the 
persons who signed or sealed the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes had not 
ceased to hold such offices.  The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes may be 
signed and sealed on behalf of JEA by such persons as at the time of the execution of the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall be duly authorized or hold the proper office 
in JEA, although at the date borne by the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes 
such persons may not have been so authorized or have held such office.

Section 11.04 Outstanding Principal Amount of Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes, Interest on Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, 
Payment of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and Optional Tender for 
Payment.

(a) The principal amount outstanding with respect to the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes at any time shall equal the amount borrowed by JEA under the Credit 
Agreement with respect to the BPSS Projects, less any prior principal repayments thereof.

(b) The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall bear interest during 
the same periods and at the same rates as are applicable to the loans evidenced by the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the 
Credit Agreement, determined as provided in the Credit Agreement.

(c) The principal of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, and 
interest thereon, shall be payable (and prepayable) at the same times and in the same amounts as 
are applicable to the respective loans evidenced by the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes made by the Bank under and pursuant to the Credit Agreement, determined as 
provided in the Credit Agreement.

(d) As provided in the Credit Agreement, and subject to the conditions and 
limitations set forth therein, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes may be 
tendered (or deemed tendered) for payment by JEA prior to the due date of the outstanding 
principal amount thereof, whereupon JEA shall be obligated to pay the outstanding principal 
amount of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes (together with accrued 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

130



- 31 -

interest thereon) so tendered (or deemed tendered) without presentment, demand, protest or other 
notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by JEA.  The Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes immediately shall be due and payable upon its becoming subject to 
payment by JEA pursuant to this Section.

Section 11.05 Form of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and 
Schedule of Loans and Repayments, Completion of Such Schedule.  (a) The Bulk Power 
Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, including the schedule of loans and repayments attached 
thereto, shall be substantially in the form set forth in Section 13.05 hereof with such appropriate 
variations, omissions and insertions as are permitted or required by this Bank Note Resolution or 
the Credit Agreement.

(b) The Bank is authorized to record on the schedule of loans and repayments 
attached to the respective Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, or a continuation 
thereof; each loan made by the Bank to JEA for the BPSS Projects evidenced thereby, the
respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof and, prior to any transfer thereof; appropriate notations to evidence the foregoing 
information shall be endorsed by the Bank on such schedule, or a continuation thereof; provided, 
however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error 
therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA under the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes or under the Credit Agreement.

Section 11.06 Limitations on Transfer and Exchange of Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes.  (a) Except as hereinafter provided in this Section, the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be transferable by the holder thereof.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a) of this Section, the holder of the 
Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes may assign its rights with respect to the 
Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and its commitment under the Credit 
Agreement in accordance with the provisions of the Credit Agreement.  Upon such assignment, 
and upon presentation and surrender of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Note, 
JEA shall execute and deliver to the appropriate person(s), in substitution for the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revolving Credit Note so surrendered, one or more Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the 
Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes so surrendered, so as to give effect to such 
assignment.

ARTICLE XII

SOURCE OF PAYMENT AND SECURITY
FOR BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 12.01 Source of Payment and Security for the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revolving Credit Notes. (a) There is hereby pledged for the payment of the principal of, and 
interest on, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes in accordance with the terms 
and provisions of this Bank Note Resolution, the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond 
Resolution and the Credit Agreement, the amounts on deposit in the Bulk Power Supply System 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

131



- 32 -

Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be available therefor, including the 
investments, if any, thereof, provided, however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate 
in all respects to the Bulk Power Supply System Bonds and to the Prior Lien BPSS Projects 
Subordinated Obligations as to lien on and pledge of the Trust Estate (as defined in the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution) created by the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revenue Bond Resolution.

(b) Such amounts on deposit in the Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical 
delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all 
parties having claims of any kind in tort, contact or otherwise against JEA, irrespective of 
whether such parties have notice thereof.

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 516 of the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revenue Bond Resolution, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall 
be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable from and 
secured by a lien on the Trust Estate (as defined in the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue 
Bond Resolution) junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in 
favor of the Bulk Power Supply System Bonds.  The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall be and be deemed to be, and shall constitute, “Subordinated Indebtedness” 
within the meaning of such term contained in the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue Bond 
Resolution.  In addition, in accordance with the provisions of Section 516 of the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit 
Notes shall be, and shall be deemed to be, and are hereby expressed to be, obligations payable 
from and secured by a lien on amounts in the Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund junior and subordinate in all respects to the lien thereon and pledge thereof in 
favor of the Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations.

(d) The Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall not be or constitute 
a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a “bond” within the meaning of the 
Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and secured by a lien upon and a pledge 
of the amounts as herein provided.  No holder of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing power of 
the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes or interest thereon or be entitled to payment of 
such principal and interest from any other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds 
in the manner provided herein.

Section 12.02 Payment of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes.  
Subject to (a) the prior payments from the Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated 
Indebtedness Fund as required by subsection 3 of Section 510 of the Bulk Power Supply System 
Revenue Bond Resolution, and (b) the prior payment of all amounts due with respect to the Prior 
Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations, amounts on deposit in the Bulk Power Supply 
System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund and available therefor shall be applied to the payment 
of the principal of, and interest on, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes when 
due.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

132



- 33 -

Section 12.03 Issuance of Additional Debt. Nothing herein shall be deemed to limit 
JEA’s ability to issue additional Bulk Power Supply System Bonds under the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revenue Bond Resolution and Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations 
payable prior to the payment of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, nor to 
issue additional Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness payable on a parity with 
the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes, and JEA hereby reserves the right to 
issue such additional Bonds, such additional Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations 
and such additional Bulk Power Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness.

Section 12.04 Rate Covenant with respect to Bulk Power Supply System.  JEA 
covenants to fix, establish, revise from time to time whenever necessary, maintain and collect 
always such fees, rates, rentals and other charges for the use or the sale of the products, services 
and facilities of the BPSS Projects which will always provide Bulk Power Supply System Net 
Revenues in each Fiscal Year, together with other available funds, sufficient to make all 
payments required to be made in such Fiscal Year (i) by the Bulk Power Supply System Revenue 
Bond Resolution, (ii) with respect to any Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations, by 
the resolution or other instrument pursuant to which such Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated 
Obligations were incurred, and (iii) with respect to the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving 
Credit Notes and by this Bank Note Resolution.

ARTICLE XIII

FORM OF REVOLVING CREDIT NOTES

Section 13.01 Form of Electric System Revolving Credit Notes.  The form of the 
Electric System Revolving Credit Notes shall be of substantially the following tenor with such 
variations, omissions and insertions as are required or permitted by this Bank Note Resolution:

[ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE FORM]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA

JEA
ELECTRIC SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT

SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES [T-__/TE-__]

No. _____ NOT EXCEEDING
$300,000,000

__________, ____

For value received, JEA, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Florida, and an independent agency of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (the 
“City”), promises to pay to the order of ________________________ (the “Bank”) the lesser of 
(a) THREE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($300,000,000) and (b) the unpaid principal 
amount of each [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Electric System Loan (as defined in the Credit Agreement 
referred to below) made by the Bank to JEA pursuant to the Credit Agreement, at the time or 
times and in the amounts required by the Bank Note Resolution referred to below and the Credit 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

133



- 34 -

Agreement.  JEA promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each such 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] Electric System Loan on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in 
the Credit Agreement.  All such payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful 
money of the United States in federal or other immediately available funds at the office of the 
Bank.

ALL [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Electric System Loans made by the Bank, the respective 
dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal thereof shall be 
recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, appropriate notations to evidence the 
foregoing information with respect to each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Electric System Loan 
then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached hereto, or on a 
continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided, however, that the 
failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error therein shall not 
affect the obligations of JEA hereunder or under the Credit Agreement.  The aggregate principal 
amount outstanding under this Note, together with the aggregate principal amount outstanding 
under the Electric System Revolving Credit Subordinated Note, Series [E__-T/E__-TE], the 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revolving Credit Notes and any Additional System Revolving Credit Notes (each as 
defined in the Bank Note Resolution referred to below) shall not exceed $300,000,000.  Subject 
to such limitation, the principal amount of the Electric System Loans evidenced by this Note may 
be advanced, repaid and advanced again from time to time as provided in the Credit Agreement.

This Note (a) is the Note of JEA known as Electric System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series [T-_] [TE-_] (the “Note”), issued pursuant to a resolution of 
JEA adopted on August 19, 2003, as amended and restated in its entirety on August 20, 2013 and 
as further amended and restated in its entirety on October 20, 2015 (the “Bank Note 
Resolution”), and (b) is the Note referred to in the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 
________, between JEA and the Bank (as the same may be amended from time to time, the 
“Credit Agreement”).  This Note is issued pursuant to the authority of and in full compliance 
with the Constitution and statutes of the State of Florida, including particularly Article 21 of the 
Charter of the City, as amended and readopted by Chapter 80-515, Laws of Florida, Special Acts 
of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-341, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1992 and 
as thereafter amended in accordance with the terms thereof, and other applicable provisions of 
law, to evidence JEA’s obligation to repay the [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Electric System Loans.  
Reference is made to the Electric System Resolution (as defined in the Bank Note Resolution), 
the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for a description of the rights, limitations on 
rights, obligations and duties thereunder of JEA and the Bank.  Capitalized terms not otherwise 
defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Bank Note Resolution.

This Note is payable from and secured by a pledge of amounts on deposit in the Electric 
System Revenue Fund as may from time to time be available therefor, including the investments, 
if any, thereof, subject only to the provisions of the Electric System Resolution and the Bank 
Note Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and 
conditions set forth therein, provided, however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate 
in all respects to the Electric System Bonds and the Prior Lien Electric System Subordinated 
Bonds as to lien on and source of security for payment from the Revenues.  In accordance with 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

134



- 35 -

the provisions of the Bank Note Resolution, JEA reserves the right to issue additional 
indebtedness payable from and secured, prior to or on a parity with this Note, by a pledge of the 
amounts described above.

This Note does not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a 
“bond” within the meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and 
secured by a lien upon and a pledge of amounts as provided in the Bank Note Resolution.  No 
holder of this Note shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing 
power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay 
this Note or interest hereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided in the Bank 
Note Resolution.

Reference is made to the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for provisions 
relating to the prepayment and tender (or deemed tender) for payment hereof.

This Note is transferable only upon the terms and conditions, and subject to the 
limitations, set forth in the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement.

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Bank Note Resolution, the 
provisions of the Bank Note Resolution may be modified or amended by JEA.

This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bank Note Resolution or be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose until this Note shall have been authenticated by the manual 
signature of an authorized officer of JEA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JEA has issued this Note and caused the same to be signed 
by its Chair or Vice-Chair and attested by its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and its 
corporate seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, imprinted, engraved or reproduced hereon.

JEA

Attested and Countersigned
for Authorization:

Secretary or Chair or Vice-Chair
Assistant Secretary

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

135



- 36 -

ELECTRIC SYSTEM SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES __ (cont’d)

ELECTRIC SYSTEM LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

DATE

AMOUNT 
OF 

ELECTRIC 
SYSTEM 

[TAXABLE/ 
TAX-

EXEMPT] 
LOAN

TYPE OF 
ELECTRIC 
SYSTEM 

LOAN

AMOUNT 
OF 

PRINCIPAL 
REPAID

MATURITY 
DATE

NOTATION 
MADE BY

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

136



- 37 -

Section 13.02 Form of Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes.  The form 
of the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes shall be of substantially the following 
tenor with such variations, omissions and insertions as are required or permitted by this Bank 
Note Resolution:

[WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE FORM]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA

JEA
WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT
SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES [T-__] [TE-__]

No. _____ NOT EXCEEDING
$300,000,000

__________, ____

For value received, JEA, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Florida, and an independent agency of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (the 
“City”), promises to pay to the order of ________________________ (the “Bank”) the lesser of 
(a) THREE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($300,000,000) and (b) the unpaid principal 
amount of each [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Water and Sewer System Loan (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement referred to below) made by the Bank to JEA pursuant to the Credit Agreement, at the 
time or times and in the amounts required by the Bank Note Resolution referred to below and the 
Credit Agreement.  JEA promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each such 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] Water and Sewer System Loan on the dates and at the rate or rates 
provided for in the Credit Agreement.  All such payments of principal and interest shall be made 
in lawful money of the United States in federal or other immediately available funds at the office 
of the Bank.

All [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Water and Sewer System Loans made by the Bank, the 
respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof appropriate notations to 
evidence the foregoing information with respect to each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Water and 
Sewer System Loan then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached 
hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided, 
however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error 
therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA hereunder or under the Credit Agreement.  The 
aggregate principal amount outstanding under this Note at any time, together with the aggregate 
principal amount outstanding under the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Note, Series 
[W_-T/W_-TE], the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System 
Revolving Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes, the 
Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any Additional System Revolving 
Credit Notes (each as defined in the Bank Note Resolution referred to below) shall not exceed 
$300,000,000.  Subject to such limitation, the principal amount of the Water and Sewer System 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

137



- 38 -

Loans evidenced by this Note may be advanced, repaid and advanced again from time to time as 
provided in the Credit Agreement.

This Note (a) is the Note of JEA known as Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series [T-_] [TE-_] (the “Note”), issued pursuant to a resolution of 
JEA adopted on August 19, 2003, as amended and restated in its entirety on August 20, 2013 and 
as further amended and restated in its entirety on October 20, 2015 (the “Bank Note 
Resolution”), and (b) is the Note referred to in the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of 
_________, between JEA and the Bank (as the same may be amended from time to time, the 
“Credit Agreement”).  This Note is issued pursuant to the authority of and in full compliance 
with the Constitution and statutes of the State of Florida, including particularly Article 21 of the 
Charter of the City, as amended and readopted by Chapter 80-515, Laws of Florida, Special Acts 
of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-341, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1992 and 
as thereafter amended in accordance with the terms thereof, and other applicable provisions of 
law, to evidence JEA’s obligation to repay the [Taxable/Tax-exempt] Water and Sewer System 
Loans.  Reference is made to the Water and Sewer System Resolution (as defined in the Bank 
Note Resolution), the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for a description of the 
rights, limitations on rights, obligations and duties thereunder of JEA and the Bank.  Capitalized 
terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Bank Note 
Resolution.

This Note is payable from and secured by a pledge of amounts on deposit in the Water 
and Sewer System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be available 
therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof, subject only to the provisions of the Water 
and Sewer System Resolution and the Bank Note Resolution permitting the application thereof 
for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein, provided, however, that such 
pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the Water and Sewer System Bonds and 
the Prior Lien Water and Sewer System Subordinated Obligations as to lien on and source of 
security for payment from such amounts.  In accordance with the provisions of the Bank Note 
Resolution, JEA reserves the right to issue additional indebtedness payable from and secured, 
prior to or on a parity with this Note, by a pledge of the amounts described above.

This Note does not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a 
“bond” within the meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and 
secured by a lien upon and a pledge of amounts as provided in the Bank Note Resolution.  No 
holder of this Note shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing 
power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay 
this Note or interest hereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided in the Bank 
Note Resolution.

Reference is made to the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for provisions 
relating to the prepayment and tender (or deemed tender) for payment hereof.

This Note is transferable only upon the terms and conditions, and subject to the 
limitations, set forth in the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

138



- 39 -

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Bank Note Resolution, the 
provisions of the Bank Note Resolution may be modified or amended by JEA.

This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bank Note Resolution or be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose until this Note shall have been authenticated by the manual 
signature of an authorized officer of JEA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JEA has issued this Note and caused the same to be signed 
by its Chair or Vice-Chair and attested by its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and its 
corporate seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, imprinted, engraved or reproduced hereon.

JEA

Attested and Countersigned
for Authorization:

Secretary or Chair or Vice-Chair
Assistant Secretary

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

139



- 40 -

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES _ (cont’d)

WATER AND SEWER SYSTEM LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

DATE

AMOUNT 
OF WATER 

AND 
SEWER 

SYSTEM 
[TAXABLE/ 

TAX-
EXEMPT] 

LOAN

TYPE OF 
WATER 

AND 
SEWER 

SYSTEM 
LOAN

AMOUNT 
OF 

PRINCIPAL 
REPAID

MATURITY 
DATE

NOTATION 
MADE BY

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

140



- 41 -

Section 13.03 Form of District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes.  The form of 
the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes shall be of substantially the following tenor 
with such variations, omissions and insertions as are required or permitted by this Bank Note 
Resolution:

[DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE FORM]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA

JEA
DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT

SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES [T-__] [TE-__]

No. NOT EXCEEDING
$300,000,000
__________, ____

For value received, JEA, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Florida, and an independent agency of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (the 
“City”), promises to pay to the order of _______________________ (the “Bank”) the lesser of 
(a) THREE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($300,000,000) and (b) the unpaid principal 
amount of each [Taxable/Tax-exempt] District Energy System Loan (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement referred to below) made by the Bank to JEA pursuant to the Credit Agreement, at the 
time or times and in the amounts required by the Bank Note Resolution referred to below and the 
Credit Agreement.  JEA promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each such 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] District Energy System Loan on the dates and at the rate or rates provided 
for in the Credit Agreement.  All such payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful 
money of the United States in federal or other immediately available funds at the office of the 
Bank.

All [Taxable/Tax-exempt] District Energy System Loans made by the Bank, the 
respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, appropriate notations to 
evidence the foregoing information with respect to each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] District 
Energy System Loan then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached 
hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided, 
however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error 
therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA hereunder or under the Credit Agreement.  The 
aggregate principal amount outstanding under this Note at any time, together with the aggregate 
principal amount outstanding under the District Energy System Revolving Credit Note, Series 
[T-_/TE-_], the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the Water and Sewer System Revolving 
Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes,  the Bulk Power 
Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any other Additional System Revolving Credit Notes 
(each as defined in the Bank Note Resolution referred to below) shall not exceed $300,000,000.  
Subject to such limitation, the principal amount of the District Energy System Loans evidenced 
by this Note may be advanced, repaid and advanced again from time to time as provided in the 
Credit Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

141



- 42 -

This Note (a) is the Note of JEA known as District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series [T-_] [TE-_] (the “Note”), issued pursuant to a resolution of 
JEA adopted on August 19, 2003, as amended and supplemented, including as amended and 
supplemented by the supplemental resolution of JEA adopted on August 16, 2005, as amended 
and restated in its entirety on August 20, 2013 and as further amended and restated in its entirety 
on October 20, 2015 (the “Bank Note Resolution”), and (b) is the Note referred to in the 
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of _______, between JEA and the Bank (as the same may 
be amended from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).  This Note is issued pursuant to the 
authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the State of Florida, 
including particularly Article 21 of the Charter of the City, as amended and readopted by Chapter 
80-515, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-341, 
Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1992 and as thereafter amended in accordance with the terms 
thereof, and other applicable provisions of law, to evidence JEA’s obligation to repay the 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] District Energy System Loans.  Reference is made to the District Energy 
System Resolution (as defined in the Bank Note Resolution), the Bank Note Resolution and the 
Credit Agreement for a description of the rights, limitations on rights, obligations and duties 
thereunder of JEA and the Bank.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meanings given to such terms in the Bank Note Resolution.

This Note is payable from and secured by a pledge of amounts on deposit in the District 
Energy System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be available therefor, 
including the investments, if any, thereof, subject only to the provisions of the District Energy 
System Resolution and the Bank Note Resolution permitting the application thereof for the 
purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein, provided, however, that such pledge 
shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the District Energy System Bonds and the Prior 
Lien District Energy Subordinated Bonds as to lien on and source of security for payment from 
such amounts.  In accordance with the provisions of the Bank Note Resolution, JEA reserves the 
right to issue additional indebtedness payable from and secured, prior to or on a parity with this 
Note, by a pledge of the amounts described above.

This Note does not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a 
“bond” within the meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and 
secured by a lien upon and a pledge of amounts as provided in the Bank Note Resolution.  No 
holder of this Note shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing 
power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay 
this Note or interest hereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided in the Bank 
Note Resolution.

Reference is made to the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for provisions 
relating to the prepayment and tender (or deemed tender) for payment hereof.

This Note is transferable only upon the terms and conditions, and subject to the 
limitations, set forth in the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement.

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Bank Note Resolution, the 
provisions of the Bank Note Resolution may be modified or amended by JEA.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

142



- 43 -

This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bank Note Resolution or be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose until this Note shall have been authenticated by the manual 
signature of an authorized officer of JEA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JEA has issued this Note and caused the same to be signed by 
its Chair or Vice-Chair and attested by its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and its corporate 
seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, imprinted, engraved or reproduced hereon.

JEA

Attested and Countersigned
for Authorization:

Secretary or Chair or Vice-Chair
Assistant Secretary

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

143



- 44 -

DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES __ (cont’d)

DISTRICT ENERGY SYSTEM LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

DATE

AMOUNT
OF

DISTRICT
ENERGY
SYSTEM

[TAXABLE/ 
TAX-

EXEMPT] 
LOAN

TYPE OF 
DISTRICT 
ENERGY
SYSTEM 

LOAN

AMOUNT 
OF 

PRINCIPAL 
REPAID

MATURITY 
DATE

NOTATION 
MADE BY

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

144



- 45 -

Section 13.04 Form of St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes. 
The form of the St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving Credit Notes shall be of 
substantially the following tenor with such variations, omissions and insertions as are required or 
permitted by this Bank Note Resolution:

[ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE FORM]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA

JEA
ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT

SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES [T-__] [TE-__]

No. _____ NOT EXCEEDING
$300,000,000

____________, ____

For value received, JEA, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Florida, and an independent agency of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (the 
“City”), promises to pay to the order of _____________________________________ (the 
“Bank”) the lesser of (a) THREE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($300,000,000) and (b) the 
unpaid principal amount of each [Taxable/Tax-exempt] St. Johns River Power Park System Loan 
(as defined in the Credit Agreement referred to below) made by the Bank to JEA pursuant to the 
Credit Agreement, at the time or times and in the amounts required by the Bank Note Resolution 
referred to below and the Credit Agreement.  JEA promises to pay interest on the unpaid 
principal amount of each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] St. Johns River Power Park System Loan 
on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the Credit Agreement. All such payments of 
principal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the United States in federal or other 
immediately available funds at the office of the Bank.

All [Taxable/Tax-exempt] St. Johns River Power Park System Loans made by the Bank, 
the respective dates, types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal 
thereof shall be recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof, appropriate notations to 
evidence the foregoing information with respect to each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] St. Johns 
River Power Park System Loan then outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the schedule 
attached hereto, or on a continuation of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; 
provided, however, that the failure of the Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or 
any error therein shall not affect the obligations of JEA hereunder or under the Credit 
Agreement.  The aggregate principal amount outstanding under this Note at any time, together 
with the aggregate principal amount outstanding under the St. Johns River Power Park System 
Revolving Credit Note, Series [T-__/TE-__], the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the 
Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit Notes, the District Energy System Revolving Credit 
Notes, the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes and any other Additional System 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

145



- 46 -

Revolving Credit Notes (each as defined in the Bank Note Resolution referred to below) shall 
not exceed $300,000,000.  Subject to such limitation, the principal amount of the St. Johns River 
Power Park System Loans evidenced by this Note may be advanced, repaid and advanced again 
from time to time as provided in the Credit Agreement.

This Note (a) is the Note of JEA known as St. Johns River Power Park System Revolving 
Credit Subordinated Bank Note, Series [T-__] [TE-__] (the “Note”), issued pursuant to a 
resolution of JEA adopted on August 19, 2003, as amended and supplemented, including as 
amended and supplemented by the supplemental resolution of JEA adopted on March 20, 2007, 
as amended and restated in its entirety on August 20, 2013 and as further amended and restated 
in its entirety on October 20, 2015 (the “Bank Note Resolution”), and (b) is the Note referred to 
in the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of ________, between JEA and the Bank (as the 
same may be amended from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).  This note is issued pursuant 
to the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the State of 
Florida, including particularly Article 21 of the Charter of the City, as amended and readopted by 
Chapter 80-515, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-
341, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1992 and as thereafter amended in accordance with the 
terms thereof, and other applicable provisions of law, to evidence JEA’s obligation to repay the 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] St. Johns River Power Park System Loans.  Reference is made to the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution (as defined in the Bank 
Note Resolution), the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for a description of the 
rights, limitations on rights, obligations and duties thereunder of JEA and the Bank.  Capitalized 
terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Bank Note 
Resolution.

This Note is payable from and secured by a pledge of amounts on deposit in the St. Johns 
River Power Park System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be 
available therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof, subject only to the provisions of the 
St. Johns River Power Park System Second Revenue Bond Resolution and the Bank Note 
Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions 
set forth therein, provided, however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all 
respects to the St. Johns River Power Park System Bonds and the Prior Lien St. Johns River 
Power Park System Subordinated Obligations as to lien on and source of security for payment 
from such amounts.  In accordance with the provisions of the Bank Note Resolution, JEA 
reserves the right to issue additional indebtedness payable from and secured, prior to or on a 
parity with this Note, by a pledge of the amount described above.

This Note does not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a 
“bond” within the meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and 
secured by a lien upon and a pledge of amounts as provided in the Bank Note Resolution.  No 
holder of this Note shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing 
power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay 
this Note or interest hereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided in the Bank 
Note Resolution.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

146



- 47 -

Reference is made to the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for provisions 
relating to the prepayment and tender (or deemed tender) for payment hereof.

This Note is transferable only upon the terms and conditions, and subject to the 
limitations, set forth in the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement.

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Bank Note Resolution, the 
provisions of the Bank Note Resolution may be modified or amended by JEA.

This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bank Note Resolution or be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose, until this Note shall have been authenticated by the 
manual signature of an authorized officer of JEA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JEA has issued this Note and caused the same to be signed by 
its Chair or Vice-Chair and attested by its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and its corporate 
seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, imprinted, engraved or reproduced hereon.

JEA

Attested and Countersigned
for Authorization:

Secretary or Chair or Vice-Chair
Assistant Secretary

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

147



- 48 -

ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES __ 
(cont’d)

ST. JOHNS RIVER POWER PARK SYSTEM LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

DATE

AMOUNT
OF

ST. JOHNS 
RIVER 

POWER PARK
SYSTEM

[TAXABLE/ 
TAX-

EXEMPT] 
LOAN

TYPE OF 
ST. JOHNS 

RIVER 
POWER 
PARK 

SYSTEM 
LOAN

AMOUNT 
OF 

PRINCIPAL 
REPAID

MATURITY 
DATE

NOTATION 
MADE BY

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

148



- 49 -

Section 13.05 Form of Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes.  The form 
of the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Notes shall be of substantially the following 
tenor with such variations, omissions and insertions as are required or permitted by this Bank 
Note Resolution:

[BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT NOTE FORM]

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
STATE OF FLORIDA

JEA
BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM REVOLVING CREDIT

SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES [T-_] [TE-_]

No. ______ NOT EXCEEDING
$300,000,000

_____________, ____

For value received, JEA, a body politic and corporate organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Florida, and an independent agency of the City of Jacksonville, Florida (the 
“City”), promises to pay to the order of _________________ (the “Bank”) the lesser of (a) 
THREE HUNDRED MILLION DOLLARS ($300,000,000) and (b) the unpaid principal amount 
of each [Taxable/Tax-exempt] BPSS Projects Loan (as defined in the Credit Agreement referred 
to below) made by the Bank to JEA pursuant to the Credit Agreement, at the time or times and in 
the amounts required by the Bank Note Resolution referred to below and the Credit Agreement.  
JEA promises to pay interest on the unpaid principal amount of each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] 
BPSS Projects Loan on the dates and at the rate or rates provided for in the Credit Agreement.  
All such payments of principal and interest shall be made in lawful money of the United States in 
federal or other immediately available funds at the office of the Bank.

All [Taxable/Tax-exempt] BPSS Projects Loans made by the Bank, the respective dates, 
types, amounts and maturities thereof and all repayments of the principal thereof shall be 
recorded by the Bank and, prior to any transfer hereof; appropriate notations to evidence the 
foregoing information with respect to each such [Taxable/Tax-exempt] BPSS Projects Loan then 
outstanding shall be endorsed by the Bank on the schedule attached hereto, or on a continuation 
of such schedule attached to and made a part hereof; provided, however, that the failure of the 
Bank to make any such recordation or endorsement or any error therein shall not affect the 
obligations of JEA hereunder or under the Credit Agreement.  The aggregate principal amount 
outstanding under this Note at any time, together with the aggregate principal amount 
outstanding under the Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit Note, Series [T-__/TE-__], 
the Electric System Revolving Credit Notes, the Water and Sewer System Revolving Credit 
Notes, the District Energy System Revolving Credit Notes, the St. Johns River Power Park 
System Revolving Credit Notes and any other Additional System Revolving Credit Notes (each 
as defined in the Bank Note Resolution referred to below) shall not exceed $300,000,000.  
Subject to such limitation, the principal amount of the BPSS Projects Loans evidenced by this 
Note may be advanced, repaid and advanced again from time to time as provided in the Credit 
Agreement.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

149



- 50 -

This Note (a) is the Note of JEA known as Bulk Power Supply System Revolving Credit 
Subordinated Bank Note, Series [T-__] [TE-__] (the “Note”), issued pursuant to a resolution of 
JEA adopted on August 19, 2003, as amended and supplemented, including as amended and 
supplemented by the supplemental resolution of JEA adopted on February 19, 2008, as amended 
and restated in its entirety on August 20, 2013 and as further amended and restated in its entirety 
on October 20, 2015 (the “Bank Note Resolution”), and (b) is the Note referred to in the 
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of ________, between JEA and the Bank (as the same 
may be amended from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”).  This Note is issued pursuant to 
the authority of and in full compliance with the Constitution and statutes of the State of Florida, 
including particularly Article 21 of the Charter of the City, as amended and readopted by Chapter 
80-515, Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1980, as subsequently amended by Chapter 92-341, 
Laws of Florida, Special Acts of 1992 and as thereafter amended in accordance with the terms 
thereof, and other applicable provisions of law, to evidence JEA’s obligation to repay the 
[Taxable/Tax-exempt] BPSS Projects Loans.  Reference is made to the Bulk Power Supply 
System Revenue Bond Resolution (as defined in the Bank Note Resolution), the Bank Note 
Resolution and the Credit Agreement for a description of the rights, limitations on rights, 
obligations and duties thereunder of JEA and the Bank.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined 
herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Bank Note Resolution.

This Note is payable from and secured by a pledge of amounts on deposit in the Bulk 
Power Supply System Subordinated Indebtedness Fund as may from time to time be available 
therefor, including the investments, if any, thereof, subject only to the provisions of the Bulk 
Power Supply System Revenue Bond Resolution and the Bank Note Resolution permitting the 
application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth therein; provided, 
however, that such pledge shall be junior and subordinate in all respects to the Bulk Power 
Supply System Bonds and the Prior Lien BPSS Projects Subordinated Obligations as to lien on 
and source of security for payment from such amounts.  In accordance with the provisions of the 
Bank Note Resolution, JEA reserves the right to issue additional indebtedness payable from and 
secured, prior to or on a parity with this Note, by a pledge of the amounts described above.

This Note does not constitute a general obligation or indebtedness of the City or JEA as a 
“bond” within the meaning of the Constitution of Florida, but shall be payable solely from and 
secured by a lien upon and a pledge of amounts as provided in the Bank Note Resolution.  No 
holder of this Note shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the ad valorem taxing 
power of the City or JEA, if any, or taxation in any form of any real property in the City to pay 
this Note or interest hereon or be entitled to payment of such principal and interest from any 
other funds of the City or JEA except from the special funds in the manner provided in the Bank 
Note Resolution.

Reference is made to the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement for provisions 
relating to the prepayment and tender (or deemed tender) for payment hereof.

This Note is transferable only upon the terms and conditions, and subject to the 
limitations, set forth in the Bank Note Resolution and the Credit Agreement.

To the extent and in the manner permitted by the terms of the Bank Note Resolution, the 
provisions of the Bank Note Resolution may be modified or amended by JEA.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

150



- 51 -

This Note shall not be entitled to any benefit under the Bank Note Resolution or be valid 
or become obligatory for any purpose until this Note shall have been authenticated by the manual 
signature of an authorized officer of JEA.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, JEA has issued this Note and caused the same to be signed by 
its Chair or Vice-Chair and attested by its Secretary or an Assistant Secretary and its corporate 
seal or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, imprinted, engraved or reproduced hereon.

JEA

Chair or Vice-Chair

Attested and Countersigned
for Authorization:

Secretary or
Assistant Secretary

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

151



- 52 -

BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM SUBORDINATED BANK NOTE, SERIES _ (cont’d)

BULK POWER SUPPLY SYSTEM LOANS AND PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL

DATE

AMOUNT
OF

BULK 
POWER 
SUPPLY
SYSTEM

[TAXABLE/ 
TAX-

EXEMPT] 
LOAN

TYPE OF 
BULK 

POWER
SUPPLY 
SYSTEM 

LOAN

AMOUNT 
OF 

PRINCIPAL 
REPAID

MATURITY 
DATE

NOTATION 
MADE BY

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

152



- 53 -

ARTICLE XIV

ADDITIONAL SYSTEMS

Section 14.01 Supplemental Resolutions Authorizing Borrowings for Additional 
Systems. If JEA shall establish one or more Additional Systems, JEA may by adoption of a 
resolution supplemental to this Bank Note Resolution authorize borrowings under the Credit 
Agreement for the purpose of obtaining funds for working capital purposes and short-term or 
interim financing for capital projects for such Additional System.

Section 14.02 Additional System Revolving Credit Notes.  Such Additional System 
Supplemental Resolution shall authorize the issuance of Additional System Revolving Credit 
Notes to evidence such borrowings and shall set forth the principal amount and designation, 
medium for payment and purpose of such Additional System Revolving Credit Notes; the 
manner of execution and delivery thereof; the manner of determining the outstanding principal 
amount of and interest on such Additional System Revolving Credit Notes; the form and transfer 
and exchange provisions of such Additional System Revolving Credit Notes; and shall specify 
the source of payment and security for such Additional System Revolving Credit Notes, which 
shall be a pledge of and lien on the Additional System Net Revenues subordinate to the pledge 
thereof and lien thereon for the benefit on the Additional System Bonds, all in the manner 
provided in such Additional System Supplemental Resolution and in the Additional System 
Bond Resolution.

Section 14.03 Bank Consent.  As provided in the Credit Agreement, no borrowing for 
an Additional System shall be made thereunder until and unless the Bank shall have consented to 
such borrowings.

ARTICLE XV

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 15.01 Severability.  If any one or more of the covenants, agreements or 
provisions of this Bank Note Resolution or the Revolving Credit Notes should be held contrary 
to any express provision of law or contrary to the policy of any such provision of law, though not 
expressly prohibited, or against public policy, or shall for any reason whatsoever be held invalid, 
then such covenants, agreements or provisions shall be null and void and shall be deemed 
separate from the remaining covenants, agreements and provisions of this Bank Note Resolution 
or the Revolving Credit Notes issued hereunder, as the case may be.

Section 15.02 Amendments to this Bank Note Resolution.  Until such time as the 
Revolving Credit Notes shall be paid in full, this Bank Note Resolution shall not be amended or 
modified in any respect except upon the written consent thereto of the Bank.

Section 15.03 Effect of this Resolution; Effective Date.  This Bank Note Resolution 
shall take effect upon the earlier to occur of (A) (i) the receipt by JEA of the written consent of 
The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., acting through its New York Branch in its capacity as 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

153



- 54 -

“Bank” under that certain Bank of Tokyo Revolving Credit Agreement and (ii) the receipt by 
JEA of the written consent of MUFG Union Bank, N.A., formerly Union Bank, N.A., in its
capacity as “Bank” under that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of September 9, 
2013, (the “Union Bank Revolving Credit Agreement”) or (B) the date on which both the Bank 
of Tokyo Revolving Credit Agreement and the Union Bank Revolving Credit Agreement are 
terminated in accordance with their respective terms.

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

154



ADOPTED THIS THIRTIETH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2015.

JEA

Chair or Vice-Chair

ATTEST:

Secretary

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Office of General Counsel

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

155



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

September 25, 2015

SUBJECT: JEA EARLY DEBT RETIREMENT UPDATE

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: The Board previously delegated to the Managing Director & CEO and the Chief Financial Officer 
the authority to approve and execute early retirements of debt subject to the Annual Budget and related 
City Budget Ordinance. Staff is providing the Board an Early Debt Retirement Schedule summarizing such 
early retirements completed in fiscal year 2015.

Significance: Staff is reporting to the Board the completed early debt retirement transactions for fiscal 
year 2015 consistent with the JEA Early Debt Retirement Strategy agenda item approved by the Board on 
May 21, 2013.

Effect: Lowered outstanding Electric System, St. Johns River Power Park System and Water and Sewer 
System debt recorded on JEA’s books as of September 30, 2015 and lowers debt service for those 
systems in subsequent fiscal years.

Cost or Benefit: The ability to early retire debt allows for flexibility in managing debt service.

Recommended Board action: No Board action is required. For information only.

For additional information, contact: Joe Orfano, 665-4541

Submitted by: PEM/ MHD/ rlh

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

156



Ver 2.2 02/01/2014

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
September 25, 2015

SUBJECT: JEA EARLY DEBT RETIREMENT UPDATE

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
As part of JEA’s ongoing debt management program, when desiring to retire debt early, JEA has 
historically utilized various sources of funds for defeasing debt, calling bonds for early redemption or 
purchasing bonds on the secondary market. Typically, an escrow is used when calling bonds or 
defeasing debt prior to maturity. 

On June 15, 2004, the Board approved a defeasance agenda item that delegated to the Managing 
Director & CEO, the Vice President & COO and the Vice President Financial Services the authority, in 
regard to a specific defeasance transaction in 2004 and future defeasance transactions for the Water 
and Sewer System and the Electric System. At its May 21, 2013 meeting the Board broadened the 2004 
authorization to i) expand the Systems to include St. Johns River Power Park System (“SJRPP System”), 
the Bulk Power Supply System and District Energy System, ii) clarify that early debt retirement is defined 
as defeasing debt, calling bonds for early redemption and purchasing bonds on the secondary market 
and iii) delegate to the Managing Director & CEO and the Chief Financial Officer the authority to approve 
and execute all related actions necessary for the early retirement of debt for the Electric System, SJRPP 
System, Bulk Power Supply System, Water and Sewer System and District Energy System, subject to 
the Annual Budget and related Budget Ordinance.

At that meeting staff indicated it would to provide the Board at least annually with an Early Debt 
Retirement Schedule showing completed transactions for the fiscal year beginning with fiscal year 2013.
The Schedule will not be provided in any year where no transactions occurred. Consistent with the May 
21, 2013 agenda item, this agenda item and attached Schedule provide a summary of early debt 
retirements in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015.

DISCUSSION:
In fiscal year 2015, staff utilized Electric System Revenue Funds to defease $25,000,000 in Electric 
System bonds and $40,800,000 in Subordinated Electric System bonds, St. Johns River Power Park 
General Reserve Funds (2nd Resolution) to defease $30,205,000 in SJRPP System bonds and Water 
and Sewer Revenue Funds and Debt Service Reserve Funds to defease $73,365,000 in Water and 
Sewer System bonds for combined early debt retirements totaling $169,370,000.

RECOMMENDATION:
No Board action is required: for information only as part of staff’s responsibility to periodically report early 
debt retirement activities to the Board. 

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/MHD/rlh

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

157



JEA Early Debt Retirement Summary - FY2015

Date System Par/Principal Type Primary Purpose Impacts Source of Funds

7/16/2015 Electric $25,000,000    Cash Defeasance(1) Debt Reduction Lower future debt service, lower unrestricted cash Electric Revenue Funds

8/25/2015 Electric 40,800,000 Cash Defeasance Debt Reduction Lower future debt service, lower unrestricted cash Electric Revenue Funds

8/27/2015 SJRPP 30,205,000 Cash Defeasance Debt Reduction
Lower future Electric System non-fuel purchased 

power, lower unrestricted cash
SJRPP General Reserve 2nd Resolution

8/27/2015 W&S 73,365,000 Cash Defeasance Debt Reduction Lower future debt service, lower unrestricted cash
W&S Revenue Funds and Debt Service 

Reserve Funds

$169,370,000

  (1) $25,000,000 of Revenue Funds used to reduce the Electric System Series Three 2015B refunding transaction.

Debt Ratio Percentages as of August 31, 2015

% With Early Debt 
Retirements

% Without Early 
Debt Retirements

Electric* 68.9% 69.6% *including JEA, Scherer 4 Project and JEA's share of SJRPP

W&S 52.1% 53.2%

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

158



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 1, 2015

SUBJECT: JEA FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND PROJECTIONS FY2016 - FY2020

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: Present the FY2016 - FY2020 Financial Assumptions including unit sales, base rates, internal 
funding, and debt. The Five-Year Financial Projections are an essential component for the annual 
presentation to the Rating Agencies.

Significance: High. Credibility in the credit markets and long-term financial planning for JEA customer 
rates.

Effect: Bond ratings and efficient access to capital markets and JEA customer rates.

Cost or Benefit: N/A

Recommended Board action: The Board receive the presentation for consideration and provide staff 
feedback and direction regarding the FY2016 - FY2020 Financial Assumptions and Projections.

For additional information, contact: Melissa Dykes

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JEC

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

159



JEA Board of Directors Meeting
October 30, 2015

Five-Year Financial Assumptions

1. Unit Sales Growth
2. Residential Rates
3. Total Debt and Variable Debt
4. Summary

Assumptions/Projections

III. B. 5.
10/30/15

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

160



SOURCE: McKinsey PowerIQ electricity demand model
1 US view

Building Community
U.S. Electric Load Forecast Still Flat

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

161



0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

12,000,000

14,000,000

16,000,000

FY1990 FY1995 FY2000 FY2005 FY2010 FY2015 FY2020

U
ni

t S
al

es
 (M

W
h)

Energy Unit Sales

mWh

0
5,000,000

10,000,000
15,000,000
20,000,000
25,000,000
30,000,000
35,000,000
40,000,000
45,000,000
50,000,000

FY1990 FY1995 FY2000 FY2005 FY2010 FY2015 FY2020

U
ni

t S
al

es
 (k

ga
l)

Water & Sewer System Unit Sales

kgal

Building Community

Unit Sales Growth
FY2016 – FY2020 Financial Assumptions

3

Electric System
• Trends:  3.6%, 2.0%, (0.7%)

• FY16:  12,000,000 MWh

• FY16-20:  0% annual growth

Unit Sales Driver

Water and Sewer System
• Trends:  3.4%, 5.0%, (1.29%)

• FY16:  35,000,000 kgal

• FY16-20:  1% annual growth

Unit Sales Driver
3.4%

(1.29%)5.0%

1%

3.6%

2.0% (0.7%)

FY1998 FY2008

FY13 FY14 FY15 Avg1

Growth (0.4%) 2.0% 2.0%
Deg Days 3,830 3,998 4,259 4,014

FY13 FY14 FY15 Avg1

Growth (6.3%) (1.9%) 6.7%
Rainfall ” 45.5 51.2 49.4 52.4
Rain Days 121 114 114 115

Annualized 
Growth

Annualized 
Growth

1 30 Year Average

0%

FY1998

FY2007

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

162



$0.00
$20.00
$40.00
$60.00
$80.00

$100.00
$120.00
$140.00
$160.00
$180.00

$/
M

on
th

Electric Residential Rates
@ 1,000 kWh

Total Bill Total JEA Rate Fuel Rate

 $-
 $10.00
 $20.00
 $30.00
 $40.00
 $50.00
 $60.00
 $70.00
 $80.00

$/
M

on
th

Water & Sewer Residential Rates
Residential 6000 gallons, 5/8" Meter

Total Bill JEA Total Rate Basic Monthly Charge

Building Community

Residential Customer Rates
FY2016 – FY2020 Financial Assumptions

4

Electric System
• Demonstrated record of timely 

rate increases

• Stable base rates in FY12 – FY19

• Fuel Reserve FY15 balance 
higher than 15% target

• Fuel Rate adjusts up or down 
according to fuel expenses

• Environmental regulations, if 
material, will be recovered via 
the Environmental Charge

Water and Sewer System
• Demonstrated record of timely 

rate increases

• Stable rates in FY12 – FY20

• Environmental regulations, if 
material, will be recovered via 
the Environmental Charge

Franchise
Fee

Franchise
Fee

Demonstrated 
record of timely 
rate increases

Demonstrated 
record of timely 
rate increases

Stable Base Rates

Stable Base Rates

Future Revenue 
Requirement 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

163



$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

Bi
lli

on
s

Total Debt and Variable Debt

$0.0

$0.5

$1.0

$1.5

$2.0

$2.5

$3.0

$3.5

$4.0

$4.5

Bi
lli

on
s

Electric System1

Building Community

Total Debt and Variable Debt
FY2016 – FY2020 Financial Assumptions

5

Variable Debt
$263M Reduction

$1.5B

Variable Debt
$992M Reduction

$3.0B
Debt to Asset – 68%

$2.4B

Variable Debt

Total Debt

FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15
1.#% 2.0% 3.5% 4.0%

Electric System
• No New Debt!

• FY2015-FY2020:  Projected 
$650M in debt reduction

• Variable Debt exposure 
reduced by $995M, current 
balance of $604M

Water and Sewer System
• No New Debt!

• FY2015-FY2020:  Projected 
$228M in debt reduction

• Variable Debt exposure 
reduced by $263M, current 
balance of $286M

Variable Interest Rates2

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18
0.72% 2.00% 3.00% 4.00%

1 Includes JEA’s portion of SJRPP and Plant Scherer Debt.
2 All-in interest cost; Debt Management Reserve will mitigate possible “spikes”

$286M

$604M

$1.7B
Debt to Asset - 55%

Variable Debt

Total Debt

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

164



6

Assumptions and Projections Projected Results

1. Unit Sales Growth Electric 0%, Water 1%

2. Residential Base Rates Stable Base, with Variable Fuel

3.  Capital Expenditures and Internal Funding PAY-GO with No New Debt!

4.  Total Debt and Variable Debt $0.9 Billion Reduction

5. Other – O&M, Debt Service, and City Contribution Stable with Year-to-Year Variances

6.  Financial Metrics – Coverage, Liquidity, and Debt Stable Liquidity and Coverage

Building Community

Summary
FY2016 – FY2020 Financial Assumptions

• JEA’s Five Year Financial Plan is centered on flat growth, stable rates, no new debt, scheduled principal 
repayments of $0.9 billion, stable with year-to-year variances in O&M, Debt Service and City 
Contribution expenditures, and stable Liquidity and Debt financial metrics to support JEA’s strong 
AA/Aa2 Credit Ratings.  

• The resulting objectives are to maintain long-term Competitive Rates, Operational Excellence, and 
Environmental Stewardship, while improving the overall Customer Experience.

?

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

165



Building Community

FY2015 Year End Financial Summary

Board of Directors
October 30, 2015

III. B. 6.
10/30/2015

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

166



Building Community

Key Financial Metrics

2

Electric System FY2015 FY2014 Target Result

Debt Service Coverage 2.6x 2.4x ≥ 2.2x  

Days Liquidity  303 228 150 to 250 days1

Days Cash on Hand 182 123

Debt to Asset % 68% 74% 72%2

Water and Sewer System FY2015 FY2014 Target Result

Debt Service Coverage 2.8x 2.5x ≥ 1.8x 

Days Liquidity 269 224 ≥ 100 days

Days Cash on Hand 149 118

Debt to Asset % 55% 56% 55%3

1 Moody’s Aa benchmark: 150 to 250 days
2 Long-term target is 60%
3 Long-term target is 50%: calculated peer group from Moody’s large Aa rated public  water-sewer utilities

Year End Financial Metrics

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

167



Unit Sales Driver: Degree days were 4% higher than last year.

Electric System Financial Results
Financial Planning Budget and RatesBuilding Community

JEA Electric System 
MWh Sales

3

 11,000

 11,500

 12,000

 12,500

 13,000

 13,500

 14,000

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

MWh Sales
(in Thousands)

Degree Days

30-yr. Avg. . FY14 FY15
4,014 3,998 4,159

Month FY14 FY15 % Change
Oct 959,319 971,595 1.3% 

Nov 835,344 895,617 7.2% 

Dec 914,615 943,753 3.2% 

Jan 1,104,547 1,035,621 (6.2%)

Feb 843,507 934,102 10.7%

Mar 933,671 898,524 (3.8%)

Apr 900,972 954,803    6.0%

May 1,028,801 1,062,459 3.3%

Jun 1,124,764 1,187,741 5.6%

Jul 1,207,001 1,254,252 3.9%

Aug 1,255,262 1,212,295 (3.4%)

Sep 1,064,186 1,083,446 1.8%

Total 12,171,989 12,434,208 2.2%

Total System 2.2%
Residential 3.1%
Comm./Industrial 1.1%
Interruptible 4.8%
Wholesale (FPU) (1.0%)

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

168



Building Community

($ in thousands)

Revenues FY15 Actual FY14 Actual FY15 Budget FY15 vs  FY14 ($) Variance (%)
Fuel Revenue $ 486,362 $ 498,930 $ 516,398 $ (12,568) -2.5%
Base Revenue 741,411 725,203  711,462 16,208 2.2%
Other Revenue 38,183 39,571         42,626 (1,388)         -3.5%

Total Revenues $ 1,265,956 $ 1,263,704      $  1,270,486 $   2,252              0.2%

Select Expenses
Fuel Expense $    441,076       $   501,763 $     503,519       $  60,687    12.1%    
Fuel Fund Transfers 45,286 (2,833) 12,879 (48,119)
O & M Expense 191,764 168,688 207,337 (23,076) -13.7%
Non-fuel Purchased Power 114,804 194,030 123,663 79,226 40.8%

Net Revenues $    461,604 $ 389,604 $    414,571 $  72,000 18.5%

Capital Expenditures $    116,728 $  86,155 $     129,000 $ (30,573) -35.5%
Debt Service $    175,779 $  161,509 $     196,591  $  (14,270) -8.8%

1 Net of $50 million fuel credit in April bill
2 Net of $26 million fuel credit in FY14
3 Council approved limit for capital expenditures in FY15 is $150 million
4 Preliminary numbers

JEA Electric System 
Financial Results and Cost Metrics

4

$(5M) 

2

Fuel Fund   ($ in millions)

Beginning Balance $  105
Surplus/(Deficit) 96
Fuel Credit (50)
Ending Balance $  151

Electric Costs / MWh Non-Fuel
Target $ 54.73
Actual 4 49.69
Difference $   5.04

1

$47M

3

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

169



Unit Sales Driver:  Rainfall was down 2 inches; rain days were same as prior year.

Electric System Financial Results
Financial Planning Budget and RatesBuilding Community

JEA Water and Sewer System
kGal Sales

(in Thousands)

5

Rain
30-Yr. Avg. . FY14 FY15

Inches 52 51 49
Days 114 114 114

Month FY14 FY15 % Change
Oct 2,793 3,051 9.2% 
Nov 2,381 2,597 9.1% 
Dec 2,662 2,708 1.7% 
Jan 2,475 2,502 1.1%
Feb 2,130 2,238 5.1%
Mar 2,387 2,732 14.4%
Apr 2,691 2,765 2.7%
May 3,088 3,509 13.7%
Jun 2,897 3,382 16.8%
Jul 2,993 3,300 10.3%

Aug 3,221 3,062 (4.9%)
Sep 2,750 2,712 (1.4%)

Total 32,468 34,558 6.4%

Total System 6.4%
Residential 4.9%
Comm./Industrial 6.1%
Irrigation 12.1%

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15

kGal Sales
(in Thousands)

Water Sewer

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

170



Building Community

Revenues FY15 Actual FY14 Actual FY15 Budget FY15 vs FY14 ($) Variance (%)
Water & Sewer Revenues $ 393,167 $  375,372 $ 390,392 $ 17,795 4.7%
Other Revenue 43,750 32,518 28,868 11,232 34.5%

Total Revenues $ 436,917 $ 407,890 $  419,260 $ 29,027 7.1%

Select Expenses
O & M Expense $   127,174 $  119,466 $   136,523 $ (7,708) -6.5%

Net Revenues $ 278,471 $ 281,727 $ 279,426 $  (3,256) -1.2%

Capital Expenditures $ 100,806 $ 76,852 $ 130,900 $ (23,954) -31.2%
Debt Service $ 101,108 $ 114,372  $ 124,443 $ 13,264 11.6%

JEA Water and Sewer System
Financial Results and Cost Metrics

6

$18M

($ in thousands)

Cost / KGal Water Sewer
Target $ 4.47 $ 7.96 
Actual 1 4.01 7.26
Difference $ 0.46

$(1M)

1 Preliminary numbers

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

171



50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

98 00 02 04 06 08 10 12 14

Total Debt

Debt to Asset Ratio

Peer ratio (60%)

Fiscal Year Ended

1

Building Community

JEA Debt and Debt to Asset Ratios

7

1 Includes JEA, Scherer and  SJRPP
2 Per Moody’s Special Comment, June 2014
3 As calculated from Moody’s data for large Aa rated public water-sewer utilities  

Peak: $4.3B
Year-end 

$3.1B

Electric System Water and Sewer System

$ 
bi

lli
on

s

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

98 00 02 04 06 08 10 12 14

Total Debt

Debt to Asset Ratio

Peer ratio (50%)

Fiscal Year Ended

Peak:$2.1B Year-end 
$1.7B 

$ 
bi

lli
on

s

2 3

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

172



Building Community

Combined Debt Outstanding
Weighted Average Interest Rates*

2.5%

3.0%

3.5%

4.0%

4.5%

5.0%

FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 FY2011 FY2012 FY2013 FY2014 FY2015

Combined Electric, Scherer & SJRPP Water and Sewer District Energy Combined - All Systems

• Fiscal year end interest rates are net of BABs subsidy, original issue premiums / discounts and includes variable debt 
liquidity / remarketing fees and interest rate swap payments.

• – – – During FY2008 – FY2013 DES was funded with variable rate debt at an average of 1 percent.

3.84%

Budget
4.2%

8

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

173



Bank
Long-Term Ratings
Moody’s/S&P/Fitch $ (in millions) %

Morgan Stanley Capital Services A3/A-/A $184 35

Goldman Sachs Mitsui Marine 
Derivative Products Aa2/AAA /NR 136 25

JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. Aa3/A+/AA- 127 24

Merrill Lynch Baa1/A-/A 85 16

Total $532

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

Water and Sewer
Variable Interest Rates (including fees)

Actual Variable Rate Projected Variable Rate-Low

Projected Variable Rate-Mid Projected Variable Rate-High

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

Electric System
Variable Interest Rates (including fees)

Actual Variable Rate Projected Variable Rate--Low

Projected Variable Rate--Mid Projected Variable Rate--High

Electric System Financial Results
Building Community

Variable Rate Debt Risk Analysis
($ in millions)

9Total variable rate debt of $890 with $532 swapped to fixed rate

Liquidity Facilities and Direct Purchase Bonds (DPBs)

Swap Providers

Items of Interest
• Variable debt as a percentage of total debt:

‐ Unhedged variable at 6% for Electric and 10% for Water and Sewer.
‐ Hedged variable at 13% for Electric and 7% for Water and Sewer.

• Liquidity facilities / direct purchase bonds are with highly rated providers.
• No change in swap counterparty credit quality.
• Wells Fargo direct purchase bonds  - three year renewal in Sep 2015.
• State Street liquidity facility renewed in Feb 2015 through March 2018.
• Variable rate reserve to mitigate risk of higher rates – $62 million.

Bank
Long-Term Ratings
Moody’s/S&P/Fitch $ (in millions) %

Wells Fargo Bank N.A.
(100% DPBs) Aa2/AA-/AA $ 228 27

JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A. Aa3/A+/AA- 199 23

Royal Bank of Canada Aa3/AA-/AA 193 23

US Bank, N.A. A1/AA-/AA 149 17

Sumitomo A1/A/A- 52 6

State Street Bank A1/AA-/AA 31 4

Total $852

Fixed Rate Market

Budget

Fixed Rate Market

Budget

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

174



0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

9 10 11 12 13 14 15

12 Mo. Rolling Avg.
Portfolio Yield

Fiscal Year

Current:
Weighted Avg. Life –

1.7 Years
Yield – 0.92%

Building Community

JEA Combined Investments Outstanding

0.00%
0.07%

0.63%

1.36%

2.04%

2.85%

0.0%

1.0%

2.0%

3.0%

4.0%

5.0%

3 mth 6 mth 2 yr 5 yr 10 yr 30 yr

Maturity

Prior Year
Prior Month
Current

10

U. S. Treasury Yield Curve Investment Portfolio Yield

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

175



11

$0

$50

$100

$150

Utility Charges Gross Receipts Tax Public Service Tax Franchise Fee

Monthly Residential Electric Bills
Consumption @ 1,000 kWh

JEA         

$20

$40

$60

$80

$100

Utility Charges Public Service Tax Franchise Fee

Monthly Residential Water Bills
5/8" meter and 6 kgals of Consumption

JEA

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

176



12

**********************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************

**********************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************

FY2015 KEY ELECTRIC FINANCIAL METRICS
2014/2015 RATING AGENCY PRESENTATION

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

177



13

**********************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************

**********************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************************

FY2015 KEY WATER AND SEWER FINANCIAL METRICS
2015/2016 RATING AGENCY PRESENTATION

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

178



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 6, 2015

SUBJECT: 
SOLE SOURCE & EMERGENCY PROCUREMENT/PROCUREMENT APPEALS BOARD
REPORT

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: Sections 1-113 and 1-114 of the JEA Purchasing Code require the Chief Purchasing Officer to 
submit a report on all Sole Source and Emergency procurements and all Procurement Appeals Board 
decisions to the JEA Board on a quarterly basis.

Significance: Full transparency of these procurement actions is necessary to maintain public confidence 
in JEA's bidding process and to ensure competition is achieved when in JEA's best interest.

Effect: JEA's Procurement Department is responsible for maintaining these records and reporting to the 
JEA Board.

Cost or Benefit: To maintain public confidence in JEA’s bidding process and to ensure competition is 
achieved when in JEA’s best interest.

Recommended Board action: Provided for information; no action required. 

For additional information, contact: John McCarthy, Director Supply Chain Management, 665-5544

Submitted by: PEM/MHD/JPM/RMS

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

179



Ver 2.1 09/21/2013

INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 6, 2015

SUBJECT:
SOLE SOURCE & EMERGENCY PROCUREMENT/PROCUREMENT 
APPEALS BOARD REPORT

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
Sections 1-113 and 1-114 of the JEA Purchasing Code require the Chief Procurement Officer to submit 
a report on all Sole Source and Emergency procurements and all Procurement Appeals Board decisions 
to the JEA Board on a quarterly basis.

DISCUSSION:
This report is submitted for the quarter ending September 30, 2015.  Summary information for all awards 
is provided below.  A detailed listing for the Formal Sole Source and Emergency Awards is attached.  
Detailed back-up information for all other awards is retained by the Chief Procurement Officer and is 
available upon request. There were two (2) Procurement Appeals Board actions.

Quarter Ending September 30, 2015

Formal Awards Number % Dollar Amount %
Total 45 $ 86,663,556
Sole Source Awards 0 0% $ 0 0%
Emergency Awards 0 0% $ 0 0%

Informal Awards Number % Dollar Amount %
Total 1,994 $ 15,780,280
Sole Source Awards 0 0% $ 0 0%
Emergency Awards 12 0.60% $ 373,788 2.37%

RECOMMENDATION:
This item is submitted for information.  No action by the Board is required. 

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/MHD/JPM/RMS

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

180



Board of Directors Meeting

October 30, 2015

John McCarthy, Director Supply Chain Management

1

Building Community

Sole Source & Emergency 
Procurement/Procurement Appeals 

Board Report 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

181



2

Building Community

Sole Source & Emergency
Procurement Report

Background

o Quarterly report required by JEA Purchasing Code to provide added 
transparency for Sole Source and Emergency procurements

o Informational item for JEA Board

o Memorandum cover page provides information for most recent quarter broken 
out by formal and informal awards

o Supporting documentation provides consolidated summary for past year with 
detailed information on all formal awards

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

182



3

Building Community

Sole Source & Emergency
Procurement Report

JEA’s ~ 2% Sole Source and Emergency Procurement award percentage compares very 
favorably to other public utilities 

Procurement Actions
Over Last 4 Quarters

FY15 Q1 FY15 Q2 FY15 Q3 FY15 Q4

Total Awards $115.5M $121.54M $133.47M $102.44M

Sole Source ($) $0.17M $1.86M $3.92M $0M

Sole Source (%) 0.15% 1.53% 2.94% 0%

Emergency ($) $1.21M $0.27M $0.43M $0.37M

Emergency (%) 1.05% 0.22% 0.32% 0.37%

Combined SS/E (%) 1.2% 1.75% 3.26% 0.37%

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

183



4

Building Community

Sole Source & Emergency
Procurement Report

Sole Source/Emergency Procurements during the past year

Current Quarter

o None

Previous Quarters

o $1.26M Sole Source to Hewlett-Packard for IT Infrastructure (HP internal bidding 
policy)

o $2.18M Sole Source to Evoqua Water Technologies, LLC for Blacks Ford and Ponce 
de Leon Treatment Plant (Opportunity to procure a used water treatment “package” 
plant)

o $1.5M Sole Source to Liquid Solutions Group, LLC for Program Manager (Continuity 
of CUP permitting professional services)

o $706K Emergency to Riley Power to provide fabrication and delivery of pivot bracket 
assemblies for Foster Wheeler MBF22.5 pulverizers (Outage inspection discovery)

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

184



5

Building Community

Sole Source & Emergency
Procurement Report

Combined Sole Source & Emergency Awards
(prior three years)

0.00%

0.50%

1.00%

1.50%

2.00%

2.50%

3.00%

3.50%

4.00%

4.50%

5.00%

FY13 Q1 FY13 Q2 FY13 Q3 FY13 Q4 FY14 Q1 FY14 Q2 FY14 Q3 FY14 Q4 FY15 Q1 FY15 Q2 FY15 Q3 FY15 Q4

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

185



6

Building Community

Procurement Appeals
Board Report

Background

o JEA’s Purchasing Code designates a Procurement Appeals Board to review and 
make a final determination for any appeal by a protesting vendor, initiated from 
a written decision by JEA’s Chief Procurement Officer. 

o JEA’s Purchasing Code also requires a record of Procurement Appeals Board 
decisions be submitted to the JEA Board on a quarterly basis.

Procurement Appeals Board (PAB) Actions

o There were two (2) PAB hearings held during Q4.  

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

186



Procurement Appeals Board Actions during the past year

Current Quarter

o Project: 054-15 – Ponce de Leon Water Treatment Plant Pump Building and Reservoir 
Replacement (Low bidder did not meet JSEB sub-contracting requirement)

o PAB upheld CPO decision

o Project: 075-15 – Mandarin WRF Projects Bio Filter Bed Replacement Headworks
Rehabilitation Bar Screen Replacement and Grit System Removal (Low bidder did not 
meet specialty sub-contractor requirement)

o PAB upheld CPO decision

Previous Quarters

o None

7

Building Community

Procurement Appeals
Board Report

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

187



Requesting Dept
Number

 of Awards
Amount Description

P. Cosgrave          
(TS) 

1 $1,260,953.26 IT Infrastructure (Citrix Servers, SQL Database Servers and Storage Arrays)

B. Roche
(W/WW)

1 $2,181,189.00 Blacks Ford and Ponce de Leon Treatment Plant Purchase and Construction

B. Para                                   
(PA)

1 $1,500,000.00 Program Manager - Water Supply Planning and Advocacy

Total 3 $4,942,142.26

Requesting Dept
Number

 of Awards
Amount Description

M. Brost
(Electric Systems)

1 $705,600.00 Twelve (12) pivot bracket assemblies for Foster Wheeler MBF22.5 pulverizers

Total 1 $705,600.00

Formal Sole Source and Emergency Awards by Department - Summary

12 months ending September 30, 2015

Emergency Awards (1 Item totaling $705,600.00)  

Sole Source Awards (3 Items totaling $4,942,142.26)  

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

188



Award Date Amount
Requesting 

Dept
Vendor Description Sourcing Basis

3/26/2015 $1,260,953.26
P. Cosgrave 

(TS)
Hewlett-Packard 
Company ("HP")

IT Infrastructure: 
Citrix Servers, 
SQL Database 
Servers, Virtual 
Host Hardware, 

Server Enclosure 
Uplinks and 

Storage Arrays

Sole Source -  New hardware as part of a planned refresh cycle to 
replace legacy server and storage hardware already in place or 
soon to be out of support for the following JEA systems: VMWare 
Host Servers, Enterprise MS SQL, Legacy server enclosures, Citrix 
and 3PAR storage arrays. All hardware refresh will align with JEA's 
virtualization strategy in addition to adhering to JEA's hardware 
standards. HP's partners and resellers also provide these services, 
however, HP pricing is below the pricing offered through its 
partners and resellers.  HP would not have bid against their 
partners and resellers if this had been bid out.

4/24/2015 $2,181,189.00
B. Roche 
(W/WW)

Evoqua Water 
Technologies, 

LLC

Blacks Ford and 
Ponce de Leon 
Treatment Plant 
Purchase and 
Construction

Sole Source - JEA had an opportunity to procure a used Water 
Treatment "Package" plant to provide additional capacity to the 
Blacks Ford WRF where it is immediately needed, and for future 
use in the Ponce de Leon wastewater service territory upon 
completion of the Blacks Ford expansion project. The equipment 
cost of a used plant is approximately fifty percent (50%) that of a 
new plant ($2.1 M versus $4.0M), and because the physical 
condition of the used plant had to be assessed prior to purchase, 
and the limited number of these types of plants, there is no 
common ground for the bidding process.

5/21/2015 $1,500,000.00
B. Para               

(PA)
Liquid Solutions 

Group, LLC

Program Manager 
- Water Supply 
Planning and 

Advocacy

Sole Source - Under the Continuing Service Agreement Contract 
98124, Jones Edmunds and Associates has been providing CUP 
Permitting support to JEA and to a utility consortium of which JEA 
is a member, the Northeast Florida Utility Coordinating Group. 
Because the core Jones Edmunds project leader and lead modeler 
have left for other jobs, their work as been subsumed by a 
subcontractor - Liquid Solutions Group - who had been supporting 
the team in recent years under this same contract. Because of the 
confidential nature of this work, and the resources invested to date 
in this team on a long-term water supply plan and MFL issues, it 
remains in JEA's best interest to pursue this sole source 
opportunity with Liquid Solutions Group, LLC.

Total $4,942,142.26

Formal Sole Source Awards by Department -- Detail

12 months ending September 30, 2015

Sole Source Awards  (3 Items totaling $4,942,142.26) 

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

189



Award Date Amount
Requesting 

Dept
Vendor Description Sourcing Basis

11/6/2014 $705,600.00
M. Brost
(Electric 
Systems)

Riley Power

Fabrication and 
delivery of twelve 
(12) pivot bracket 

assemblies for 
Foster Wheeler 

MBF22.5 
pulverizers. 

Emergency - This is an emergency procurement to contract with 
Riley Power to provide fabrication and delivery of twelve (12) pivot 
bracket assemblies for Foster Wheeler MBF22.5 pulverizers to be 
utilized in support of SJRPP's Spring Outage. JEA used its 
informal bidding process to expedite issuance of a purchase order 
for this requirement, SJRPP reached out to Riley Power (low 
bidder) to determine if they could decrease their lead time to fit the 
outage timeframe. They indicated they could have all brackets 
onsite before April 1, 2015, at no additional cost, if JEA issued the 
PO by November 1, 2014.

Total $705,600.00

Formal Emergency Awards by Department -- Detail

Emergency Awards (1 Item totaling $705,600.00)  

12 months ending September 30, 2015

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

190



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

191



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

192



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

193



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

194



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

195



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

196



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

197



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 23, 2015

SUBJECT: FISCAL YEAR 2016 ORGANIZATIONAL GOALS

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: N/A

Significance: N/A

Effect: The JEA employee population.

Cost or Benefit: Clearly defined goals and objectives drive behaviors that create "best in class" 
organizations.  

Recommended Board action: Staff is offering for consideration, feedback and direction of the 
organizational goals for FY2016 using the five metrics for Customer Satisfaction, Safety, Cost Control 
(Electric, Water & Wastewater). Recommended changes will be incorporated into a final document and 
submitted for approval at the November 17, 2015 Board Meeting.

For additional information, contact: Angelia R. Hiers 665-4747

Submitted by: PEM/ARH/PLM

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

198



INTER-OFFICE MEMORANDUM
October 23, 2015

SUBJECT: FISCAL YEAR 2016 ORGANIZATIONAL GOALS

FROM: Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

TO: JEA Board of Directors

BACKGROUND:
Clearly defined and communicated organizational goals have successfully served to focus employees 
and managers on key corporate measures and objectives, as well as to push the organization toward a 
continuous improvement culture with resulting operational excellence.

DISCUSSION:
In FY2016, JEA will continue to focus on the company's strategic initiatives and areas of focus.  It is,
therefore, recommended that the company continues to focus on five key metrics: Customer Satisfaction, 
Safety, and Cost per unit of Electricity delivered (Kwh), Cost per unit of Water delivered (Kgal) and Cost 
per unit of Wastewater (Kgal).  Exceptional performance in these five metrics clearly furthers JEA's 
business objectives: keeping employees safe, while delivering essential utility services to our customers 
in a cost effective and customer friendly manner.

The attached document outlines organizational goals and levels of achievement which should be 
considered for FY2016.

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff is offering for consideration, feedback and direction of the organizational goals for FY2016 using 
the five metrics for Customer Satisfaction, Safety, Cost Control (Electric, Water & Wastewater).  
Recommendations will be incorporated into a final document and submitted for approval at the 
November 17, 2015 Board Meeting.

_________________________________
Paul E. McElroy, Managing Director/CEO

PEM/ARH

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

199



1 of 2 10/26/2015

Safety Cost Control: Water Kgal
OSHA Recordable Incident Rate (RIR) Cost per Kgal
FY13 Results: 1.78 RIR FY13 Results: $4.49
FY14 Results: 2.4 RIR FY14 Results: $4.06
FY15 Goal: 1.2 RIR FY15 Goal: $4.06
Results: FY15 1.56 RIR Results: FY1 $4.01

RIR       
GOAL FOR FY2016

COST/KGL       
GOAL FOR FY2016

1.2 ≥ RIR cost > $4.01
$4.00 > cost ≥ $3.90

Customer Satisfaction $3.89 > cost ≥ $3.80
JD Power Residential Electric Industry $3.80 > cost
Customer Satisfaction Survey: Total Industry
FY13 Results: Top of the Third Quartile Cost Control: Wastewater Kgal
FY14 Results: Top 25% of the Third Quartile Cost per Kgal
FY15 Goal: Second Quartile FY13 Results: $7.53
Results: FY15  Bottom 25% of First Quartile FY14 Results: $7.34

FY15 Goal: $7.34

SURVEY RANKING 
GOAL FOR FY2016 Results: FY15 $7.26
Bottom 25% of first 
quartile > 2015       
Bottom 26% - 49% of 
first quartile

COST/KGL       
GOAL FOR FY2016

Top 26% - 50% of first 
quartile cost > $7.26

$7.26 > cost ≥ $7.15
Cost Control: Electric Kwh $7.14> cost ≥ $7.00
Cost per Kwh $7.00 > cost
FY13 Results: $53.92
FY14 Results: $49.81
FY15 Goal: $49.81
Results: FY15 $49.69

COST/Kwh       
GOAL FOR FY2016

cost > $49.81 
$49.81 > cost ≥ $49.31
$49.30 > cost ≥ $48.80
$48.80 > cost

FY 2016 JEA Pay for Performance Program Summary

Summary of Corporate Performance Factors

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

200



2 of 2 10/26/2015

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

201



Ver.2.0D 9/21/2013 jer

AGENDA ITEM SUMMARY

October 22, 2015

SUBJECT: FY2016 CEO GOALS

Purpose: Information Only Action Required Advice/Direction

Issue: In October 2015, the CEO FY2016 goals were provided to prior Board Members during individual 
meetings for review and feedback. The Board Member's comments have been incorporated into the 
attached FY2016 CEO goals. This document is being presented to the Board for information and 
discussion.

Significance: Consistent with prior years, the FY2016 CEO goals are primarily focused on executing 
JEA's strategic plan.  In addition to providing leadership for JEA to achieve its mission, strive for its vision, 
and adhere to its values, the CEO will continue efforts to foster a cultural shift towards a more flexible 
organization.  

Effect: The CEO's performance will be measured by the organization's performance in the strategic plan's 
three areas of focus:  develop an unbeatable team, earn customer loyalty, and deliver business excellence.

Cost or Benefit: The CEO goals provide a framework for the overall goals of the organization.

Recommended Board action: This agenda item is provided for information only.  At the November 17, 
2015 Board Meeting, the CEO will provide a revised set of goals incorporating feedback received at the 
October 30, 2015 Board Meeting, and will request further discussion and approval.

For additional information, contact: Melissa Charleroy 904-665-7313

Submitted by: PEM/MMC

Commitments to Action

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

202



1 Combined = Electric System plus Water and Sewer System plus District Energy

FY2016 CEO Goals

Goals Weight

∑ Exceed budgeted combined1 annual net revenues (excluding weather 
contingency), per the “Schedules of Debt Service Coverage”, this is a proxy 
for EBITDA (schedules and example attached)

or

∑ Exceed budgeted change in net position, per the “Statements of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position”, this is a proxy for net income 
(schedules and example attached)

2%

∑ Effectively execute the Capital Investment Plan or Capital Budget 2%

∑ Improve utility reliability and environmental metrics, per the attached 
schedule and reported to the Board monthly

3%

∑ Achieve first quartile rankings for Residential and Commercial J.D. Power 
Customer Satisfaction Ratings

2%

∑ Improve employee satisfaction and engagement, as measured by an 
independent employee survey

2%

∑ Maintain positive and constructive relationships with all key stakeholders 2%

∑ Electric System revenue stabilization plan 2%

Total 15%

Updated 10/13/15

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

203



FY2015 FY2014 FY2013
$ in Millions Actual Goal Budget Actual Actual Actual

Electric System $415.6 $440.0 $461.6 $389.6 $397.0
Water and Sewer System $288.7 $286.5 $278.5 $281.7 $276.8
District Energy System $3.7 $3.9 $3.9 $3.9 $3.4

FY2015 FY2014 FY2013
$ in Millions Actual Budget Actual Actual Actual

JEA $323.0 $156.3 $79.4

FY2015
$ in Millions Actual Budget Actual

Electric System $153.2 $116.7
Water and Sewer System $175.0 $100.8
District Energy System $3.7 $0.9

FY2016

Change in Net Position
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

FY2016

$0.5

FY2016 JEA Net Revenues Goal

FY2014
Actual
$86.2
$76.9

FY2016

FY2016 JEA Capital Investment Plan/Budget Execution

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

204



FY2015 FY2014 FY2013
$ in Millions Actual Goal Budget Actual Actual Actual

Electric System $415.6 $405.3 $461.6 $389.6 $397.0
Water and Sewer System $288.7 $273.8 $278.5 $281.7 $276.8
District Energy System $3.7 $3.5 $3.9 $3.9 $3.4

FY2016 JEA Net Revenues Goal - Excluding Weather Contingency

FY2016

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

205



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

206



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

207



JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

208



FY2016 JEA Reliability and Environmental Metrics Goal
Improvement Improvement

Electric System Yes No Water and Sewer System Yes No

Outage Frequency Unplanned Water Main Outages
CEMI5 Water Distribution System Pressure
Service Reliability Customer Response Time
Transmission Fault Frequency Consumptive Use Permits
Forced Outage Rate Total Nitrogen Discharge
Reportable Environmental Events Sanitary Sewer Overflows

JEA Board of Directors Meeting - III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action

209


	I. D. Agenda
	Cover Memo

	III. A. Consent Agenda
	III. A. 1. Approval of Board Meeting Minutes September 15, 2015
	III. A. 2. Directors' & Officers' Liability Insurance
	III. A. 3. Real Estate Acquisition Status Report
	III. A. 4. Customer Escalation Summary
	III. A. 5. Monthly JEA Operations Report
	III. A. 6. Monthly JEA Financial Statements
	III. A. 7. Monthly FY15/16 Communications & Engagement Calendar and Plan Update

	III. B. Strategic Discussions/Action
	III. B. 1. Appointment of Steve V. Tuten, Director, Audit Services
	III. B. 2. Approval of Resolution: FY2016 Budgetary Transfers
	III. B. 3. Revolving Credit Facility for Operational/Capital Purposes and Liquidity
	III. B. 4. JEA Early Debt Retirement Update
	III. B. 5. JEA Five-Year Financial Assumptions and Projections FY2016
	III. B. 6. Bi-Monthly Finance Presentation
	III. B. 7. Sole Source & Emergency Procurement Report
	III. B. 8. FY16 Organizational Performance Goals
	III. B. 9. FY16 CEO Goals


